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Letter to Our SharehoLders

To Our Shareholders

At AOL 2010 was the year in which we laid the foundation for our future success We made difficult but

necessary decisions and are in better position now than year ago These bold and decisive moves

have transformed AOL from disrupted company to one ready to be disruptive

We had three important goals in 201 The first was to restructure the Companys cost base and improve

its balance sheet The second was to re-ignite AOLs culture by creating work environment that attracts

retains and chaLlenges top talent to compete every day to produce best-in-class experiences for consumers

and customers The third was to make investments organic and non-organic in strategic areas to

provide opportunities for meaningful returns for our stakeholders We accomplished each one of these

goals during the year

We started 201 by dramatically reducing our cost structure removing over $500 million of Adjusted

OIBDA expenses before restructuring and reinvestment in future growth areas The decision to restructure

was long-term one which caused short-term disruption but that decision will yield lasting benefits In

addition we significantly improved AOLs financial health and further honed our focus by divesting non-core

assets generating over $650 million of value for our shareholders On the internet speed is competitive

advantage and the restructuring increased the velocity of our business and organization leaving AOL

nimble company focusing solely on areas which will accelerate the pace of our turnaround By mid-year

201 our foot was squarely on the gas pedal and we were aggressively innovating across the AOL platform

The list of AOLs accomplishments in 201 is too long to include in this letter but for me the most

impressive was the transformation of the AOL culture from one of playing not to lose to culture of

playing to win During the year AOL attracted some of the best entrepreneurial talent on the Internet and

moved internal talent into key strategic roles where their work directly impacts customer and consumer

experiences An example of this cultural change is our expanded presence in Silicon Valley where we

opened new facility housing some of the most innovative teams in the internet sector who are focused on

building game changing products and services There is now palpable energy throughout the Company
motivated by renewed desire to succeed an intangible that firmly believe begets future success

With this renewed energy and sense of purpose in the second half of 201 we doubled efforts in the most

fertile growth areas of the digital landscape video local branded content and brand advertising

In video we significantly elevated its pervasiveness across our properties and as result AOLs video

usage increased to approximately 50 million viewers moving AOL from 11 in video to in video In local

we relaunched MapQuest scaled Patch into approximately 775 towns from just 30 towns at the end of

2009 and connected it into AOLs broader services base

In content we relaunched significant brands such as Moviefone and AOL.com acquired TechCrunch which

together with Engadget represents the cream of the crop of the technology sector

In advertising we launched Project Devil which is now on track to becoming an industry approved ad unit

for brand advertisers and product that has moved AOL into the center of advertising conversations on the

Internet Additionally we negotiated and renewed great search agreement with our partners at Google

and signed many more partnerships that will help propel the future success of the company



The AOL brand remains exceptionally strong and was recently named in AdAges top 00 brands that

consumers love This is important because firmly believe that individuals navigate their lives by brands

Think about your day-to-day activities from what you wear to what you eat to how get up to speed on Local

national and global events and my guess is that you turn to trusted brands to help you cut through the

clutter of choice It is true offline and it remains true online and as we Left 2010 AOL had amassed set of

brands including Engadget MapQuest Moviefone TechCrunch and The Huffington Post that will stay with

consumers across aLl devices and alL regions Every month muLtiple times per month approximately 11

miLLion people in the U.S and approximately 240 million people worldwide interact with the AOL brands

making us an incredibly valuabLe partner for advertisers Looking to reach premium audiences and for

content producers looking to add voLume to their voice

As we enter 2011 our strategy remains the same AOL is aiming to be the Largest high-quality content

producer for digital media localLy regionalLy nationalLy and globally Every action weve taken since

becoming an independent company in late 2009 has taken us further down that path

On more detailed leveL we have our strategy spLit in three important buckets which we refer to internally

as The 80/80/80 Model That is 80% of househoLd spending is carried out by women 80% of commerce
is LocaL and 80% of considered purchases are influenced by an influencer As such we wiLl be principaLs

in content for Women LocaL and InfLuencers and we are building gLobal platforms in video mobile and

advertising underneath those audiences We wiLl use our taLent and technoLogy to serve those audiences

and create meaningful differentiation in our products and experiences

RecentLy we acquired one of the webs fastest growing sites The Huffington Post The site which has

grown rapidly since inception creates content daily that spans each one of our strategy areas As part of

AOL The Huffington Post expands the strength and appeal of our brand portfolio while growing the size of

our vaLuabLe audience for our advertising partners AdditionalLy advertising programs across the AOL and

The Huffington Post platforms wilL alLow us to mix the benefits of Project DeviL with The Huffington Posts

clear Leadership in connecting content with sociaL communities In one of the fastest integrations of large

digital companies we were abLe to go from agreeing to acquire the Huffington Post to near fulL integration

of the business into AOL in Less than 60 days

In summary our 201 goaLs falL into three simple buckets

Growth in traffic on our branded properties

Growth in dispLay advertising incLuding video across our OO brands

and our Business-to-Business network of pubLishers

Growth in local traffic and monetization

Across AOL we intend to grow traffic organicalLy as welL as through deaLs and partnerships that increase

traffic and distribution High expectations great execution creativity and great design go hand-in-hand

with traffic growth

Growth in brand advertising is going to come from differentiated ads and consumer experiences Many

of us witnessed the birth of online advertising in the 90s and the growth of search advertising in the last

decade and now the time is right for the birth of brand advertising Consumers spend similar amount

of time watching TV as they do surfing the web yet advertisers spend over twice as much on TV than



they do online This gap has been slow to close but we expect that it will over time and we have invested

in developing premium advertising experiences to help facilitate the eventual flow of dollars to the space

Expect AOL to remain an innovator in the brand advertising space as we see big potential here

In addition to branded advertising growth on our owned and operated properties we own unique set of

assets that will drive growth across our third party publishing partners Recently we created Business-

to-Business offering that will leverage brands and technologies like Ad.com Pictela 5MinMedia ADTECH
StudioNow and GoViral as well as our expertise and scale in content advertising and technology platforms

to provide suite of those services to other publishers

In Local with Patch we are digitizing hyper-Local communities across the U.S and ultimately across the

globe and we are seeing impressive consumer adoption metrics and rapid growth in advertiser interest

We completely redesigned MapQuest in 201 and we see continued opportunities to expand the service

and product coverage domestically and internationally

And finally AOLs number one value as company is to help others and we believe AOL as company must

have an ethos broader than the bottom line The new AOL.com relaunched in November includes cause

marketing module which in short time has already delivered approximately billion impressions on

behalf of approximately 00 charities Community service is also something that we promoted in 2010 and

it will represent significant part of our future as we focus our efforts on getting fit operationally financially

and civically

2010 was critical year in thefuture of AOL 2011 will be the year when you see through our user metrics

improved product quality and reported financial results that AOL is on comeback and on the path to being

growth company in growth category once again

You will struggle to find many companies that have worked as hard and accomplished as much as AOL

in 2010 Every AOLer past and present contributed to our recent accomplishments The AOL Board

of Directors served the company with incredible spirit and thoughtfulness and made considerable

contributions Finally would like to thank our customers and investors who have supported our efforts

to rebuild this great company Your support is meaningful to me and fuels the fire which motivates us to

continue our rapid pace of execution as we seek to reward your support with results

Were just getting started were motivated and were playing to win Were going to do well by doing good

and we wont stop working hard and being bold and returning the trust investors put in us with returns

that make them very happy

Go AOLTA

Tim Armstrong

Chairman CEO AOL Inc
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We are focused on the most vatu able audiences

808080
INFLUENCERS WOMEN LOCAL

74% of alt decisions 85% of household 86% of purchases

are made by spending is controlled are Local under

consulting influencers by women miles from home

Our brand portfolio reflects our commitment to

our 80 80 80 strategy These are sampling of our

best-in-class brands that serve these valuable audiences

autoblog7t St IeIisb Patch
WE OBSESS VELYCOVER IISEABTO ROUSER

Pnqadg2 dai1y mapquest

TechCrunch HUFFPOST CitysBestTM

HEALTH
HUFFPOST

itc hendC.ly NEW YORK
Aol Artists

HUFFINGTON
ENTERTAINMENT LOS ANGELES

POST Aol Tetevision



Aol

Youve Got

Youve Got is an original web series featured on

AOL corn each and every rnorning highlighting

variety of interesting individuals celebrities experts

public figures and influencers all with distinct

point of view and personal message to share with our

AOL users.The Youve Got series is an irnpressive

contributor to the 400 rnillion rnonthly video views

on the AOL network
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT CONCERNING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K Annual Report contains certain forward-looking statements

within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 regarding business

strategies market potential future financial performance and other matters Words such as

anticipates estimatesexpects projects forecasts intends plans wilL believes and

words and terms of similar substance used in connection with any discussion of future operating or

financial performance identify forward-looking statements These forward-looking statements are

based on managements current expectations and beliefs about future events As with any projection or

forecast they are inherently susceptibLe to uncertainty and changes in circumstances Except as

required by law we are under no obligation to and expressly disclaim any obligation to update or alter

any forward-looking statements whether as resuLt of such changes new information subsequent

events or otherwise

Various factors could adversely affect our operations business or financiaL results in the future

and cause our actuaL results to differ materiaLly from those contained in the forward-Looking

statements including those factors discussed in detail in Item lARisk Factors In addition we

operate web services company in highLy competitive rapidLy changing and consumer and

technology-driven industry This industry is affected by government regulation economic strategic

politicaL and social conditions consumer response to new and existing products and services

technological developments and particularly in view of new technologies the continued ability to

protect intellectual property rights Our actual results could differ materially from managements

expectations because of changes in such factors

Further lower than expected market valuations associated with our cash flows and revenues may

result in Our inability to realize the value of recorded intangibles and goodwill In addition achieving our

business and financial objectives including growth in operations and maintenance of strong balance

sheet and liquidity position could be adversely affected by the factors discussed or referenced in

Item lARisk Factors as well as among other things

changes in our plans strategies and intentions

our ability to attract and retain key employees

the success of any cost reductions restructuring actions or similar efforts including with

respect to any associated savings charges or other amounts

the impact of significant acquisitions dispositions and other similar transactions

the failure to meet earnings expectations

asset impairments

decreased liquidity in the capital markets

our ability to access the capital markets for debt securities or bank financings and

the impact of cyber warfare or terrorist acts and hostilities

References in this Annual Report to we us the Company and AOL refer to AOL Inc

Delaware corporation



ITEM BUSINESS

Introduction

We are Leading globaL web services company with an extensive suite of brands and offerings and

substantiaL worLdwide audience Our business spans online content products and services that we
offer to consumers publishers and advertisers We are focused on attracting and engaging consumers
and providing vaLuabLe online advertising services on both our owned and operated properties and

third-party websites

The SpinOff

In the fourth quarter of 2009 the Board of Directors of Time Warner Inc Time Warner approved
the complete Legal and structural separation of AOL Inc from Time Warner the spin-off foLLowing
which we became an independent publicly-traded company In the spin-off which occurred on

December 2009 Time Warner distributed to its shareholders of record alL of the shares of our

common stock that it owned at ratio of one share of AOL common stock for each 11 shares of Time

Warner common stock held by each such hoLder as of November 27 2009 the record date for the spin
off On December 10 2009 after completion of the spin-off our common stock began trading regular

way on the New York Stock Exchange under the symboL AOL

Our ReLationship with Time Warner

Since the spin-off our Company and Time Warner have operated independentLy and neither has

any ownership interest in the other In order to govern certain of the ongoing relationships between us

and Time Warner after the spin-off and to provide mechanisms for orderly transition we and Time

Warner entered into agreements pursuant to which certain services and rights were provided for

following the spin-off and we and Time Warner have agreed to indemnify each other
against certain

liabilities arising from our respective businesses

Restructuring

We continue to undertake various restructuring activities in an effort to better align our

organizational structure and costs with our strategy We reduced our total workforce by nearly

one-third in connection with significant restructuring initiative that was largely completed during the

first quarter of 2010 prior to hiring new employees in areas of strategic focus In connection with our

restructuring activities we have ceased or reduced our operations in number of countries

Background

Historically our primary strategic focus was our dial-up nternet access services business which

operated one of the largest Internet subscription access services in the United States As broadband

penetration in the United States increased we experienced decline which we continue to experience
in subscribers to our access service At the same time online advertising experienced significant

growth In 2006 we fundamentally shifted the primary strategic focus of our business from generating

subscription access revenues to attracting and engaging Internet consumers and generating

advertising revenues In connection with this shift we began offering the vast majority of our content

products and services to consumers for free in an effort to attract and engage broader group of

consumers Since 2006 we also have essentially eliminated our marketing and distribution of the

software necessary for consumers to utilize the dial-up service Although our primary strategic focus

has shifted our subscription access service remains an important source of our total revenues and

cash flows



Our strategy is focused primarily on attracting and engaging Internet consumers by creating high

quality content products and services at scale and generating advertising revenues with our

subscription access service managed as valuable distribution channel for our content product and

service offerings

Our Strategic Initiatives

Consistent with our strategic shift to business focused primarily on generating advertising

revenues we are in the midst of executing multi-year strategic plan to reinvigorate growth in our

revenues and profits by taking advantage of the continuing migration of advertising commerce and

information to the nternet Our strategy is to focus our resources on AOLs core competitive strengths

in web and local content production consumer applications advertising and paid services while

expanding the distribution of our content product and service offerings on multiple platforms and

digital devices including on portable wireless devices such as smartphones and tablets e.g iPhone

iPad Android-based devices and Blackberry We aim to reinvigorate AOLs culture and brand by

prioritizing the consumer experience making greater use of data-driven insights and encouraging

innovation including through initiatives in AOL Ventures We are also actively supplementing our

business strategy through targeted acquisitions and dispositions Particular areas of strategic

emphasis include

Enhancing Our Content Brands We are enhancing our brands by providing relevant and

engaging online consumer content by focusing on the creation and distribution of original

content produced by us and through strategic partnerships as well as the distribution of

content produced by third parties

Pursuing Local Internet Opportunities We believe that there are significant opportunities for

growth in the area of local content platforms and services by providing comprehensive

content covering all geographic areas from local neighborhoods to major metropolitan areas

By enhancing these local internet offerings we seek to provide consumers with

comprehensive local experience

Providing Innovative Consumer Applications We seek to increase the reach of and

engagement on our established consumer applications including communications offerings

such as our e-mail products and instant messaging applications on multiple platforms and

digital devices

Increasing Advertising Sales on Our Own Properties and Growing the Third Party Network

We seek to deepen our relationships with existing advertisers and attract new advertisers by

providing them with effective and efficient means of reaching our consumers In addition we

seek to grow the number of publishers and advertisers utilizing our third-party advertising

network by providing an open transparent and easy-to-use advertising system that offers

unique and valuable insights to our publishers and advertisers As
part

of our sales

initiatives we include incentive programs as needed to drive new sales initiatives and products

deemed necessary for the growth of our business

Becoming Consumer-Friendly RetaiLer of Subscription Products and Services We seek to

develop test and market new subscription products that are owned by us and by third parties

To facilitate this goal we launched the initial phase of single consumer-facing platform in

2010 that allows us to manage and distribute these additional products In 2011 we plan on

launching the next phase of this single consumer-facing platform as means of further

improving the management marketing and distribution of these products



Business Overview

Our business operations are focused on the following

AOL Properties We seek to be Leading online pubLisher of relevant and engaging online

content and provider of engaging consumer products and services by utilizing open and highLy

scalable publishing pLatforms and content management systems In addition we have

extended and continue to extend the reach of our offerings to consumer audience on

muLtipLe platforms and digital devices AOL Properties include our owned and operated

content products and services in the Content LocaL Paid Services and Consumer

AppLications strategy areas in addition to our AOL Ventures offerings AOL Properties also

include co-branded websites owned by third parties for which certain criteria have been met

including that the Internet traffic has been assigned to us We generate advertising revenues

from AOL Properties through the saLe of display advertising and search and contextual

advertising We offer numerous types of dispLay advertising incLuding text and banner

advertising mobile video and rich media advertising sponsorship of content offerings local

and cLassified advertising and audience targeting opportunities

We aLso generate revenues through our subscription access service We view our subscription

access service as valuabLe distribution channel for AOL Properties Our access service

subscribers are important users of AOL
Properties and engaging both present and former

access service subscribers is an important component of our strategy In addition our

subscription access service will remain an important source of revenue and cash fLow for us in

the near term We aLso generate revenues from subscriptions to other products and services

GLobal consumers are increasingLy accessing and using the Internet through devices other

than personaL computers such as smartphones and tabLet computers In addition social

networking is becoming more popuLar form of communication for global consumers on the

Internet As result we seek to ensure that our content products and services are available

on digital devices as well as social networks so that our consumers can readily access and use

our content products and services

Third Party Network We aLso generate advertising revenues through the saLe of advertising

on third-party websites which we refer to as the Third Party Network Our mission is to

provide an open and transparent advertising system that is easy-to-use and offers our

publishers and advertisers unique and vaLuabLe insights We seek to grow the number of

publishers and advertisers utilizing the Third Party Network

We market our offerings to advertisers on both AOL Properties and the Third Party Network under

the brand AOL Advertising We market our offerings to pubLishers on the Third Party Network under

the brand Advertising.com and also market offerings as video advertisements distributed through

goviraL and Minutes Ltd

AOL Properties

AOL Media Offerings

AOL Media offerings include original content produced through our large network of content

creators which includes professional journalists from new and traditional media freeLance writers and

bloggers content we license from third parties and aggregations of user-generated content Our

content offerings are made availabLe to broad audiences through sites such as the AOL.com homepage
as weLL as to niche audiences on highLy-targeted branded properties such as Engadget TechCrunch



PopEater Moviefone AOL Shopping AOL Autos AOL Travel AOL Real Estate MapQuest and StyleList

Additionally we seek to enter joint ventures and strategic partnerships with third parties with

established brands in an effort to expand our content offerings To facilitate the intake creation

management and publication of original content we utilize publishing platforms and content

management systems that are designed to scale in cost-effective manner in order to produce large

variety of relevant content for consumers Our Seed.com platform allows writers and photographers to

submit original content for our professional editors to review and possibly publish on AOL Properties or

on third party sites

In 2010 we completed several acquisitions to increase the production and distribution of video on

AOL Media properties Our acquisition of StudioNow Inc in the first quarter of 2010 provides us with

video content management system and network of professional videographers that has allowed us to

increase the amount of original video we create Our acquisition of Minutes Ltd in the third quarter of

2010 provides us with additional video content and syndication platform for web-based videos that

enhances our ability to distribute content

On February 201 we entered into definitive agreement to acquire TheHuffingtonPost.com Inc

The Huffington Post We believe that our acquisition of The Huffington Post will solidify our strategy

of creating global content network while providing our consumers with an array of news analysis

commentary and entertainment

Local

We seek to be leading provider of local content platforms and services covering geographic

Levels ranging from neighborhoods to major metropolitan areas We have developed and acquired

platforms that are designed to facilitate the production aggregation distribution and consumption of

local content This local content includes professional
editorial content user-generated content and

business Listings Our goal is to provide compelling accessible and comprehensive local experience

on the Internet

Our Local offerings include the following

Patch which is community-specific news and information platform dedicated to providing

comprehensive and trusted local coverage for individual towns and communities

MapQuest which is Leading online mapping and directions service and

Citys Best which provides local entertainment information for major metropolitan areas

Although AOL is facing increasing competition in the local market we believe we are well-

positioned to be leader in providing services to local markets through our established brands

MapQuest and Citys Bestand through the rapid expansion of Patch which has grown from

approximately 30 sites in January 2010 to 790 sites as of February 18 2011 In order to take advantage

of this position we intend to continue to significantly
invest in this area and establish online destinations

that provide comprehensive news events and directories at the local level

Consumer Applications

We offer an array
of consumer applications including suite of communications products and

services Our e-mail and instant messaging products and services provide us with the ability to reach

millions of consumers globally An important goal is to increase the reach and engagement of our

communications offerings on multiple platforms and digital devices including on portable wireless



devices such as smartphones and tablets e.g Phone iPad Android-based devices and Blackberry

Accordingly we seek to continue to develop and enhance the vaLue of our existing consumer

appLications offerings including through enhanced features and functionality user interface

improvements and integrations with other networks and services

Our consumer appLications offerings incLude the folLowing

AOL MaiL which is one of the most popular e-maiL services in the United States

AIM which is Leading instant messaging service in the United States and

suite of mobiLe offerings which extend our content products and services to range of

digitaL devices e.g Moviefone DaiLyFinance and Seed appLications

We are continuaLLy Looking to enhance and expand our consumer appLications offerings For

example in the fourth quarter of 2010 we Launched in beta new AOL Mail offering which is intended

to simplify integrate and aggregate different modes of communication such as e-mail instant

messaging and text messaging Additionally we seek to enable consumers to access AOL content and

services on mobile devices and we intend to develop and offer other applications designed specifically

for mobile use We beLieve there are Long-term opportunities to distribute content products and

advertising through our consumer applications offerings We believe this extension of our product

distribution wiLl enable us to generate increased advertising revenue

During the third quarter of 2010 we acquired Thing Labs Inc We believe this acquisition will

provide consumers with additional ways to find and share content During the fourth quarter of 2010 we

acquired About.me We believe this acquisition wilL grow our audience and deepen our engagement with

users by providing singLe place for them to keep track of personaL profiles from across the web

Search and Contextual

We offer AOL Search on AOL Properties We provide our consumers with generaL Internet-based

search experience that utilizes 000gles organic web search results and additionaL Links on the search

results page that showcase contextually reLevant AOL and third-party content and information as welL

as provide variety of search-related features such as suggesting related searches to help users

further refine their search queries We also provide our consumers with relevant paid text-based

search advertising through our reLationship with 000gle in which we provide consumers sponsored link

ads in response to their search queries In addition we offer verticaL search services i.e search within

specific content category and mobile search services on AOL Properties

We also offer contextualLy relevant advertising that is generated based on the content of the AOL

Properties webpage the consumer is viewing We aLso offer MapQuest service that provides maps
turn by turn driving directions and other Location-based information for consumers around the worLd In

the third quarter of 2010 we Launched new MapQuest platform which simpLified the user interface

and included enhanced features In addition we provide local directory Listings through our AOL YeLLow

Pages product which Listings are provided by third
party and from which AOL receives revenue

share

Paid Services

HistoricalLy our primary subscription service has been our subscription access service incLuding

narrow-band telephone dial-up access to the Internet Moving forward we seek to deveLop test and

market additionaL AOL and third-party subscription products and services that are offered to Internet



consumers generally Some products or services are offered to access subscribers for no additional

charge or at discounted rate in order to increase customer satisfaction and retention Computer tools

and maintenance services online technical support anti-virus software identity theft protection online

and social media privacy and reputation monitoring services diet fitness services online Learning and

other Ufestyle services are currently offered on subscription basis and additional categories may be

added in the future Consumers wiLl be able to manage their subscription products and services

through this platform including adding or canceling subscription AOL continues to develop and offer

other paid services as way to attract engage and serve consumers Currently the vast majority of the

consumers for our paid services products are also access subscribers

Distribution of AOL Properties

Content products and services on AOL Properties are generally available to online consumers and

we are focused on attracting greater numbers of consumers to our offerings In addition we utilize

various distribution channels as described belowwhich allow us to more directly reach online

cons me rs

SUBSCRIPTION ACCESS SERVICE

Our AOL-brand subscription access service which we offer to consumers in the United States for

monthly fee is valuable distribution channel for AOL Properties As of December 31 2010 we had

3.9 million AOL-brand access subscribers in the United States

In addition to our content products and services that are available to all online consumers an

AOL-brand access subscription provides members with dial-up access to the Internet and depending

on the applicable price plan various degrees of enhanced safety and security features technical

support and other benefits In addition we continue to offer Internet access services under the

CompuServe and Netscape brands

Our major access service partners are Level Communications LLC and MCI Communications

Services Inc who provide us with modem networks and related services for substantial portion of

our subscription access service We have agreed to commit significant portion of our access service

subscribers total dial-up network hours to the Level and MCI networks More specifically 30% of our

total dial-up network hours are presently committed to Level and 50% of our total dial-up network

hours are presently committed to MCI Through take or pay provisions in each agreement we will incur

penalty payments if we fail to dedicate the required percentage of dial-up hours to these service

partners As of December 31 2010 we are meeting our volume commitments to each of these service

partners We have agreed to use the Level and MCI networks until March 31 2011 and December 31

2014 respectiveLy The agreement with MCI may be renewed at our option until December31 2015

Upon expiration of these agreements we expect to continue our relationships with Level and MCI or

enter into agreements with one or more other providers of modem networks and related services

Our access service subscriber base has declined and is expected to continue to decline as result

of several factors including the increased availability of high-speed broadband Internet connections

the fact that significant amount of online content products and services has been optimized for use

with broadband Internet connections and the effects of our strategic shift announced in 2006 which

resulted in us essentially eliminating our marketing efforts for our subscription access service and the

free availability of the vast majority of our content products and services See Item lARisk Factors

Risks Relating to Our BusinessOur strategic shift to an online advertising-supported business model

involves significant risks



OTHER DISTRIBUTION CHANNELS

We aLso distribute AOL Properties through variety of other channels incLuding agreements with

manufacturers of digital devices and other consumer electronics broadband access providers and

mobile carriers AOL aLso distributes its content products and services directLy to consumers on the

open web and through the AppLe Apps Store Additional distribution channels include toolbars widgets

co-branded portals and websites and third-partywebsites and sociaL networks that link to AOL

Properties We aLso utilize search engine marketing and search engine optimization as distribution

methods In addition we make avaiLabLe open standards and protocols for use by third-party developers

to enhance promote and distribute AOL Properties

AOL seeks to make its AOL Properties and originaL content as well as other products and services

available on social networks whether offered directly or by means of partnerships with social networks

operators

AOL Properties Revenue Generation

ADVERTISING REVENUES

We generate advertising revenues from AOL Properties through the sale of display advertising and

search and contextual advertising We offer advertisers wide range of capabilities and solutions to

effectively deLiver advertising and reach targeted audiences across AOL Properties through our

dedicated advertising sales force The substantial number of unique visitors on AOL Properties allows

us to offer advertisers the capabiLity of reaching broad and diverse demographic and geographic

audience without having to partner with multiple content providers We seek to provide effective and

efficient advertising solutions utiLizing data-driven insights that help advertisers decide how best to

engage consumers We offer advertisers marketing and promotional opportunities to purchase specific

placements of
advertising directly on AOL Properties i.e in particular Locations and on specific dates

In addition we offer advertisers the opportunity to bid on unreserved advertising inventory on AOL

Properties utilizing our proprietary scheduLing optimization and delivery technology Finally advertising

inventory on AOL Properties not sold directly to advertisers as described above may be included for

saLe to advertisers with inventory purchased from third-party publishers in the Third Party Network

Display advertising revenues are generated through the display of graphical advertisements as well

as performance-based advertising Search and contextuaL
advertising revenues are generated when

consumer clicks on text-based ad on their screen These text-based ads are either generated from

consumer- initiated search query or generated based on the content of the webpage the consumer is

viewing Agreements for advertising on AOL Properties typically take the foLlowing forms

impression-based contracts in which we provide impressions an impression is delivered

when an advertisement appears in web pages viewed by users in exchange for fixed fee

generally stated as cost-per-thousand impressions

time-based contracts in which we provide minimum number of impressions over specified

time period for fixed fee or

performance-based contracts in which performance is measured in terms of either click

throughs when user clicks on companys advertisement or other user actions such as

product/customer registrations survey participation sales leads or product purchases

We utilize our own proprietary ad serving technology i.e technology that places advertisements

on websites and digital devices as the primary vehicle for placements of advertisements on AOL

Properties through our subsidiary ADTECH AG We aLso license this ad serving technology to third

parties



During the third
quarter of 2010 we introduced new advertising format that seeks to enhance the

consumer experience by improving the aesthetic quality impact and interactivity of online advertising

while also providing solutions for advertisers looking for innovative ways to showcase their products

and services to consumers In departure from traditional display advertising the new format offers an

ad space segmented into interactive panels allowing advertisers to customize different streams of

functionality within one interface which we believe will increase consumer engagement with online

advertising We acquired Pictela Inc in December 2010 in order to scale our delivery of video photos

and applications both within the new advertising format and generally across the AOL Properties We
believe that the Pictela acquisition combined with the new advertising format can help us improve our

display advertising product offering

Google is except in certain limited circumstances the exclusive web search provider for AOL

Properties In connection with these search services Google provides us with share of the revenue

generated through paid text-based search advertising and contextual advertising on AOL Properties

For the year ended December 31 2010 advertising revenues associated with the 000gb relationship

substantially all of which were search and contextual revenues generated on AOL Properties were

$398.4 million In addition we sell search-based keyword advertising directly to advertisers on AOL

Properties through the use of white-labeled modified version of 000gles advertising platform for

which we provide share of the revenue generated through such sales to 000gle We have extended the

search partnership with 000gle for an additional five-year period until December 31 2015 The majority

of the revised terms in these agreements took effect on January 2011 As part of the extension of the

relationship the Company and 000gle entered into binding Memorandum of Understanding pursuant
to which the parties will work together to expand the alliance to include the provision of mobile search

and mobile search
advertising services to AOL AOL and 000gle also entered into video partnership

that will feature AOLs video content on YouTube which became effective on August 27 2010 See Item

lARisk FactorsRisks Relating to Our BusinessWe are dependent on third-party search

provider

For the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 our advertising revenues on AOL

Properties were $948.5 million $121 3.7 million and $1450.4 million respectively

SUBSCRIPTION REVENUES

We generate subscription revenues through our subscription access service As of January 2011
our primary AOL-brand price plans were $25.90 and $11.99 per month We also offer consumers

among other things enhanced online safety and security features and technical support for monthly

subscription fee As noted above our access service subscriber base has declined and is expected to

continue to decline This has resulted in year-over-year declines in our subscription revenues The

number of domestic AOL-brand access subscribers was 3.9 million 5.0 million and 6.9 million at

December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively For the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and

2008 our subscription revenues were $1023.6 million $1388.8 million and $1929.3 million

respectively

Although our subscription revenues have declined and are expected to continue to decline we
believe that our subscription access service will continue to provide us with an important source of

revenue and cash flow in the near term The revenue and cash flow generated from our subscription

access service will help us to pursue our strategic initiatives

Third Party Network

We also generate advertising revenues through the sale of
advertising on third party websites Our

advertising offerings on the Third Party Network consist primarily of the sale of display advertising and

also includes search and contextual advertising In order to generate advertising revenues on the Third



Party Network we have historically had to incur higher traffic acquisition costs as compared to

advertising on AOL Properties We currently market our offerings to publishers on the Third Party

Network under the brand Advertising.com and also market offerings as video advertisements

distributed through goviral and Minutes Ltd In order to effectiveLy connect advertisers with online

advertising inventory we purchase advertising inventory from pubLishers and utilize proprietary

optimization targeting and delivery technology to best match advertisers with available advertising

inventory significant portion of our revenues on the Third Party Network is generated from the

advertising inventory acquired from Limited number of publishers We plan to expand the Third Party

Network in order to allow us to serve many more publishers and advertisers than at present

The Third Party Network includes display advertising interface that gives advertisers the ability to

target and control the delivery of their advertisements and provides advertisers and agencies with

relevant display analytics and measurement tools We intend to utilize self-service systems and tools in

order to expand our relationships with advertisers For our publishers inclusion in the Third Party

Network offers comprehensive set of tools and technologies to manage and maximize their return

We aim to develop our current relationships with publishers and advertisers and continue to expand the

number of publishers and advertisers we serve through the products and services we offer on the Third

Party Network

We utilize proprietary scheduling optimization and delivery technology that employs set of

complex mathematical algorithms that seek to optimize advertisement placements across the Third

Party Network and the available inventory on AOL Properties This optimization is based on expected

user response which is derived from previous user response plus factors such as user segmentation

creative performance and site performance AdLearn allows performance to be analyzed quickly and

advertisement placement to be frequently optimized based on specific objectives including click-

through rate conversion rate sales volume and other metrics We also offer advertisers the ability to

target advertisements to specific users using technology that utilizes non-personally identifiable

information such as geographic location previous exposure to certain advertisements or user behavior

online

In the fourth quarter of 2009 we began proactively de-emphasizing the search engine campaign

management and lead generation affiliate products on the Third Party Network in order to focus and

strengthen our efforts in display advertising solutions Given the relatively high level of direct costs

associated with these products this change did not have significant
adverse impact on operating

income for the year ended December31 2010

Advertising arrangements for the sale of Third Party Network inventory typically take the form of

impression-based contracts or performance-based contracts For the years ended December 31 2010

2009 and 2008 our advertising revenues on the Third Party Network were $335.6 million $523.0 million

and $632.9 milbon respectively

Other Revenues

in addition to advertising and subscription revenues we also generate fee license and other

revenues We generate fees from our consumer applications associated with mobile e-mail and instant

messaging functionality from mobile carriers Through MapOuests business-to-business services we

generate licensing revenue from third-party customers We also generate revenues by licensing our

proprietary ad serving technology to third parties primarily through our subsidiary ADTECH AG

AOL Ventures

Some of the initiatives described above may be classified as part of AOL Ventures We formed AOL

Ventures with the goal of creating an entrepreneurial environment to attract and develop innovative
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initiatives AOL Ventures focuses on acquisitions that we have previously made which have start-up

characteristics or which do not currently fit within our other areas of strategic focus investments we
intend to make in early-stage externally-developed opportunities and employee-originated innovations

that we believe would benefit from incubation and development within the AOL Ventures environment

For initiatives included within AOL Ventures our goal is to create an improved environment for

fostering sustained long-term growth For future initiatives and investmentswhether externally-

developed or employee-originatedAOL Ventures will focus on early-stage opportunities that are

aligned with our long-term strategy The size of our investment and corresponding ownership interest

will vary depending on the opportunity as will our level of involvement and control We intend to attract

top talent and source attractive opportunities by partnering with leading angel investors venture

capitalists and universities In 2010 we closed twelve external investments which represented blend

of content and advertising technology with opportunities for growth in mobile and local investments

We actively monitor the early stage venture ecosystem and work to create value from emerging

companies that can provide strategic advantage to AOL We currently expect to invest significantly

less capital in AOL Ventures than in our other operations In addition to capitalizing on the initiatives and

investments included within AOL Ventures ourselves we may seek outside capital where appropriate

Product Development

We seek to develop new and enhanced versions of our products and services for our consumers
publishers and advertisers While in the past we have relied primarily on our own proprietary

technology to support our products and services we have been steadily increasing our use of open
source technologies and platforms with view to diversifying our sources of technology as well as for

cost management Research and development costs related to our software development efforts for

2010 2009 and 2008 totaled $41.9 million $63.2 million and $68.8 million respectively These costs

consist primarily of personnel and related costs that are incurred related to the development of

software and
user-facing Internet offerings that do not qualify for capitalization At Oecember 31 2010

and 2009 the net book value of capitalized internal-use software was $62.6 million and $112.1 million

respectively

Intellectual Property and other Proprietary Rights

Our intellectual property and other proprietary assets include copyrights trademarks and

trademark applications patents and patent applications domain names trade secrets other

proprietary rights and licenses of intellectual property rights of various kinds These assets and rights

both in the United States and in other countries around the world are collectively among our most

valuable assets We rely on combination of copyright trademark patent trade secret and unfair

competition laws as well as contractual provisions to protect these assets The duration and scope of

the protection afforded to our intellectual property and other assets depends on the type of property in

question and the laws and regulations of the relevant jurisdiction In the case of licenses they also

depend on contractual provisions We consider the AOL brand and our other brands to be some of our

most valuable assets and these assets are protected by numerous trademark registrations in the

United States and globally These registrations may generally be maintained in effect for as long as the

brand is in use in the respective jurisdictions

Competition

We compete for the time and attention of consumers with wide range of Internet companies

including YahooI Inc 000gle Inc Microsoft Corporations MSN IAC/Interactive Corp and social

networking companies such as Facebook Inc Twitter Inc and News Corporations MySpace as well

as traditional media companies which are increasingly offering their own Internet products and

services
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We compete for advertisers and publishers with wide range of companies offering competing

advertising products technoLogy and services aggregators of such advertising products technoLogy

and services and demand side-platforms and other aggregators of third-party advertising inventory We

aLso compete for taLent in technology skiLls and content creation In addition to those companies Listed

above competitors incLude WPP pLc 24/7 Real Media and ValueCtick Inc Competition among these

companies has been intensifying and may Lead to continuing decreases in prices for certain advertising

inventory as weLl as Lower demand

Our subscription access service competes with other Internet access providers especiaLLy

broadband providers

InternationaLly our primary competitors are global enterprises such as Yahoo Google MSN IAC

Facebook MySpace and other social networking sites as weLL as Large number of Local enterprises

The Internet industry is dynamic and rapidly evoLving and new and popular competitors such as

social networking sites providers of communications tools and providers of advertising services

frequently emerge

Government Regulation and Other Regulatory Matters

Our business is subject to various federaL and state Laws and regulations particularly in the areas

of privacy data security and consumer protection

Laws and reguLations appLicable to our business incLude the foLLowing

The Digital Millennium Copyright Act of 1998 parts of which limit the liability of certain eligible

onLine service providers for Listing or linking to third-party websites that include materiaLs

which infringe copyrights or other intellectual property rights of others

The ControLling the AssauLt of Non-Solicited Pornography and Marketing Act of 2003 which

estabLishes requirements for those who send commerciaL e-maiL sets forth penalties for

e-mail spammers and companies whose products are advertised in spam if they vioLate the

law and gives consumers the right to ask e-mailers to stop spamming them

The Communications Decency Act of 996 sections of which provide certain statutory

protections to onLine service providers who distribute third-party content

The PROTECT Our Children Act of 2008 which requires online services to report and preserve

evidence of vioLations of federal chiLd pornography laws under certain circumstances

The ELectronic Communications Privacy Act of 1986 which sets forth the provisions for access

use disclosure and interception and privacy protections of eLectronic communications

The Childrens Online Privacy Protection Act of 1998 and the FederaL Trade Commissions

reLated impLementing regulations which prohibit the coLLection of personaL information from

users under the age of 13 without parentaL consent In addition there has been an

internationaL movement to provide additional protections to minors who are onLine which if

enacted could resuLt in substantiaL compLiance costs

Our marketing and biLling activities are subject to reguLation by the Federal Trade Commission and

each of the states and the District of Columbia under both general consumer protection Laws and

regulations prohibiting unfair or deceptive acts or practices as well as various laws and reguLations
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mandating disclosures authorizations opt-out procedures and record-keeping for particular sorts of

marketing and bilLing transactions These laws and reguLations include for example the Telemarketing

Sales Rule federal and state Do Not Call statutes the Electronic Funds Transfer Act Regulation

and anti-cramming regulations promulgated by state Public Utilities Commissions and other regulatory

bodies Moreover our ability to bill under certain payment methods is subject to commercial

agreements including for example the Credit Card Association rules and agreements between our

payment aggregator and telephone carriers

We regularly receive and resolve inquiries relating to marketing and billing issues from state

Attorneys General the Federal Trade Commission and the Federal Communications Commission and

over the course of more than 20 years of operations we have entered into severaL Consent Orders

Assurances of Voluntary Compliance/Discontinuance and settlements pursuant to which we have

implemented series of consumer protection safeguards Examples include the prohibition of

consumer retention-related compensation to call center personnel based either on non-third-party

verified retention transactions or minimum retention thresholds implementing tools that mandate

adherence to various consumer protection procedural safeguards around marketing sales

registration cancellation retention and reactivation transactions recordation and retention of

particular call types enabling and requiring full customer support for disabled consumers and

implementing regular training programs and monitoring mechanisms to ensure compliance with these

obligations

In the United States Internet access services are generally classified as information services

which are not subject to regulation by the Federal Communications Commission

Various international laws and regulations also affect our growth and operations In addition

various legislative and regulatory proposals under consideration from time to time by the United States

Congress and various federal state and international authorities have materially affected us in the past

and may materially affect us in the future In particular federal state and international governmentaL

authorities continue to evaluate the privacy implications inherent in the use of third-party web cookies

for behavioral advertising We use cookies which are small text fiLes placed in consumers browser

to facilitate authentication preference management research and measurement personalization and

advertisement and content delivery In the Third Party Network cookies or similar technologies help

present target and measure the effectiveness of advertisements More sophisticated targeting and

measurement facilitate enhanced revenue opportunities The regulation of these cookies and other

current online advertising practices could adversely aftect our business

Marketing

We believe the most effective type of marketing in the near term wilL be our abiLity to deliver

compelLing content products and services to the milLions of consumers who visit us each day In 2010

our marketing efforts supported our new brand identity and our mission to inform entertain and

connect the worLd We seek to evoLve our brand to reflect our efforts to deliver high-quality innovative

content products and services to consumers by engaging in targeted and strategic marketing efforts

We intend to continue to promote and support the AOL brand as well as our family of content and

product brands We look for strategic opportunities to integrate AOL into high value sponsorships and

targeted promotions aimed at defining our core value proposition to consumers We also engage in

meaningfuL marketing partnerships that aLLow us to grow our audience

Employees

As of December31 2010 we employed approximately 5860 people including approximately 1200

related to Patch Our employees are based in 15 countries around the worLd including the United
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States India the United Kingdom Germany Ireland Israel France and Canada At that time the

country outside of the United States where we had the largest empLoyee population was India with over

800 empLoyees We completed significant restructuring initiative in the fourth quarter of 2010 which

began late in 2009 and we reduced our total workforce by nearLy one-third prior to hiring of new

empLoyees in areas of strategic focus including Patch As part of this initiative we reduced our cost

base in the United Kingdom and ceased or reduced operations in number of other countries incLuding

France and Germany We continue to undertake various restructuring activities in an effort to better

align our organizational costs with our strategy significant number of our international empLoyees

support our domestic operations In generaL we consider our relationship with employees to be good

Global Presence

As of December31 2010 we had AOL-branded and co-branded portaLs and websites in North and

South America Europe and the Asia Pacific region Spanish Language portal http//latino.aoL.com is

accessible in primariLy Spanish-speaking regions We offer Internet access service under the AOL

brand in the United States Puerto Rico and Canada and have advertising operations in the United

States Canada and Europe as weLl as in Japan through joint venture with Mitsui Co Ltd In

addition AOL provides consumer offerings including Winamp and Shoutcast internationally We have

also expanded our internationaL operations through the acquisition of goviraL A/S company that

distributes branded online video for media agencies creative agencies and content producers As part

of our recent restructuring initiative to better align our organizationaL structure and costs with our

strategy we reduced our cost base in the United Kingdom and ceased or reduced operations in

number of other countries SpecificaLLy we significantly reduced our presence in Europe by reducing

our operations in France and Germany and ceasing operations in number of other countries For

geographic area data for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 see Note in our

accompanying consolidated financial statements

SeasonaLity

In the fourth quarter we have historicaLly seen sequential increase in advertising revenues

associated with hoLiday advertising however this fluctuation can be offset by adverse economic

conditions AdditionaLly in the first
quarter we have historicaLLy seen sequentiaL increase in average

monthly churn of domestic AOL-brand access subscribers the number of subscribers that terminate or

cancel our services factoring in new and reactivated subscribers
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WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We are required to file annuaL quarterly and current reports proxy statements and other

information with the Securities and Exchange Commission UnLess otherwise stated herein these

fiLings are not deemed to be incorporated by reference in this report You may read and copy any

documents filed by us at the Public Reference Room of the SEC 100 Street N.E Washington D.C

20549 You may obtain information on the operation of the PubLic Reference Room by calling the SEC at

-800-SEC-0330 Our filings with the SEC are also avaiLabLe to the public through the SECs website at

http//www.sec.gov Our common stock is Listed on the New York Stock Exchange NYSE under the

symboL AOL You can inspect and copy reports proxy
statements and other information about us at

the NYSEs offices at 20 Broad Street New York New York 10005 We also maintain an Internet website

at www.corp.aot.com We use our website as channel of distribution of material company
information FinanciaL and other information regarding

AOL is routinely posted on and accessibLe at

http//www.corp.aoL.com In addition you may automaticaLly receive e-mail alerts and other

information about AOL by visiting the e-mail alerts section at http//corp.aot.com/investor and

enroLLing your e-maiL We make avaiLabLe on our Internet website free of charge our annuaL reports on

Form 10-K quarterLy reports on Form 10-0 and current reports on Form 8-K and any amendments to

those reports as soon as practicable after we electronicaLly file such reports with the SEC In addition

copies of our Corporate Governance PoLicy ii charters for the Audit and Finance Committee

Compensation Committee and Nominating and Governance Committee and iii Standards of Business

Conduct and Code of Ethics for Our Senior Executive and Senior Financial Officers are avaiLable through

our Internet website at http//corp.aoLcom/corporate-poLicy Our website and the information posted

on it or connected to it shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into this report
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Executive Officers of the Registrant

The foLLowing sets forth certain information as of February 22 2011 concerning our executive

officers

Mr Tim Armstrong

Mr Armstrong age 40 has served as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of AOL since

ApriL 2009 Prior to that Mr Armstrong was President Americas Operations of GoogLe Inc

Mr Armstrong joined 000gle in 2000 as Vice President Advertising Sales and in 2004 was promoted to

Vice President Advertising and Commerce and then in 2007 he was named President Americas

Operations and Senior Vice President Before joining GoogLe Mr Armstrong served as Vice President of

SaLes and Strategic Partnerships for SnowbaLL.com from 1998 to 2000 Prior to that he served as

Director of Integrated Sales and Marketing at Starwaves and Disneys ABC/ESPN Internet Ventures

Mr Armstrong started his career by co-founding and running newspaper based in Boston

Massachusetts Mr Armstrong is trustee of Lawrence Academy and is Chair of the Board of the Ad

CounciL

Mr Arthur Minson

Mr Minson age 40 has served as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial and Administrative

Officer of AOL since August 2010 Mr Minson joined AOL in 2009 as its Executive Vice President Chief

Financial Officer and Treasurer Prior to that Mr Minson served as Executive Vice President and

Deputy Chief Financial Officer at Time Warner Cable Inc Prior to joining Time Warner CabLe in February

2006 Mr Minson was Senior Vice President Corporate Finance and Development at AOL from

December 2004 to February 2006 Prior to that Mr Minson was Senior Vice President Finance for

AOLs Broadband and Premium Services division from April 2004 to December 2004 Mr Minson has

also held senior finance positions at Rainbow Media HoLdings Inc and Time Warner Mr Minson began

his career in the audit practice of Ernst and Young LLP

Ms Julie Jacobs

Ms Jacobs age 44 has served as Executive Vice President and General Counsel and Corporate

Secretary of AOL since May 2010 Prior to that Ms Jacobs served as Senior Vice President Deputy

General CounseL and Assistant Corporate Secretary roLe she heLd from March 2006 until May 2010

Ms Jacobs joined AOL in 2000 as Assistant GeneraL CounseL Prior to joining AOL Ms Jacobs was an

attorney at MiLbank Tweed HadLey McCLoy LLP where her practice focused on project finance

Mr ALexander Gounares

Mr Gounares age 38 has served as Executive Vice President and Chief Technology Officer of AOL

since May 2010 Prior to that Mr Gounares served as Corporate Vice President Advertising Research

and DeveLopment 2007-2009 and Corporate Vice President and Chief TechnoLogy Officer 2009-201

for Microsofts OnLine Services Division Mr Gounares also served for three years as Technology

Advisor to Microsoft Chairman and founder Bill Gates 2003-2006 as welt as Corporate Vice President

of Corporate Strategy in Microsofts Finance Department from 2006 to 2007 Mr Gounares joined

Microsoft in 1993 Before joining Microsoft he worked at Los ALamos NationaL Laboratory
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ITEM 1A RISK FACTORS

The risks and uncertainties described below are those which we consider material and of which

we are currently aware In addition this Annual Report contains forward-looking statements that

involve risks and uncertainties You should carefully read the section Cautionary Statement

Concerning Forward-Looking Statements

If any of the following events occur our business financial condition or results of operations

could be materially and adversely affected and the trading price of our common stock could

materially decline

Risks Relating to Our Business

Our strategic shift to an online advertising-supported business model involves significant risks

Following our strategic shift in 2006 from focusing primarily on generating subscription revenues

to focusing primarily on attracting and engaging Internet consumers and generating advertising

revenues we have become increasingly dependent on advertising revenues as our subscription

revenues continue to decline We have not been able to generate sufficient growth in our advertising

revenues to offset the loss of subscription revenues we have experienced in recent years In order for

us to increase advertising revenues in the future we believe it will be important to increase our overall

volume of advertising sold including sales of advertising through our higher-priced channels and to

maintain or increase pricing for advertising Our cash flows over the next several years will be adversely

affected by the continued decline of access subscribers Additionally advertising revenues are more

unpredictable and variable than our subscription revenues and are more likely to be adverseLy affected

during economic downturns as spending by advertisers tends to be cyclical in line with generaL

economic conditions Further because subscription revenues have relatively low direct costs the

expected decline in subscription revenues will likely result in declines in operating income and cash

flows for the foreseeable future even if we achieve significant growth in advertising revenues If we are

unable to successfully implement our strategic plan and grow the earnings generated by our online

advertising services we may not be able to support our business in the future

Accordingly we have recently implemented several restructuring plans to better align our

organizational structure and costs with our strategy We expect to continue to activeLy manage our

costs However if we do not fully realize or maintain the anticipated benefits of our restructuring plans

and cost reduction initiatives our business could be adversely affected

If we do not continue to develop and offer compelling content products and services our ability to

attract new consumers or maintain the engagement of our existing consumers could be adversely

affected

In order to attract consumers and generate increased engagement on AOL Properties we believe

we must offer compelling content products and services However acquiring developing and offering

new content products and services as well as new functionality features and enhanced performance

of our existing content products and services may require significant costs and time to develop In

addition consumer tastes are difficult to predict and subject to rapid change If we are unable to

provide content products and services that are sufficiently attractive and relevant to consumers

including subscribers to our subscription access service we may not be able to attract new

consumers or maintain or increase our existing consumers engagement Even if we successfulLy

develop and offer compelling content products and services we may not be able to attract new

consumers and maintain or increase our existing consumers engagement We may acquire businesses

in order to produce and offer new content products and services and the costs related to such

acquisitions may be more expensive than developing new content products and services internally
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In generaL subscribers to our subscription access service are among the most engaged

consumers on AOL Properties primarily related to search As our subscriber base declines we need to

maintain the engagement of former subscribers and increase the number and engagement of other

consumers on AOL Properties in order to successfully execute our business model There can be no

assurance that we will be able to maintain the engagement of former subscribers or attract and engage

sufficient other consumers to sustain or increase historical engagement levels on AOL Properties If we
cannot do so our business could be adversely affected

Even if we are able to attract new consumers to and generate increased engagement on AOL

Properties we may not be able to maintain or increase our advertising revenues associated with AOL

Properties

Different AOL Properties generate varying volumes of advertising that are sold at range of prices

To the extent our consumers are active on AOL Properties where we do not deliver high volume of

advertisements or high-priced advertisements we are limited in our ability to generate advertising

revenues from such activity Accordingly if we are not able to attract and engage consumers to those

AOL Properties that typically generate higher-priced and higher-volume advertising our advertising

revenues may not ncrease even if the aggregate number of consumers on AOL Properties increases

and their aggregate engagement increases

If we are unabLe to develop our products and services to address the patterns of how consumers

access information and communicate on the Internet through media such as sociaL networking our

business couLd be adversely impacted

As the Internet continues to grow and evolve consumers are also changing the way they access

and use the Internet Consumers are increasingly using social networking sites to communicate and to

acquire and disseminate information rather than through traditionaL means of instant messaging
electronic mail and portals As consumers migrate towards social networks we seek to build sociaL

elements into our content products and services in order to make them available on social networks

and to attract and engage consumers on our properties There is no guarantee that we will be able to

successfully integrate our content with such social networking trends In addition companies are

increasing marketing and advertising on social networks and if we are unabLe to penetrate this market

it could adverseLy affect our business

Any restructuring actions that we undertake may not deliver the expected results and these actions

may adversely affect our business operations

We may undertake various restructuring activities in an effort to better align our organizational

structure and costs with our strategy These restructuring activities may not deliver the expected

results as there is no guarantee that we will recognize the benefits of these restructuring activities In

connection with such activities we may experience disruption in our ability to perform functions

critical to our strategy While we strive to reduce the negative impact of such restructuring actions

such actions could result in significant disruptions to our operations including adversely affecting the

timeliness of product releases the successful implementation and completion of our strategic

objectives and the results of our operations

We face intense competition in all aspects of our business

The Internet industry with its low barriers to entry and rapidly shifting consumer tastes is dynamic

and rapidly evolving New and popular competitors such as social networking sites online advertising

businesses and providers of communication tools quickly emerge Competition among companies

offering content advertising products technoLogy and services demand-side pLatforms and
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aggregators of third-party products and services is intense Competitors are providing more free

products and services for example data storage that may require substantial expenditures by us in

order to offer comparable products and services Internationally we face intense competition from both

global and Local competitors In addition competition may generally cause us to incur unanticipated

costs associated with research and product development

The competition faced by our subscription access service especially from broadband Internet

access providers could cause the number of our subscribers to decline at faster rate than

experienced in the past Dial-up Internet access services do not compete favorably with broadband

access services with respect to connection speed and do not have significant if any price advantage

over certain broadband services Many broadband providers including cable companies bundle their

offerings with telephone entertainment or other services which may result in lower prices than stand

alone services Based on customer survey information the majority of our canceling access

subscribers either already had broadband Internet connections or are leaving for broadband Internet

connections There can be no assurance that we will be abLe to compete successfully in the future with

existing or potential competitors or that competition will not adversely affect our business

Weak economic conditions could adversely affect our revenues

Advertising businesses may be adversely affected by weak economic conditions Because we derive

substantial portion of our revenues from the sale of advertising declines and delays in advertising

spending that result from weak economic conditions have impacted our advertising revenues in the

past and could adversely affect our advertising revenues in the future

AdditionaLLy declines in consumer spending due to weak economic conditions may cause

advertisers to reduce their spending if consumers are purchasing fewer of their products or services

ultimately resulting in downward pricing pressure on our advertising inventory As result declines in

consumer spending could indirectly adversely affect our advertising revenues

While we do not believe that our subscription access service was adversely affected by past weak

economic conditions there is risk that subscribers may elect to cancel their subscriptions as result

of weaker economic climate in the future Should this occur we may experience an accelerated

decline in our subscription revenues

Demand and pricing for and volume sold of online advertising may face downward pressure which

could adversely affect our advertising revenues

In order for us to maintain or increase advertising revenues in the future we believe it will be

important to increase our overall volume of advertising sold including sales of advertising through our

higher-priced channels and to maintain or increase pricing for advertising If overall demand or pricing

declines occur our advertising revenues could be adversely affected

We are dependent on third-party search provider

We do not own or control general text-based web search service Instead GoogLe is except in

certain Limited circumstances the exclusive web search provider for AOL Properties For the year

ended December31 2010 search and contextual advertising revenues comprised approximately 33% of

our total advertising revenues Changes that Google has made and may unilaterally make in the future

to its search service or advertising network including changes in pricing algorithms or advertising

relationships could adversely affect our advertising revenues Furthermore except in certain limited

circumstances we have agreed to use Googles algorithmic search and sponsored links on an exclusive

basis in the United States through December 31 2015
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Because we do not own or control such search service we are not able to package and sell

search advertising along with display advertising services outside of AOL Properties As search

advertising represents significant portion of online advertising spending we believe that our lack of

proprietary search service could adversely affect our ability to maintain and increase advertising

revenues

We may need to raise additional capital and we cannot be sure that additional financing wilt be

availabLe

While subsequent to our separation from Time Warner we have funded our ongoing working

capital capital expenditure and financing requirements through cash flows from operations and asset

dispositions we may require additional financing in the future Our ability to obtain future financing wilL

depend on among other things our financial condition and results of operations as well as the

condition of the capital markets or other credit markets at the time we seek financing We currently do

not have any ratings from the credit rating agencies so our access to capital markets may be limited

We may not be able to obtain future financing on terms acceptable to us in timely manner or at all

Our ability to fund our working capital capital expenditure and financing requirements in the future

may be adversely affected if we are unable to obtain financing on acceptable terms We terminated our

364-day $250.0 million senior secured revolving credit facility the Revolving Credit Facility during

2010 and our ability to access short-term borrowings from commercial banks could be at risk without

our Revolving Credit Facility If we are unable to enter into the necessary financing arrangements or

sufficient funds are not available on acceptable terms when required we may not have sufficient

liquidity and our business may be adversely affected

If we cannot make our content products and services available and attractive to consumers via

devices other than personal computers our ability to attract consumers and maintain or increase

their engagement could be adversely affected

Global consumers are increasingly accessing and
using the Internet through devices other than

personal computers such as smartphones and tablet computers In order for consumers to access and

use our content products and services via these devices we must ensure that our content products

and services are compatible with such devices We may also need to secure arrangements with device

manufacturers and wireless carriers in order to have placement on these devices Even if we can

secure placement of our products and services on the devices our ability to generate revenues depends

upon our ability to negotiate favorable payment terms If and as consumer pricing with the carriers

changes or otherwise AOLs ability to negotiate favorable payment terms and its ability to earn

revenues may be adversely impacted We must also ensure that our licensing arrangements with third-

party content providers allow us to make this content available on these devices These factors are also

important with respect to AOLs ability to sell applications to consumers via alternative devices and

thus to generate revenues other than subscription or advertising revenues

Currently we offer applications directly to consumers for download from AOL Properties the Apple

Apps Store or through other distribution channels We also offer certain applications and access to its

content products and services by means of agreements with wireless carriers and device

manufacturers To the extent that consumers are using our applications content products and

services we have opportunities to generate advertising revenues However the amount of revenues

including advertising revenues earned from such arrangements is currently small Also business

models in the marketplace seem to be undergoing experimentation and rapid change To the extent

that we cannot generate consumer awareness and adoption of our applications content products and

services available on mobile devices and cannot develop means of generating advertising revenues

from consumer usage our business couLd be adversely impacted
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We rely on legacy technology infrastructure and failure to update or replace this technology

infrastructure could adversely affect our business

Significant portions of our content products and services are dependent on technoLogy

infrastructure that was developed number of years ago In addition we incur significant costs

operating our business with muLtipLe and often contradictory technoLogy platforms and infrastructure

Updating and replacing our technology infrastructure may be chaLLenging to implement and manage

may take time to test and deploy may cause us to incur substantiaL costs and may cause us to suffer

data loss or deLays or interruptions in service These delays or interruptions in service may cause our

consumers advertisers and pubLishers to become dissatisfied with our offerings and could adverseLy

affect our business

Our dependence on legacy technology infrastructure may also put us in weaker position relative

to number of our key web services competitors Competitors with newer technoLogy infrastructure

may have greater fLexibiLity and be in position to respond more quickLy than us to new opportunities

which could impact our competitive position in certain markets and adversely affect our business

In addition many of our employees with the necessary skilLs to maintain and repair our legacy

technoLogy infrastructure have either been reassigned within AOL or are no Longer with AOL and this

may adversely impact our ability to effectiveLy manage our Legacy infrastructure

If we are unable to hire engage and retain key management and other personnel our business could

be adversely affected

Our future success depends in large part upon the continued service of key members of our

management team In particuLar Tim Armstrong our CEO is critical to AOLs overall management as

weLl as the development of AOLs strategic direction and cuLture We do not maintain any key-person

Life insurance policies

We are aLso dependent on our ability to hire engage and retain taLented highly-skilled employees

incLuding empLoyees with specific areas of expertise such as content creation Accomplishing this may

be difficult due to many factors including fLuctuations in globaL economic and industry conditions

frequent changes in our management and leadership and the attractiveness of our compensation

programs reLative to those of our competitors If we do not succeed in retaining and engaging our key

empLoyees and in attracting new key personnel including personneL with specific areas of expertise we

may be unable to meet our strategic objectives and as result our business couLd be adverseLy

affected

failure to scale and adapt our existing technology architecture to manage the expansion of our

offerings could adversely affect our business

We expect to continue to expand our offerings to consumers advertisers and pubLishers whether

through internaL growth or through acquiring other companies or assets Expanding the amount and

type of our offerings or integrating third-party technologies will require substantiaL expenditures to

scale or adapt our technoLogy infrastructure The technology architectures utilized for our consumer

offerings and advertising services are highLy compLex and may not provide satisfactory support as usage

increases and products and services expand change and become more compLex in the future We may

make additionaL changes to our architectures and systems to deliver our consumer offerings and

services to advertisers and publishers including moving to completely new technoLogy architectures

and systems Such changes may be chalLenging to implement and manage may take time to test and

depLoy may cause us to incur substantiaL costs and may cause us to suffer data loss or delays or

interruptions in service These delays or interruptions in service may cause consumers advertisers and

pubLishers to become dissatisfied with our offerings and couLd adversely affect our business
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Certain parts of our business and operations are experiencing rapid expansion If we fail to effectively

manage our expansion our business and operating results could be harmed

We have undertaken rapid expansion in certain parts of our business in 2010 in particuLar Patch

growing from approximateLy 30 sites in January 2010 to 790 sites as of February 18 2011 We aLso hired

approximately 1200 Patch employees as of December 31 2010 Such expansion has pLaced and wilL

continue to pLace significant demands on our management operationaL and financial infrastructure If

we do not continue to effectively manage our expansion the quality of our products and services could

suffer which could negativeLy affect our brand and operating results To effectively manage this

expansion we will need to continue to improve our operational financial and management controLs

incLuding our reporting systems and compliance procedures These systems enhancements and

improvements may require significant capital expenditures and management resources Failure to

impLement these improvements couLd hurt our ability to manage our expansion and our financiaL

position

One of the factors in the demand for our products and services is the success of our marketing

campaigns and there can be no assurance that our promotional and other marketing campaigns will

be successful or wilt generate interest in our products and services

We spend money on sponsorships promotionaL events and other marketing campaigns in order to

inform consumers about the products and services we offer In addition core goaL of our marketing

efforts is to maintain and enhance the image of our brand and consumer perception of it If we are

unable to effectively use our resources to market and affect the evolution to more sought after and

desired brand consumer awareness of and interest in our products and services may decLine and our

ability to grow our services and products couLd be negatively impacted

If we cannot effectively distribute our content products and services our ability to attract new

consumers could be adversely affected

As the behavior of Internet consumers continues to change distribution of our content products

and services via traditional methods e.g toolbars may become less effective and new distribution

strategies may need to be deveLoped Even if we are abLe to distribute our content products and

services effectively this does not assure that we wiLL be abLe to attract new consumers

Currently an important distribution channeL for AOL Properties is through our subscription access

service However our access service subscriber base has declined and is expected to continue to

decline This continued dechne is LikeLy to reduce the effectiveness of our subscription access service

as distribution channeL If we are unabLe to grow organicaLLy by attracting new consumers directly to

our content products and services we may need to rely on distribution channels that require us to
pay

significant fees to third parties Furthermore these fees have been increasing as Internet companies

compete for limited number of premium distribution channels Any increased reLiance on these third-

party distribution channels could adversely affect our business

If we cannot continue to develop and offer effective advertising products and services our advertising

revenues could be adversely affected

Growth in our advertising revenues depends on our ability to continue offering effective products

and services for advertisers and pubLishers Continuing to develop and improve these products and

services may require significant time and costs If we cannot continue to develop and improve our

advertising products and services our advertising revenues couLd be adverseLy affected Furthermore

if we cannot enhance our existing advertising offerings or deveLop new advertising offerings or

technoLogies to keep pace with market trends incLuding new technoLogies that more effectiveLy or

efficientLy plan price or target advertising our advertising revenues could be adversely affected
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Our access service subscriber base could decline faster than we currently anticipate

Our access service subscriber base has declined and is expected to continue to decline This

decline is the result of several factors including the increased availability of high-speed Internet

broadband connections the fact that significant amount of online content products and services has

been optimized for use with broadband Internet connections and the effects of our strategic shift

announced in 2006 which resulted in us essentiaLly eliminating our marketing efforts for our

subscription access service and the free availability of the vast majority of our content products and

services Also substantial number of the subscribers to our subscription access service do not use

the service to access the Internet on regular basis and may terminate their subscription at any time

In addition we must maintain the current payment method information of our subscribers and if we fail

to do so we may lose paid relationships with some of our access subscribers If any of these factors

result in our access subscriber base declining faster than we currently anticipate our subscription

revenues and business could be adversely affected

disruption or failure of our networks and information systems the Internet or other technology may

disrupt our business

Our business is heavily dependent on the availability of network and information systems the

Internet and other technologies Shutdowns or service disruptions caused by events such as criminal

activity sabotage or espionage computer viruses or hacking router disruption automated attacks such

as denial of service attacks power outages natural disasters accidents terrorism equipment failure

or other events within or outside our control could adversely affect us and our consumers including

loss or compromise of data service disruption damage to equipment and data and excessive call

volume to call centers Furthermore such attacks are not always able to be immediateLy detected

which means that we may not be in position to promptly address the attacks or to implement

adequate preventative measures Such events could result in Large expenditures necessary to recover

data or repair or replace such networks or information systems or to protect them from similar events

in the future As not all of our systems are fully redundant some data or systems might not be

recoverable after such events Significant incidents could result in disruption of our business

consumer dissatisfaction damage to the AOL brand legal costs or liability and loss of consumers or

revenues

We are dependent on third-party providers of telecommunications services

Although we currently have agreements with several different third-party telecommunications

service providers there are only limited number of such providers that are capable of providing our

network services To the extent that we cannot renew or extend our contracts with these providers on

similar terms or to the extent that we cannot acquire similar network capacity from other providers on

similar terms the cost of obtaining network services may increase and our financial results could be

adversely affected In addition because of the limited number of telecommunications services

providers in the event that provider decides to exit the business of providing telecommunications

services our ability to maintain the geographic scope of these network services could be adversely

affected In such an event certain consumers in the affected geographic areas would be unable to

continue to use our subscription access service and our business could be adversely affected

If we cannot continue to enforce and protect our intellectual property rights our business could be

adversely affected

We rely on patent copyright trademark domain name and trade secret laws in the United States

and similar laws in other countries as well as licenses and other agreements with our employees

consumers suppliers and other parties to establish and maintain our intellectual property rights in the
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technology content products and services used in our operations These laws and agreements may not

guarantee that our intellectual property rights will be protected and our intellectual property rights

could be challenged or invalidated In addition such intellectual property rights may not be sufficient to

permit us to take advantage of current industry trends or otherwise to provide competitive advantages

which could result in costly redesign efforts discontinuance of offerings decreased traffic and

associated revenue or otherwise adversely affect our business As we acquire and publish more original

content our intellectual property may be increasingly subject to misappropriation by others and the

costs to protect and enforce our intellectual property rights may increase

We have been and may in the future be subject to claims of intelLectual property infringement or tort

law violations that couLd adversely affect our business

Periodically third parties claim that we infringe their inteLlectual property rights We expect to

continue to be subject to claims and legal proceedings regarding alleged infringement by us of the

intellectuaL property rights of others These cLaims whether meritorious or not are time-consuming

and costly to resolve and may require expensive changes in our methods of doing business and/or our

content products and services These inteLlectual property infringement claims may require us to enter

into royalty or Licensing agreements on unfavorable terms or to incur substantial monetary liability

Additionally these claims may result in our being enjoined preliminarily or permanently from further

use of certain intellectual property and/or our content products and services or may require us to

cease or significantly alter certain of our operations The occurrence of any of these events as result

of these claims could result in substantially increased costs could limit or reduce the number of our

offerings to consumers advertisers and publishers or otherwise adversely affect our business

Some of our commercial agreements may require us to indemnify parties against intellectual

property infringement claims which may require us to use substantial resources to defend against or

settle such claims or potentially to pay damages Additionally we may be exposed to Liability or

substantially increased costs if commercial partner does not honor its contractual obligation to

indemnify us for intellectual property infringement claims made by third parties The occurrence of any

of these events could adversely affect our business

As publisher of original content we also face risks of periodic tort claims such as libel

defamation or improper use of publicity rights in the course of our journalism and news reporting

endeavors as well as infringement claims such as plagiarism These claims whether or not they have

merit may be time consuming or costly to resolve

The misappropriation release loss or misuse of AOL data or consumer or other data could adversely

affect our business

Our business utilizes significant amounts of data about our business consumers and our

advertising and publishing partners
in order to deliver our content products and services and our

advertising solutions The misappropriation release loss or misuse of this data whether by accident

omission or as the result of criminal activity sabotage or espionage computer hacking or viruses

natural disasters terrorism equipment failure or other events could lead to negative publicity harm to

our reputation customer dissatisfaction regulatory enforcement actions or individual or class-action

lawsuits or significant expenditures to recover the data or protect data from similar releases in the

future and may otherwise adversely affect our business Furthermore as not all of our systems are

fully redundant some data or systems might not be recoverable in catastrophic event or other

significant service disruption
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Changes to federal state or international laws or regulations applicable to our business could

adversely affect our business

Our business is subject to variety of federaL state and international laws and reguLations

incLuding those with respect to privacy advertising generaLLy consumer protection content reguLation

intellectuaL property defamation child protection advertising to and coLlecting information from

chiLdren taxation empLoyment classification and biLLing These laws and reguLations and the

interpretation or appLication of these Laws and reguLations could change In addition new laws or

reguLations affecting our business couLd be enacted These laws and regulations are frequentLy costly

to compLy with and may divert significant portion of managements attention If we fail to comply with

these applicable Laws or reguLations we couLd be subject to significant liabilities which could adverseLy

affect our business

There are many federaL state and internationaL Laws that may affect our business incLuding

measures to reguLate consumer privacy the use of copyrighted material the collection of certain data

network neutraLity patent Litigation cyber security child protection subpoena and warrant processes

employee cLassification and others

In addition most states have enacted legislation governing the breach of data security in which

sensitive consumer information is released or accessed If we fail to comply with these applicable laws

or regulations we could be subject to significant liabilities which could adversely affect our business

Many of our advertising partners are subject to industry specific laws and reguLations or Licensing

requirements including advertisers in the following industries pharmaceuticals online gaming
aLcohoL adult content tobacco firearms insurance securities brokerage reaL estate sweepstakes

free trial offers automatic renewaL services and legaL services If any of our advertising partners faiL to

compLy with any of these Licensing requirements or other applicabLe laws or regulations or if such Laws

and reguLations or Licensing requirements become more stringent or are otherwise expanded our

business couLd be adversely affected Furthermore these laws may also limit the way we advertise our

products and services or cause us to incur compliance costs which could affect our revenues and

could further adversely impact our business

FaiLure to comply with federaL state or international privacy Laws or regulations or the expansion of

current or the enactment of new privacy Laws or regulations could adverseLy affect our business

variety of federal state and internationaL laws and regulations govern the coLlection use
retention sharing and security of consumer data In addition to the potentiaLly differing interpretations

of existing Law the present Landscape of pubLic policy and privacy creates uncertainty for business

planning In such an uncertain environment it is difficuLt to make informed Long-term business

planning decisions about data use notice storage access retention or choice The existing privacy

reLated laws and regulations are evolving and subject to potentialLy differing interpretations In addition

various federal state and foreign LegisLative and regulatory bodies may expand current or enact new
laws regarding privacy matters We have posted privacy poLicies and practices concerning the

coLLection use and disclosure of user data on our websites Any faiLure or perceived failure by us to

compLy with our posted privacy poLicies or with any data-reLated consent orders Federal Trade

Commission requirements or orders or other federal state or international privacy or consumer

protection-reLated Laws reguLations or industry seLf-regulatory principLes couLd resuLt in claims

proceedings or actions against us by governmental entities or others or other liabilities which couLd

adverseLy affect our business In addition failure or perceived faiLure to comply with industry

standards or with our own privacy poLicies and procedures couLd result in Loss of consumers or

advertisers and adverseLy affect our business
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Federal state and international governmental authorities continue to evaluate the privacy

implications inherent in the use of third-party web cookies for behavioral advertising We use cookies

which are small text files placed in consumers browser to facilitate authentication preference

management research and measurement personalization and advertisement and content delivery In

the Third Party Network cookies or similar technologies help present target and measure the

effectiveness of advertisements The regulation of these cookies and other current online advertising

practices could adversely affect our business

AOL operates in an environment of high scrutiny and regulatory uncertainty The use of consumer

data by online service providers and advertising networks is topic of active interest among number

of regulatory bodies at the national and state levels and the regulatory environment is unsettled

The disposition of our lCD operations may be affected by the review of the transaction by the

Committee on Foreign Investment in the United States

After our disposition of our ICC operations 1ICQl in July 2010 the Committee on Foreign

Investment in the United States tCFIUS contacted Mail.ru Iformerly known as Digital Sky

Technologies Limited and subsequently Mail.ru and AOL submitted joint voluntary filing to CFIUS

commencing review of the transaction under Section 721 of Title VII of the Defense Production Act of

1950 as amended

AOL and Mail.ru are currently working with CFIUS to address their concerns However we can

provide no assurance regarding the resolution of the CFIUS process including that AOL and Mail.ru will

be able to mutually resolve CFIUS concerns If AOL and Mail.ru are unable to resolve CFIUS concerns

CFIUS may impose mitigation measures or refer the matter to the President who has authority to

impose broad range of remedies which may include among other things unwinding the transaction

or divesting ICC by Mail.ru We can provide no assurance that CFIUS will not impose conditions on our

disposition of ICC that materially increase our estimated costs or that materially increase or extend our

anticipated involvement in the operations of ICC or that the transaction will not be unwound or

materially restructured in excess of our expectations For additional information regarding the

disposition of our ICC operations see Note in our accompanying consolidated financial statements

Changes to products technology and services made by third parties and consumers could adversely

affect our business

We are dependent on many products technologies and services provided by third parties including

browsers data and search indexes in order for consumers to use our content products and services

as well as to deliver measure render and report advertising Any changes made by these third parties

or consumers to functionality features or settings of these products technologies and services could

adversely affect our business For example third parties may develop and consumers may install

software that is used to block advertisements or delete cookies or consumers may elect to manually

delete cookies more frequently Likewise search services providers may adjust
their algorithms and

indexes which may hinder the ability of consumers to reach and use our content products and

services This risk is increased because there are small number of search services providers and any

change made by one or more of these providers
could significantly affect our business The widespread

adoption of these products and technologies or changes to current products technologies and services

could adversely affect our business

Acquisitions of other businesses could adversely affect our operations and resuLt in unanticipated

liabilities

Since January 2010 we have acquired seven businesses are in the process of acquiring another

and we are likely to make additional acquisitions and strategic investments in the future On February
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2011 the Company entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger with The Huffington Post which is

expected to close in the Late first or early second
quarter of 2011 The completion of acquisitions such

as The Huffington Post and strategic investments as well as the integration of acquired companies or

assets involve substantial commitment of resources and we may fail to realize the anticipated

benefits of such transactions and incur unanticipated liabilities that could harm our business In

addition past or future transactions may be accompanied by number of risks including

the uncertainty of our returns on investment due to the new and developing industries in which

some of the acquired companies operate

the adverse effect of known potential liabilities or unknown liabilities such as claims of
patent

or other intellectual property infringement associated with the companies acquired or in

which we invest

the difficulty of
integrating technology administrative systems personnel and operations of

acquired companies into our services systems and operations and unanticipated expenses
related to such integration

the potential Loss or disengagement of key talent at acquired companies

the potential disruption of our ongoing business and distraction of our management

additional operating losses and expenses of the businesses we acquire or in which we invest

and the failure of such businesses to perform as expected

the failure to successfully further develop acquired technology resulting in the impairment of

amounts currently capitalized as intangible assets

the difficulty of reconciling potentially conflicting or overlapping contractual rights and duties

and

the potential impairment of relationships with consumers partners and employees as result

of the combination of acquired operations and new management personnel

We face risks relating to doing business internationally that could adversely affect our business and

we face risks from not doing more international business

Our business operates and serves consumers globally There are certain risks inherent in doing

business internationally including

economic volatility and the current global economic recession

currency exchange rate fluctuations

the requirements of local laws and customs relating to the publication and distribution of

content and the display and sale of
advertising

uncertain protection and enforcement of our intellectual property rights

import or export restrictions and changes in trade
regulations

difficulties in developing staffing and simultaneously managing large number of foreign

operations as result of distance as well as language and cultural differences
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issues related to occupational safety and adherence to locaL Labor Laws and regulations

potentially
adverse tax deveLopments

longer payment cycles

politicaL or sociaL unrest

seasonaL volatiLity in business activity

risks related to government regulation

the existence in some countries of statutory stockhoLder minority rights and restrictions on

foreign direct ownership

the presence of corruption in certain countries and

higher than anticipated costs of entry

One or more of these factors couLd adversely affect our business

We have expanded our internationaL operations through the acquisition of goviraL A/S company

that distributes branded onLine video for media agencies creative agencies and content producers

International expansion involves significant investment as weLl as risks associated with doing business

abroad as described above Furthermore investments in some regions can take long period to

generate an adequate return and in some cases there may not be developed or efficient legal system

to protect foreign investment or intellectual property rights In addition as we expand into new

international regions we may have limited experience in operating and marketing our products and

services in such regions and could be at disadvantage compared to competitors with more

experience

As part of our recent restructuring activities we have ceased or reduced operations in number of

countries We could be at competitive disadvantage in the Long term if we are not able to capitalize on

international opportunities especially as compared to our competitors who maintain continuous

expansive global presence

We could be subject to additional tax Liabilities which could adversely affect our business

International federal state and local tax Laws and regulations affecting our business or

interpretations or application of these tax Laws and regulations could change In addition new

international federal state and local tax laws and regulations affecting our business could be enacted

or taxing authorities may disagree with our interpretation of tax Laws and regulations Our subscription

access service is protected from taxation through the Federal Internet Tax Non-Discrimination Act

which is in effect until November 2014 However faced with decreasing revenues several states have

sought to increase revenue by taxing advertising generally and Internet advertising specificalLy by

changing the definition of tangible personal property to include digital products such as parental

controls and digital storage or by increasing general business taxes Imposing new taxes on

advertising or Internet advertising would adversely affect us tax on digital products in particular

state would require us to either pay the sales tax on all non-access paid services sold in that state or

implement system to collect the tax from our customers and remit it to that state An increase in

general business taxes would adversely affect us if it occurred in jurisdiction in which we operate

Other states have sought to expand the definition of nexus for the purpose of taxing goods and

services sold over the Internet If enacted these new taxes would adversely affect our consumers and

as result could adversely affect our business
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We could be required to record significant impairment charges in the future

We are required under generally accepted accounting principles to test goodwill for impairment at

annually and to review our identifiable intangible assets when events or changes in

circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverabLe Factors that could lead to

impairment of goodwill and identifiable intangible assets include significant adverse changes in the

business climate and declines in the value of our business We recorded significant goodwill

impairment charge in 2010 and we may be required to record additionaL impairment charges which
would reduce our net income in the future Our estimated fair value is primarily based on our market

capitalization and volatility in our stock
price

could have significant impact on the estimated fair value

of our sole reporting unit As of December31 2010 our goodwilL totaled $81 0.9 million

Our historicaL financiaL information is not necessarily representative of the results we would have

achieved as an independent publicly-traded company and may not be reliable indicator of our

future resuLts

The historical financial information we have included in this Annual Report may not reflect what

our results of operations financial position and cash flows would have been had we been an

independent publicly-traded company during the periods presented before 2010 or what our results of

operations financial position and cash flows will be in the future as an independent company This is

primarily because

we have entered into transactions with Time Warner that either have not existed historically or

that are on different terms than the terms of arrangements or agreements that existed prior

to the spin-off

our historical financial information reflects allocations for certain services historicalLy

provided to us by Time Warner that may not reflect the costs we have incurred or will incur for

similar services in the future as an independent company and

our historical financial information does not reflect changes that we have experienced or may
experience in the future as result of our separation from Time Warner including changes in

the cost structure personneL needs financing and operations of our business

We are responsible for the additional costs associated with being an independent publicly-traded

company including costs related to corporate governance and public reporting Therefore our financial

statements for the years before 2010 may not be ndicative of our future performance as an

independent company For additional information about our past financial performance and the basis of

presentation of our financiaL statements see Item 6Selected Financial Data Item

Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and our

accompanying consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto included eLsewhere in this

Annual Report

We may have been able to receive better terms from unaffiliated third parties than the terms we
received in our agreements with Time Warner

The agreements related to our separation from Time Warner were negotiated in the context of our

separation from Time Warner while we were still part of Time Warner Accordingly these agreements

may not reflect terms that would have resulted from arms-length negotiations among unaffiLiated third

parties The terms of the agreements entered into in the context of our separation are related to among
other things allocations of assets liabilities rights indemnifications and other obligations among Time

Warner and us We may have received better terms from third parties because third parties may have

competed with each other to win our business See Note 13 in our accompanying consolidated

financial statements for further information on the ongoing relationship with Time Warner
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Risks Relating to our Common Stock and the Securities Market

Our stock price may fluctuate significantly

Our stock price may fluctuate significantly depending on many factors some of which may be

beyond our control including

actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operating results due to factors related to our business

success or failure of our business strategy

our quarterly or annual earnings or those of other companies in our industry

our ability to obtain financing as needed

announcements by us or our competitors of significant acquisitions or dispositions

changes in accounting standards policies guidance interpretations or principles

changes in earnings estimates by securities analysts or our ability to meet those estimates

the operating and stock price performance of other comparable companies

overall market fluctuations

changes in laws and regulations affecting our business and

general economic conditions and other external factors

Stock markets in general have experienced volatility that has often been unrelated to the operating

performance of particular company This has been particularly true in recent years for Internet

services companies These broad market fluctuations could adversely affect the trading price of our

common stock

Provisions in our amended and restated Certificate of Incorporation and By-laws and of Delaware law

may prevent or delay an acquisition of our Company which could decrease the trading price of our

common stock

Our amended and restated Certificate of Incorporation and By-laws and Delaware law contain

provisions that are intended to deter coercive takeover practices and inadequate takeover bids by

making such practices or bids unacceptably expensive to the raider and to encourage prospective

acquirors to negotiate with our Board of Directors the Board rather than to attempt hostile

takeover These provisions include rules regarding how shareholders may present proposals or

nominate directors for election at shareholder meetings and the right of our Board to issue preferred

stock without shareholder approval

Delaware law also imposes some restrictions on mergers and other business combinations

between any holder of l5% or more of our outstanding common stock and us

We believe these provisions protect our shareholders from coercive or otherwise unfair takeover

tactics by requiring potential acquirors to negotiate with our Board and by providing our Board with

more time to assess any acquisition proposal These provisons are not intended to make our company
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immune from takeovers However these provisions apply even if the offer may be considered beneficial

by some shareholders and could delay or prevent an acquisition that our Board determines is not in the

best interests of our Company and our shareholders

ITEM lB UNRESOLVEDSTAFFCOMMENTS

None

ITEM PROPERTIES

Our headquarters located in New York City is leased property consisting of approximately

230 thousand square feet We own corporate campus in Dulles Virginia comprising office buildings

data center and support facilities of approximately 840 thousand square feet and undeveloped land

adjacent to the corporate campus of approximately 68 acres We lease or own office space and data

centers located in California and Virginia totaling approximately 715 thousand square feet We also

lease property consisting of approximately 260 thousand square feet in Bangalore India for technology

development operations and administrative support and network operations center In addition to

these properties we lease approximately 60 facilities for use as corporate offices sales offices

development centers data centers and other operations in other locations in California Colorado the

District of CoLumbia Florida Georgia Illinois Maryland Massachusetts Michigan New York Ohio

Pennsylvania Tennessee and Virginia and in the countries of Canada China Denmark France

Germany India Ireland Israel Japan Sweden and the United Kingdom We sublease to third parties

approximately 393 thousand square feet of the properties discussed above

We believe that our facilities are sufficient to meet our current and projected needs We also have

an ongoing process to review and update our real estate portfolio to meet changing business needs

ITEM LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

On September 22 2006 Salvadore Ramkissoon and two unnamed plaintiffs filed putative class

action against AOL LLC in the U.S District Court for the Northern District of California asserting claims

under the Electronic Communications Privacy Act the California Consumer Records Act the California

Consumer Legal Remedies Act the California False Advertising Law and the California Unfair

Competition Law as well as common law claims for unjust enrichment and public disclosure of private

facts The claims arise out of AOLs public posting of AOL member search queries in late July 2006

The Court has dismissed without prejudice the named Plaintiff Salvadore Ramkisoon and all but

the CaLifornia False Advertising Law and California Unfair Competition Law claims under which the

unnamed plaintiffs seek only declaratory and injunctive reLief regarding AOLs search query retention

practices No claims for monetary relief remain in the case On February 11 2011 the parties filed

briefs in response to the Courts order to address the issue of whether the Court lacks jurisdiction over

the subject matter of the remaining claims

In addition to the matter listed above we are party to variety of legal proceedings that arise in

the normal course of our business While the results of such normal course legal proceedings cannot

be predicted with certainty management believes that based on current knowledge the final outcome
of the current pending matters will not have material adverse effect on our business financial

position resuLts of
operations or cash flows Regardless of the outcome legal proceedings can have an

adverse effect on the Company because of defense costs diversion of management resources and

other factors See Item lARisk FactorsRisks Relating to Our BusinessIf we cannot continue to

enforce and protect our intelLectual property rights our business could be adversely affected and

Item lARisk FactorsRisks Relating to Our BusinessWe have been and may in the future be

subject to claims of intellectual property infringement or tort law violations that could adversely affect

our business included elsewhere in this AnnuaL Report
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PART II

ITEM MARKET FOR REGISTRANTS COMMON EQUITY RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND

ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

AOL Inc.s common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol AOL The

following table presents the quarterly high and Low sates prices for the common stock on the New York

Stock Exchange since November 24 2009 the day that our common stock began when-issued trading

on the NYSE as reported on the NYSE

High Low

2009 Quarters Ended

December31 2009 since November 24 2009 $27.00 $22.01

2010 Quarters Ended

March 312010 $26.53 $23.23

June 30 2010 29.45 19.61

September 30 2010 25.56 1980

December 31 2010 27.65 23.48

As of February 18 2011 there were approximately 19400 holders of record of our common stock

Because many of our shares of common stock are held by.brokers and other institutions on behalf of

stockholders we are unable to estimate the total number of stockholders represented by these record

holders The closing price of the common stock on the New York Stock Exchange on February 18 2011

was $21.99

Sates of Unregistered Securities

None

Dividend Policy

We have not paid cash dividends We do not anticipate the payment of cash dividends on our

common stock in the immediate future
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Performance Graph

The foLLowing graph compares the relative performance of our common stock the 5P Midcap 400

index and the Morgan Stanley High-Technology index This graph covers the period from November 24
2009 the first day our common stock began when-issued trading on the NYSE through December31
2010

COMPARISON OF 13 MONTH CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN
Among AOL Inc the SP hlidcap 400 Index

and Morgan StanLey High-Technology Index
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11/24/09 12/31/09 3/31/10 6/30/10 9/30/10 12/31/10

AOL Inc SP Midcap 400 Morgan Stanley High-Technology

$100 invested on 11/24/09 in stock or index including reinvestment of dividends

FiscaL year ending December 31

Copyright 2011 SP division of The McGraw -HilL Companies Inc ALL rights reserved

11/24/09 12/31/09 3/31/10 6/30/10 9/30/10 12/31/10

AOL Inc 100.00 92.86 100.84 82.93 98.72 94.58

SP Midcap 400 100.00 105.03 114.58 103.60 117.19 133.01

Morgan Stanley High-TechnoLogy 100.00 103.44 106.75 92.07 102.92 114.43

The stock price performance incLuded in this graph is not necessariLy indicative of future stock

price performance

This performance graph shaLL not be deemed fiLed for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act

or incorporated by reference into any of our filings under the Securities Act of 1933 as amended or the

Exchange Act except as shall be expressLy set forth by specific reference in such filing
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ITEM SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following financial information for the five years ended December 31 2010 has been derived

from the Companys consolidated financial statements The selected consolidated financial data as of

December 31 2010 and 2009 and for the years ended December31 2010 2009 and 2008 is derived from

our audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report The selected

consoLidated financial data as of December31 2008 and 2007 and for the years ended December31

2007 and 2006 is derived from audited financial statements not included herein and the selected

historical consolidated financial data as of December 31 2006 is derived from our unaudited

consolidated financial statements that are not incLuded in this Annual Report The unaudited financial

statements have been prepared on the same basis as the audited financial statements and in the

opinion of our management include aLL adjustments consisting of only ordinary recurring adjustments

necessary for fair presentation of the information set forth in this Annual Report Certain

reclassifications have been made to previously reported financial data to reflect the financial condition

results of operations and cash flows of buy.at as discontinued operations The financial condition

results of operations and cash flows of ICQ are presented within continuing operations for all periods

presented See the discussion of discontinued operations in Note in our accompanying consolidated

financial statements

The selected historical financial data presented below should be read in conjunction with our

consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes thereto and Item 7Managements

Discussion and AnaLysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations included elsewhere in this

Annual Report Prior to December 2009 the effective date of the spin-off we were subsidiary of

Time Warner Our historical financiaL information included herein may not necessarily be indicative of

our future financial condition results of operations and cash flows In addition for the periods prior to

December 2009 the financial information included herein may not necessarily indicate our financial

position results of operations and cash flows in the future or what our financial position results of

operations and cash flows would have been had we been an independent publicLy-traded company

during the periods presented
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Years Ended December31

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

in millions except per share amounts recast recast recast recast

Statement of Operations Data

Revenues

Advertising 1284.1 1736.7 2083.3 2230.6 1886.1

Subscription 1023.6 1388.8 1929.3 2787.9 5783.6
Other 109.0 120.3 140.1 162.2 117.0

TotaL revenues 2416.7 3245.8 4152.7 5180.7 7786.7
Costs of revenues 1420.6 1893.2 2273.1 2652.6 4129.0

Operating income LossH 982.6 462.6 1163.5 1853.8 1167.8
Income loss from continuing operations 790.7 251.4 1520.6 1213.3 716.5

Net income toss attributabLe to AOL Inc Ib 782.5 248.8 1525.8 1396.1 749.7

Per share information attributable to AOL Inc common
stockholders Id

Basic and diluted income Loss per common share from

continuing operations 7.42 2.38 14.36 11.48 6.77

Discontinued operations 0.08 0.03 0.06 1.72 0.18

CumuLative effect of accounting change net of tax 0.14

Basic and diluted net income Loss per common
share 7.34 2.35 14.42 13.20 7.09

Shares used in computing basic and diLuted income

loss per share in miLlions 106.6 105.8 105.8 105.8 105.8

2010 includes $1414.4 miLlion non-cash impairment charge to reduce the carrying vaLue of goodwilL and $106.0 miLlion

gain on the sale of lCD 2009 incLudes $27.9 miLlion in amounts incurred related to securities
Litigation

and government

investigations 2008 includes $2207.0 miLLion non-cash impairment charge to reduce the carrying vaLue of goodwiLl and

$20.8 miLlion in amounts incurred reLated to securities
litigation

and government investigations 2007 incLudes net pre-tax

gain of $668.2 mithon on the sale of the German access service business and $171.4 miLlion in amounts incurred related to

securities Litigation and government investigations 2006 includes $767.4 milLion gain on the sales of the French and United

Kingdom access service businesses and $705.2 miLlion in amounts incurred related to securities Litigation and government

investigations

IncLudes net income loss of $8.2 milLion in 2010 $2.9 miLLion in 2009 $6.0 milLion in 2008 $182.1 miLlion in 2007 and

$18.9 miLlion in 2006 reLated to discontinued operations

Ic On November 2009 the Company converted from AOL Holdings LLC limited liability company whoLLy owned by Time

Warner to AOL Inc corporation whoLly owned by Time Warner On December 2009 the date of our spin-oft 105.8 miLlion

shares of $0.01 par vaLue AOL common stock were distributed to Time Warner sharehoLders of record as of p.m on

November 27 2009 For periods prior to 2009 the same number of shares is being used for basic and diLuted income Loss

per common share as no common stock of the Company existed prior to November 2009 and no diLutive securities of the

Company were outstanding for any prior period

For the year ended December31 2009 in determining the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for

basic income Loss per common share the Company used 105.8 miLlion shares for the period from January 2009 through

December 2009 and the actuaL number of shares outstanding for the period from December 10 2009 through

December31 2009 DiLuted income Loss per common share subsequent to the distribution date of December 2009

reflects the potentiaL dilution of outstanding equity-based compensation awards by appLication of the treasury stock method

As of December 31

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

unaudited
in millions recast recast recast and recast
Balance Sheet Data

Cash and equivaLents 801.8 146.1 134.8 151.9 401.5

TotaL assets 2962.3 3963.1 4861.3 6863.1 6786.4

Long-term notes payabLe and obLigations

under capitaL Leases 50.9 41.5 33.7 24.7 105.1

TotaL equity 2286.9 3062.9 3737.7 5269.5 4505.8
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AOL INC

PART IlITEM MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

You should read the following discussion of our results of operations and financial condition

together with our audited consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto included

elsewhere in this Annual Report as well as the discussion in the Item 1Business section This

discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties The forward

Looking statements are not historical facts but rather are based on current expectations estimates

assumptions and projections about our industry business and future financial results Our actual

results could differ materially from the results contemplated by these forward-looking statements

due to number of factors including those discussed in Item lARisk Factors and Cautionary

Statement Concerning Forward-Looking Statements

Introduction

Managements discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations MDA is

supplement to the accompanying consolidated financial statements and provides additional

information on our business recent developments results of operations Liquidity and capital resources

and critical accounting policies MDA is organized as follows

Overview This section provides general description of our business and outlook into 2011

as well as recent developments we believe are important in understanding our results of

operations and financial condition or in understanding anticipated future trends

Results of operations This section provides an analysis of our results of operations
for the

three years in the period ended December31 2010

Liquidity and capital resources This section provides discussion of our current financial

condition and an analysis of our cash flows for the three years in the period ended

December 31 2010 This section also provides discussion of our principal debt obligations

contractual obligations and commitments off-balance sheet arrangements indemnification

obligations and customer credit risk that existed at December 31 2010 This section also

includes discussion of the amount of financial capacity available to fund our future

commitments and ongoing operating activities

Critical accounting policies This section identifies and summarizes those accounting policies

that are considered important to our results of operations and financial condition and require

significant judgment and estimates on the part of management

Overview

The Spin-Off

On December 2009 we completed our legal and structural separation from Time Warner Inc

Time Warner via spin-off the spin-off Prior to the spin-off we were subsidiary of Time Warner

The financial information prior to the spin-off may not necessarily reflect our financial position results of

operations and cash flows in the future or what our financial position results of operations and cash flows

would have been had we been an independent publicly-traded company during all of the periods

presented We are incurring additional costs to be able to function as an independent publicly-traded

company including incremental costs related to corporate finance governance and public reporting

In connection with the spin-off we entered into transactions with Time Warner that either have not

existed historically or that are on terms different from the terms of arrangements or agreements that
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existed prior to the spin-off See Note 13 in our accompanying consolidated financial statements for

more detail Our historical financial information does not reflect changes that we have experienced

since the spin-off or expect to experience in the future as result of our separation from Time Warner

including changes in the financing operations cost structure and personnel needs of our business

Further the financial statements for the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 include allocations

of certain Time Warner corporate expenses We believe the assumptions and methodologies underlying

the allocation of general corporate expenses are reasonable However such expenses may not be

indicative of the actual level of expense that would have been incurred by us if we had operated as an

independent publicly-traded company or of the costs we have incurred since the spin-off or that are

expected to be incurred in the future These allocated expenses relate to various services that

historically were provided to us by Time Warner including cash management and other treasury

services administrative services such as government relations tax employee benefit administration

internal audit accounting and human resources equity-based compensation plan administration

aviation services insurance coverage and the licensing of certain third-party patents During the years

ended December 31 2009 and 2008 we incurred $20.9 million and $23.3 million respectively of

expenses related to charges for services performed by Time Warner

Our Business

We are leading global web services company with an extensive suite of brands and offerings and

substantial worldwide audience Our business spans online content products and services that we

offer to consumers publishers and advertisers We are focused on attracting and engaging consumers

and providing valuable online advertising services We market our offerings to advertisers on both AOL

Properties and the Third Party Network under the brand AOL Advertising Our AOL-brand access

subscription service which we offer consumers in the United States for monthly fee is valuable

distribution channel for AOL properties

During the first quarter of 2011 we expect that our advertising revenues on both AOL Properties

and the Third Party Network will continue to decline significantly as compared to the same period in

2010 driven by search and contextual and Third Party Network declines We believe that advertising

revenues generated on AOL Properties wiLl be negatively impacted by the decline in our domestic

AOL-brand access subscribers particularly as it relates to search and contextual revenues and the

decline in international operations due to ceasing or reducing operations in number of countries

Visibility into advertising revenue is limited due to the fact that many advertising agreements are

executed during the
quarter

that the advertising is displayed FinalLy we expect our Third Party Network

revenues wilL be negatively impacted by the international reductions and closures previously discussed

as well as the de-emphasis of our search engine campaign management and lead generation affiliate

products which are discussed in Item BusinessThird Party Network with the majority of the

impact occurring in the first quarter of 2011

Growth of our advertising revenues depends on our ability to attract consumers and increase

engagement on AOL Properties by offering compelLing content products and services as welL as on our

ability to monetize such engagement by offering effective advertising solutions In order to attract

consumers and generate increased engagement we have developed and acquired and in the future

will continue to develop and acquire content products and services designed to meet these goals

These actions include the development and acquisition of number of platforms that are designed to

facilitate the production aggregation distribution and consumption of locaL content

37



AOL INC

PART lIITEM MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

As our subscriber base decLines we need to maintain the engagement of former subscribers and

increase the number and engagement of other consumers on AOL Properties In addition to developing

and offering engaging content products and services we seek to retain our access subscriber base by

offering our access subscribers certain products and services that are available to Internet consumers

generally for no additionaL charge or at discounted rate Further we have transitioned and will

continue to seek to transition substantiaL percentage of those access subscribers who are

terminating their paid access subscriptions to free AOL Properties offerings

Historically our primary subscription service has been our subscription access service Moving

forward we seek to market new products and services that are either co-branded third party or

AOL-developed products To facilitate this goat in 2010 we launched the initial phase of single

consumer-facing platform that allows us to manage and distribute these additionaL products to Internet

consumers along with our subscription access service We offer those products to our access

subscribers as well as other Internet consumers Revenue related to these new product and service

offerings was not material for the year ended December31 2010

Our subscription revenues have relatively low direct costs and accordingly our subscription

access service represents the source of the vast majority of our operating income Although our

subscription revenues have declined and are expected to continue to decline we believe that our

subscription access service will continue to provide us with an important source of revenue and cash

fLow for the foreseeable future The revenue and cash flow generated from our subscription access

service will help us to pursue our strategic initiatives and continue the transition of our business toward

attracting and engaging Internet consumers and generating advertising revenues We expect our total

revenues and operating income texcLuding the goodwill impairment charge recorded in 2010 to decline

in the near term even if our strategy is successful and we are able to grow our advertising revenues

primarily due to declines in subscription revenue and search and contextual revenue as result of the

continuing decline in our subscriber base

Key indicators to understanding our operating results include

Growth of advertising revenues particularly display revenues on AOL Properties

Unique visitors to our properties

Monthly average churn and average paid tenure of our AOL-brand access subscribers

Our investment in growth areas such as the local online market and

Our ability to manage our operating cost structure

Current Economic Environment

The global economic recession adversely impacted our advertising revenues for the years ended

December 31 2009 and 2008 We do not believe that the global economic environment had material

impact on our advertising revenues for the year ended December 31 2010 Further we do not believe

the global economic recession had material impact on our subscription revenues for any period

presented in this Annual Report
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Trends Challenges and Uncertainties Impacting Our Business

The web services industry is highly competitive and rapidly changing Trends challenges and

uncertainties that may have significant impact on our business our opportunities and our ability to

execute our strategy include the following

Advertising commerce and information continue to migrate to the nternet and away from

traditional media outlets at both the national and local levels Additionally traditional media

outlets are facing significant economic challenges We believe these continuing trends will

create strategic growth opportunities for us to attract new consumers and develop new and

effective advertising solutions As part of restructuring initiative that began late in 2009 we

announced plan to reduce operating costs and reinvest up to $100 million of those savings in

existing strategic areas As part of this plan and to expand our local strategic initiatives we

reinvested the majority of the $100 million in Patch our community-specific news and

information platform during 2010 As result of our additional investment in Patch we had

790 active towns as of February 18 2011

As the behavior of Internet consumers continues to change migration on the Internet

towards social networking could adversely affect usage of AOL products and services This

trend may have an adverse effect on our ability to rely on traditional sources of traffic and

revenues We seek to mitigate these potential competitive pressures by leveraging social

networks to deliver content Additionally competition among companies offering content and

advertising products such as demand-side platforms is intense Competitors are providing

more free products and services for example data storage that may require substantial

expenditures by us in order to offer comparable products and services As result of the

increased competition Third Party Network advertising revenues may continue to decline

Beginning in the first quarter of 2010 we made changes to our content products and services

to enhance the consumer experience e.g fewer advertisements on certain AOL Properties

These changes have involved and may continue to involve eliminating or modifying advertising

practices that historically have been source of revenues While difficult to quantify we

believe that these changes had negative impact on our advertising revenues during 2010 We

intend to ultimately increase our revenues by increasing the attractiveness of our content

product and service offerings to consumers and therefore their value to advertisers through

these enhancements to the consumer experience Specifically we have undertaken efforts on

certain AOL Properties to reduce the number of display advertising units reduce monetization

of search results and reduce the number of contextual advertising links Additionally we are

shifting our focus from the number of sites that we offer to fewer bigger sites that better

address the needs of users and advertisers During the third quarter of 2010 we introduced

new advertising format that seeks to enhance the consumer experience by improving the

aesthetic quality impact and interactivity of online advertising while also providing solutions

for advertisers looking for innovative ways to showcase their products and services to

consumers In departure from traditional display advertising the new advertising format

offers an ad space segmented into interactive panels allowing advertisers to customize

different streams of functionality within one interface which will increase consumer

engagement with online advertising We are also expanding our distribution of our content

products and services on multiple platforms and digital devices including on portable wireless

devices such as smartphones and tablets e.g iPhone iPad Android-based devices and

Blackberry
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As the amount of content that is avaiLabLe onLine continues to expand consumers are

increasingLy fragmenting across the Internet To address this fragmentation we own and we

partner
with third parties to offer variety of niche sites e.g Engadget and Cambio that we

expect to continue to drive consumer engagement We have organized our content to align

under the broad categories of either News Entertainment Women and Lifestyle or

Marketplace On February 2011 we announced that we entered into definitive agreement

to acquire The Huffington Post We believe that our acquisition of The Huffington Post wiLL

solidify our strategy
of creating global content network while providing our consumers with

an array of news analysis commentary and entertainment Furthermore the Third Party

Network which reaches thousands of websites will allow us to continue to provide advertising

solutions across fragmenting Internet environment

There has been significant shift in the method of Internet access away from dial-up access

This is due to number of factors incLuding the increased availability of high-speed

broadband Internet connections and the fact that significant amount of online content

products and services has been optimized for use with broadband Internet connections This

trend has contributed to and we expect it will continue to contribute to the decline in the

number of our access subscribers As result of these factors we expect subscription

revenues to continue to decline in the future

We are actively suppLementing our business strategy through targeted acquisitions and

dispositions Since January 2010 we acquired seven companies and as mentioned above

have recently agreed to acquire The Huffington Post with the objective of broadening and

improving upon content provided to users We expect the integration of key talent and products

resulting from these acquisitions to help us achieve our objective of increasing traffic by

enhancing the user experience Also since January 2010 we have disposed of three

non-core businesses as well as other assets and investments

Part of our strategy with respect to targeted acquisitions is to ensure that the key employees

are incentivized to remain with AOL following the acquisition In connection with the seven

acquisitions mentioned above we have entered into certain incentive compensation

arrangements with key employees of the acquired companies We record amounts associated

with these arrangements as compensation expense over the future service period of the

employees of the acquired companies For the year ended December 31 2010 we recorded

compensation expense of $6.2 million related to incentive compensation arrangements made

in connection with our 2010 acquisitions Based on our current estimated forfeiture rates we

expect to record compensation expense associated with the incentive arrangements with key

employees of these seven acquisitions of $35.7 million $15.5 million and $3.0 million in 2011

2012 and 2013 respectively We expect the future cash outlay related to these inentive

arrangements to be $11.5 million $27.6 million and $20.3 million in 2011 2012 and 2013

respectively These amounts are subject to change based on actual forfeitures and the impact

of any new acquisitions completed in the future
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Recent DeveLopments

Acquisitions

We completed the following acquisitions during the fourth quarter of 2010

On December 15 2010 we completed the acquisition of Pictela Inc company
that provides global technology platform for serving and distributing high-definition brand

content across online advertising and social media This business was acquired to further our

ability to provide high quaLity advertising content

On December 20 2010 we completed the acquisition of About.me Inc About.me
company that provides web service product that empowers people to create single

personal profile page that presents their online identities together in one place simplifying the

social experience across the web This business was acquired to enhance our ability to provide

relevant and meaningful content to consumers

The aggregate purchase price of these acquisitions was $31.4 million net of cash acquired In

addition we agreed to pay up to $11.5 million in aggregate to certain employees of the acquired

companies over the next three years contingent on their future service to AOL The payments of up to

$11.5 million will be recognized as compensation expense over the requisite service periods of up to

three years See Note in our accompanying consolidated financial statements for additional

information on these acquisitions

On January31 2011 we completed the acquisition of goviral A/S provider of an online

branded video syndication platform used by advertisers to distribute their branded videos to be viewed

online for purchase price of $74.1 million net of cash acquired In addition we agreed to pay up to

$22.6 million in aggregate to certain employees of the acquired company over the expected future

service period of two years contingent on their future service to AOL The payments of up to $22.6

million will be recognized as compensation expense over the expected future service period of two

years See Note in our accompanying consolidated financial statements for additional information

on this acquisition

On February 2011 we signed an agreement to acquire all of the outstanding equity of

TheHuffingtonPost.com Inc Huffington Post for estimated aggregate consideration of $315

million in transaction expected to be completed by April 2011 The Huffington Post is an innovative

internet source of online news analysis commentary and entertainment This acquisition is expected to

enhance our ability to serve our audiences across several platforms including social local video

mobile and tablet We currently expect cash restructuring charges of approximately $30 million in the

aggregate in connection with this transaction of which $10 million is included in the aggregate

consideration of $315 million disclosed above and will be reflected as restructuring charge

immediately following the acquisition as this amount is associated with stock options that will vest

upon the termination of certain The Huffington Post employees See Note in our accompanying

consolidated financial statements for additional information on this acquisition

Disposition-Related Activities

On November 15 2010 we sold portion of our campus in Dulles Virginia referred to as Pacific

Corporate Park for sales price of $144.5 million in cash exclusive of customary closing costs Based
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on the estimated saLes proceeds at the time we entered into the agreement to sell we determined that

the carrying value of Pacific Corporate Park exceeded the fair value Less costs to sell As result an

impairment charge of $6.2 million was recorded within costs of revenues during 2010 We did not

record significant gain or Loss upon completion of this sale in the fourth quarter of 2010

During the fourth quarter of 2010 we soLd our investment in Brightcove Inc Brightcove for

$17.0 million in net cash proceeds which resuLted in pre-tax gain of $8.0 million recorded in Other

income net in our accompanying consolidated financiaL statements

On July 2010 we completed the saLe of ICQ resuLting in pre-tax gain of $119.6 milLion recorded

in the third
quarter

of 2010 Sales proceeds included $5.4 miLlion which was allocated to our obLigation

to provide certain network infrastructure related services to the buyer This amount has been deferred

and will be recognized as other income when the obligation is fulfiLLed

After our disposition of ICC the Committee on Foreign Investment in the United States CFIUS
contacted Mail.ru and subsequently we submitted joint voluntary filing with MaiLru to CFIUS

commencing review of the transaction under Section 721 of Title VII of the Defense Production Act of

1950 as amended AOL and Mail.ru are currently working with CFIUS to address their concerns As

result of this process it is probable that we wiLL agree to provide certain network infrastructure and

other operational services to Mail.ru at level and for period in excess of our contractual obligations

under the original transaction agreements as well as other modifications to the parties respective

obligations
under the transaction agreements Our estimate of the range of loss to be incurred as

result of these developments is $13.6 million to $28 million Given that no amount within the range of

loss appears to be better estimate as of the date of issuing these financial statements we have

accrued loss of $13.6 million the low end of the range of estimated Loss in our fourth quarter 2010

consolidated statement of operations and reflected such loss as reduction to the previously recorded

$119.6 million gain The $5.4 million of sales proceeds continues to be deferred and will be recognized

when the obligation is fulfilled at the end of the extended service period

During the second and third quarters of 2010 we concluded that ICQ met the requirements for

presentation as discontinued operations However given the probable extension and modification of the

services we are providing to 100 we have subsequently concluded that the CO operations for the period

prior to the sale no longer meet the criteria for presentation as discontinued operations As result

we have recast the assets and liabilities of 100 as of December 31 2009 from assets and liabilities of

discontinued operations to their natural classifications within the accompanying 2009 consolidated

balance sheet Results of discontinued operations and cash flows for the years ended December 31

2009 and 2008 were not impacted by the recast as ICQ was never presented as part of discontinued

operations for those historical periods The results of operations of 100 excluding the related income

tax benefit were not material to the Companys consolidated financial statements

Revenue related to ICO was $1 7.9 million $39.1 million and $40.8 million for the years ended

December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively Operating income related to ICQ was $10.1 million

$24.5 million and $25.3 million for the years ended December31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively

Restructuring Actions

We completed significant restructuring initiative in the fourth quarter of 2010 which began late in

2009 We reduced our total workforce by nearly one-third in connection with this restructuring initiative
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prior to hiring new empLoyees in areas of strategic focus As part of this initiative we reduced our cost

base in the United Kingdom and ceased or reduced operations in number of other countries including

France and Germany We are continuing to operate certain French and German web properties and seLL

display advertising leveraging our centraLized European infrastructure and we recently acquired goviral

to expand our video advertising capabilities in Europe However we expect advertising revenues

generated in those countries to continue to decLine in the near term In connection with this

restructuring initiative we incurred $33.8 miLLion of restructuring expense during the year ended

December 31 2010 We do not expect to incur significant additional expenses reLated to this initiative in

2011 As resuLt of this restructuring initiative our operating expenses were lower in 2010 and we

expect them to continue to be Lower at least in the near term due primarily to lower headcount and

fewer facilities in which we conduct operations We estimate that the restructuring initiative will result

in reduction to annual compensation expense and facility operating expenses as compared to 2009

Levels of approximately $230 million in total However this estimate does not include the impacts of

other changes to our business such as reductions in TAG and estimated increased costs reLated to the

empLoyees hired in areas of strategic focus

In connection with our acquisition of TheHuffingtonPost.com we currentLy expect to incur cash

restructuring charges of approximateLy $30 miLLion of which $10 million represents cash consideration

that wilL be reflected as restructuring charge immediateLy folLowing the acquisition As we continue to

refine and optimize our assets and operations we may identify additional restructuring actions

separate and
apart

from the restructuring initiative which began in Late 2009 and the restructuring

charges associated with the acquisition of The Huffington Post If additional restructuring actions are

identified we wouLd incur additional restructuring costs

Key Metrics

Audience Metrics

We utiLize unique visitor numbers to evaluate the performance of AOL Properties as well as AOL

Media subset of AOL Properties that excLudes Mail Instant Messaging Search Ventures and Local

In addition we utiLize unique visitor numbers to evaluate the reach of our total advertising network

which incLudes both AOL Properties and the Third Party Network Unique visitor numbers provide an

indication of our consumer reach ALthough our consumer reach does not correLate directly to

advertising revenue we believe that our ability to broadly reach diverse demographic and geographic

audiences is attractive to brand advertisers seeking to promote their brands to variety of consumers
without having to partner with multiple content providers AOLs unique visitor numbers also include

unique visitors attributabLe to co-branded websites owned by third parties for which certain criteria

have been met including that the Internet traffic has been assigned to us through traffic assignment

Letter As of December31 2010 approximateLy 5% of our unique visitors to AOL Properties were

attributable to co-branded websites owned by third parties where the Internet traffic was assigned to

us

The source for our unique visitor information is third party comScore Media Metrix or Media

Metrixi Media Metrix has historicalLy estimated unique visitors based on sample of Internet users in

various countries treferred to as the panel-only methodology WhiLe we are famiLiar with the general

methodologies and processes that Media Metrix uses in estimating unique visitors we have not

performed independent testing or vaLidation of Media Metrixs data coLlection systems or proprietary

statistical models and therefore we can provide no assurance as to the accuracy of the information

that Media Metrix provides
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In 2009 Media Metrix announced the availability of an alternate methodology currently referred to

as panel-centric unified or Media Metrix 360 to estimate unique visitors in order to provide more

accurate count of websites audience and has continued to refine this methodology We adopted this

alternate methodology for our average monthly unique visitors to AOL Properties and AOL Media

starting in December 2009 and going forward As result our average monthly unique visitors to AOL

Properties and AOL Media based on Media Metrix 360 will not be comparable to the data under the

previous panel-only methodology For comparison purposes domestic average monthly unique visitors

to AOL Properties and AOL Media are reported under both the Media Metrix 360 and panel-only

methodology for the year ended December31 2010

The following table presents our unique visitor metrics for the periods presented in millions

Three Months Ended Years Ended

December31 December31

2010 2009 2010 2009

Domestic average monthly unique visitors to AOL Properties Media

Metrix 360 112 NA 111 NA

Domestic average monthly unique visitors to AOL Properties

Panel-only methodology 97 100 100 104

Domestic average monthly unique visitors to AOL Media Media

Metrix 360 84 NA 83 NA

Domestic average monthly unique visitors to AOL Media Panel-onty

methodology 70 75 72 74

Domestic average monthly unique visitors to AOL Advertising

Network 181 184 184 179

Subscriber Access Metrics

The primary metrics we monitor for subscription access service are monthly average churn and

average paid tenure Monthly average churn represents on average the number of AOL-brand access

subscribers that terminate or cancel our services each month factoring in new and reactivated

subscribers The domestic AOL-brand access subscriber monthly average churn was 2.6% 3.4% and

3.6% for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectiveLy Average paid tenure

represents the average period of time subscribers have paid for domestic AOL-brand internet access

The average paid tenure of the remaining domestic AOL-brand access subscribers has been increasing

and was approximately nine years eight years and seven years for the years ended December 31 2010

2009 and 2008 respectively

ResuLts of Operations

The results of operations for the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 have been recast so

that the basis of presentation is consistent with that of the results of operations for the year ended

December 31 2010 This recast reflects the financial condition results of operations and cash flows of

buy.at as discontinued operations As previously discussed the results of operations of ICQ are

presented within continuing operations for all periods presented
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Consolidated ResuLts

The following table presents our revenues by revenue type for the periods presented milLions

Years Ended December31

%Change %Change
from from

2009 to 2008 to

2010 2009 2010 2008 2009

Revenues

Advertising 1284.1 1736.7 26% 2083.3 17%
Subscription 1023.6 1388.8 26 1929.3 28%
Other 109.0 120.3 140.1 14%

Total revenues 2416.7 3245.8 26% 4152.7 22%

The following table presents our revenues by revenue type as percentage of totaL revenues for

the periods presented

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Revenues

Advertising 53% 54% 50%

Subscription 42 43 46

Other

Total revenues 100% 100% 100%

Advertising Revenues

Advertising revenues are generated on AOL Properties through display advertising and search and

contextual advertising as described in OverviewOur Business Agreements for advertising on AOL

Properties typically take the form of impression-based contracts in which we provide impressions in

exchange for fixed fee generalLy stated as cost-per-thousand impressions time-based contracts in

which we provide minimum number of impressions over specified time period for fixed fee or

performance-based contracts in which performance is measured in terms of either click-throughs

when user clicks on companys advertisement or other user actions such as product/customer

registrations survey participation sales leads or product purchases In addition agreements with

advertisers can include other advertising-related elements such as content sponsorships exclusivities

or advertising effectiveness research

In addition to advertising revenues generated on AOL Properties we also generate revenues from

our advertising offerings on the Third Party Network To generate revenues on the Third Party Network
we purchase advertising inventory from publishers large and small in the Third Party Network

using proprietary optimization targeting and delivery technology to best match advertisers with

available advertising inventory Advertising arrangements for the sale of Third Party Network inventory

typically take the form of impression-based contracts or performance-based contracts
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Advertising revenues on AOL Properties and the Third Party Network for the years ended

December31 2010 2009 and 2008 are as follows in millions

Years Ended December31

Change Change
from from

2009 to 2008 to

2010 2009 2010 2008 2009

AOL Properties

Display 520.4 603.9 114% 729.2 17%

DispLaydomestic 472.6 513.7 81% 583.4 121%

DisplayinternationaL 47.8 90.2 471% 145.8 381%

Search and Contextual 428.1 609.8 30% 721.2 115%

Total AOL Properties 948.5 1213.7 221% 1450.4 6%

Third Party Network 335.6 523.0 632.9 7%

Total advertising revenues 1284.1 1736.7 126% 2083.3 17h

2010 vs 2009

Advertising revenue declined $452.6 million for the year
ended December 31 2010 as compared to

the year ended December 31 2009 Of this decline $268.2 million was related to AOL-implemented

initiatives to wind down or shut down certain products and shut down or reduce operations

internationally The most significant impact from these initiatives drove declines in Third Party Network

revenue of $177.1 million associated with European shutdowns and de-emphasis of the typically low

margin search engine campaign management and lead generation affiliate products In addition we

experienced declines in search and contextual revenue of $54.2 million primarily due to the

de-emphasis of our contextual products fewer queries in Germany and France where we have reduced

operations and declines of $14.3 million from lCD which we sold in the third quarter of 2010

International display revenues declined by $36.9 million related to our reduced operations in Germany

and France declines from Bebo Inc LBebo which we sold in the second quarter of 2010 and declines

of $5.7 million from lCD which we sold in the third quarter of 2010

Apart from the impacts of the AOL-implemented initiatives advertising revenue reflects further

declines in search and contextual display and Third Party Network revenue Search and contextual

revenue for the year ended December 31 2010 declined $1 27.6 million as compared to the year ended

December 31 2009 Of this decline $93.7 million reflects the impact of fewer domestic search queries

on AOL Properties related primarily to 23% year-over-year decrease in domestic AOL-brand access

subscribers as well as lower traffic on AOL Properties The search and contextual revenue declines

also include international declines of $33.9 million due to fewer
queries primarily in the United

Kingdom Domestic display revenue declines of $43.4 million reflect slight decline in premium

inventory sales as well as the impact of less inventory from AOL Properties being monetized through

the Third Party Network resulting primarily from our efforts to improve the user experience Premium

inventory sales declines reflect the impact on sales of salesforce reorganization in the first quarter of

2010 which resulted in subsequent quarters beginning with significantly
smaller sales pipeline

Domestic display revenue declines were partially offset by approximately $2.0 million related to

acquisitions made in 2010 Third Party Network declines of $12.6 million reflect reduction in sales due

to increased competition at Ad.com and reduction in contextual advertising These Third Party

Network declines were partially offset by $2.3 million related to acquisitions
made in 2010
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2009 vs 2008

Advertising revenues generated on AOL Properties decreased 16% or $236.7 million for the year

ended December 31 2009 as compared to the year ended December 31 2008 driven by decreases in

display advertising and search and contextual revenues The decrease in display advertising was due to

weak global economic conditions that resulted in lower advertising demand Specifically international

display revenue declined reflecting weakness in the U.K Germany and France and domestic display

revenue reflected weakness in certain advertiser categories including Classifieds Finance and

Telecommunications The decline in search and contextual revenue was primarily due to decline in

search revenues due to decreases in search query volume due to the decline in domestic

AOL-brand access subscribers on certain AOL Properties which contributed $71.8 million to the

decline and Lower revenues per search query on certain AOL Properties which contributed $30.4 million

to the decline Contextual revenues declined $10.4 million primarily due to reduced monetization on

MapOuest partialLy offset by increased prioritization of certain contextual links in the first half of 2009

The 17% decrease in advertising revenues on the Third Party Network for the year ended

December 31 2009 as compared to the year ended December 31 2008 was due to weak global

economic conditions that resulted in lower advertising demand as well as decrease of $23 million

due to the wind-down of contract with major customer Revenues associated with this major

customer were $3 million for the year ended December 31 2009 compared to $26 million for the year

ended December 31 2008

Revenues Associated with Google and Advertising Revenue Expectations

For all periods presented in this Annual Report we have had contractual relationship with 000gle

whereby we generate revenues through paid text-based search and contextual
advertising on AOL

Properties provided by 000gle which represent significant percentage of the advertising revenues

generated by AOL Properties For the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 the revenues

associated with the Google relationship substantially all of which were search and contextual revenues

generated on AOL Properties were $398.4 million $556.7 million and $677.9 million respectively

During the first quarter of 201 we expect that our advertising revenues on both AOL Properties

and the Third Party Network will continue to decline significantly as compared to the same period in

2010 driven by search and contextual and Third Party Network declines We believe that advertising

revenues generated on AOL Properties will be negatively impacted by the decline in our domestic

AOL-brand access subscribers particularly as it relates to search and contextual revenues and the

decline in international operations due to ceasing or reducing operations in number of countries

Visibility into advertising revenue is limited due to the fact that many advertising agreements are

executed during the quarter that the
advertising is displayed Finally we expect our Third Party Network

revenues will be negatively impacted by the international reductions and closures previously discussed

as well as the de-emphasis of our search engine campaign management and lead generation affiliate

products which are discussed in Item 1BusinessThird Party Network above with the majority of

the impact occurring in the first quarter of 2011

Subscription Revenues

Subscription revenues declined 26% for the year ended December 31 2010 as compared to the

year ended December31 2009 The decline was due to an approximate 23% decrease in the number of

domestic AOL-brand access subscribers between December31 2009 and December31 2010 is
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discussed further in OverviewOur BusinessAOL Properties Also contributing to the decline in

subscription revenues was $0.30 decLine in domestic average monthly revenue per AOL-brand access

subscriber which we refer to in this Annual Report as ARPU Partially offsetting these decLines was

$5.4 million reLated to the favorable resolution of legaL dispute with the counterparty to whom we soLd

our German access business in 2007 The 28% decline in subscription revenues for the year ended

December 31 2009 as compared to the year ended December 31 2008 was due to 28% decrease in

the number of domestic AOL-brand access subscribers between December 31 2008 and December31

2009

The number of domestic AOL-brand access subscribers was 3.9 miLLion 5.0 million and 6.9 million

at December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectiveLy ARPU was $18.16 $1 8.46 and $1 8.38 for the years

ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectiveLy We include in our subscriber numbers

individuals househoLds and entities that have provided billing information and completed the

registration process sufficiently to aLLow for an initial Log-on to the AOL access service Individuals who

have registered
for our free offerings incLuding subscribers who have migrated from paid subscription

pLans are not included in the AOL-brand access subscriber numbers presented above Subscribers to

our subscription access service contribute to our abiLity to generate advertising revenues

As noted previously our access service subscriber base has declined and is expected to continue

to decline While we expect that our subscription revenues will continue to decLine for the foreseeable

future they wiLL provide us with an important source of revenue in the near term

Other Revenues

Other revenues consist primarily of fees associated with our mobile e-mail and instant messaging

functionaLity from mobile carriers Licensing revenues from third-party customers from Mapauests

business-to-business services and licensing revenues from licensing our proprietary ad serving

technology to third parties through our subsidiary ADTECH AG In addition other revenues incLude

amounts associated with hosting certain Time Warner websites on our servers as part of the transition

services provided to Time Warner Other revenues aLso incLude amounts earned in connection with

transition support services for our disposed operations

Other revenues decreased 9% for the year ended December 31 2010 as compared to the year

ended December 31 2009 due to lower revenues from our mobiLe messaging services of $17.3 million

as mobile carriers are moving away from paying on per message basis and decLine in Licensing

revenues from MapQuests business-to-business services of $6.9 million These declines were partiaLly

offset by increases in third party web hosting revenues of $8.8 million increases in ADTECH AG and

other Licensing revenues of $2.7 miLLion and increases in transition services revenue of $2.9 million

Other revenues decreased 14% for the year ended December 31 2009 as compared to the year

ended December 31 2008 due to decLines in the revenues associated with the transition support

services agreements with the purchasers of our European access service businesses ended in

2008 These agreements contributed $23 miLlion in revenue for the year ended December 31 2008 The

decLine in revenue from these agreements was partiaLLy offset by increases in mobile e-maiL and instant

messaging revenues of $6 miLLion for the year ended December31 2009 as compared to the year ended

December 31 2008
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Geographical Concentration of Revenues

For the periods presented herein significant majority of our revenues have been generated in the

United States Substantially all of the non-United States revenues for these periods were generated by

our European operations primarily in the United Kingdom France and Germany We expect the

significant majority of our revenues to continue to be generated in the United States for the foreseeable

future See Note in our accompanying consolidated financial statements for further discussion of

our geographical concentrations

Operating Costs and Expenses

The following table presents our operating costs and expenses for the periods presented in

millions

Years Ended December31

Change Change
from from

2009 to 2008 to

2010 2009 2010 2008 2009

Costs of revenues $1420.6 1893.2 25% 2273.1 17%
Selling general and administrative 491.2 535.0 8% 640.0 16%
Amortization of intangible assets 145.3 137.9 5% 159.0 13%
Amounts related to securities litigation and

government investigations net of

recoveries 27.9 100% 20.8 34%

Restructuring costs 33.8 189.2 82% 16.6 NM
Goodwill impairment charge 1414.4 NM 2207.0 100%
Gain loss on disposal of assets and

consolidated businesses net 106.0 NM 0.3 100%

NM not meaningful

The following table represents our operating costs and expenses as percentage of revenues for

the periods presented

Years Ended December31

2010 2009 2008

Operating costs and expenses
Costs of revenues 59% 58% 55%

Selling general and administrative 20 17 15

Amortization of intangible assets

Amounts related to securities litigation and government investigations net

of recoveries

Restructuring costs

Subtotal of operating costs and expenses before goodwill impairment

charge 86% 86% 75%

Goodwill impairment charge 59 53

Gain on disposal of assets and consolidated businesses net

Total operating costs and expenses 141% 86% 128%
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Costs of Revenues

The following categories of costs are generally included in costs of revenues network-related

costs TAC product development costs and other costs of revenues The Largest component of our

costs of revenues is generally TAC which consists of costs incurred through arrangements in which we

acquire third-party online advertising inventory for resale and arrangements whereby partners

distribute our free products or services or otherwise direct traffic to AOL Properties TAC arrangements

have number of different economic structures the most common of which are payments based on

cost-per-thousand impressions or based on percentage of the ultimate advertising revenues

generated from the advertising inventory acquired for resale payments for direct traffic delivered to

AOL Properties priced on per click basis search engine marketing fees and payments to

partners in exchange for distributing our products to their users agreements with computer

manufacturers to distribute our toolbar or co-branded web portal on computers shipped to end

users These arrangements can be on fixed-fee basis often carry reciprocal performance

guarantees by the counterparty on variable basis or in some cases combination of the two

Costs of revenues decreased $472.6 million for the year ended December 31 2010 as compared to

the year ended December 31 2009 The primary drivers of the decrease in costs of revenues were

decreases in TAO personnel costs and network-related costs TAO decreased by $269.1 million for the

year ended December31 2010 as compared to the year ended December31 2009 TAO was impacted

by the decrease in advertising revenues which drove decline of $165.4 million primarily due to lower

variable revenue share payments to our publishing partners for the year ended December31 2010 as

compared to the year ended December31 2009 In addition there were declines from significant

product distribution agreement whereby payments previously were based on the number of personal

computers shipped Under the agreement which was amended in the first quarter of 2010 new

distributions have ceased and payments are now based on percentage of the advertising revenue we

earn on the associated co-branded website As result TAO associated with this agreement declined

by $94.1 million for the year ended December31 2010 as compared to the year ended December31

2009 Personnel costs including salaries and bonuses declined by $1 03.5 million for the year ended

December31 2010 as compared to the year ended December31 2009 due to reduced headcount as

result of our 2009 restructuring initiatives The declines related to our restructuring initiatives were

partially offset by an increase of $33.2 million related to the impact of hiring new employees in areas of

strategic focus and an increase of $23.4 million as we had lower capitalization of personnel costs in

2010 due to fewer product development projects qualifying for capitalization Network-related costs

declined by $76.4 million for the year ended December 31 2010 as compared to the year ended

December31 2009 due to declines in depreciation expense on network equipment due to higher

percentage of in-service assets being fully depreciated and declines in narrowband network and other

network-related costs partially due to terminated and renegotiated maintenance agreements and the

decline in domestic AOL-brand access subscribers Costs of revenues also included decrease in

non-network depreciation and amortization of $20.3 million and decrease in asset impairment

charges of $4.1 million related to $10.3 million recorded in 2009 partially offset by an impairment

charge of $6.2 million recorded in the third quarter of 2010 This charge was related to the writedown of

Pacific Corporate Park assets in connection with the sale of the property Additionally the decreases

discussed above were partially offset by increased content costs of $16.3 million mainly related to

Patch

Costs of revenues decreased $379.9 million for the year ended December 31 2009 as compared to

the year ended December31 2008 TAO decreased by $119.1 miLlion for the year ended December31
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2009 as compared to the year ended December 31 2008 due to the decrease in advertising revenues

and to lesser extent declines in product distribution costs related to an amendment to product

distribution agreement in the third quarter of 2008 Network-related costs decLined by $84.4 million for

the year ended December 31 2009 as compared to the year ended December 31 2008 due to declines

in narrowband network and other network-related costs related to cost reduction initiatives undertaken

in response to the decLine in domestic AOL-brand access subscribers Product development costs

declined by $65.5 milLion for the year ended December31 2009 as compared to the year ended

December31 2008 due to reduced headcount and reduced product deveLopment efforts Other costs of

revenues decLines for the year ended December 31 2009 as compared to the year ended December 31

2008 incLuded declines in outside services costs of $47.2 million due to $30.0 million decline related

to reduced consulting and lower outsourced call center expenses and $17.2 million decline related to

the transition to internally developed ad serving technology beginning in the first quarter of 2009

Depreciation and amortization expense declined by $40.2 million which incLudes decLines in

depreciation of capitalized software associated with our subscription access service We also had

declines in customer billing and collection costs of $27.6 million for the year ended December 31 2009

due to the decline in domestic AOLbrand access subscribers Partially offsetting the decreases

described above was an increase in personnel costs of $48.4 miLLion resulting from the decision not to

pay most annual bonuses for 2008

Selling General and Administrative

Selling general and administrative expenses decreased $43.8 million for the year ended

December 31 2010 as compared to the year ended December 31 2009 The decrease was due to

declines in external legal costs and other LegaL matters of $25.1 million decline related to the

resolution of French value-added tax matter in 2009 of $14.7 million declines in bad debt expense of

$14.5 million due to improved collections on aged balances including the impact of the decline in

subscribers The decrease also included declines in personnel costs of $12.6 million related to reduced

headcount declines in depreciation and amortization expenses of $6.6 million and $5.2 million

decline related to business tax expense recorded in 2009 Personnel cost declines included

reduction of $43.0 million related to reduced headcount as result of our 2009 restructuring initiatives

partially offset by an increase in equity-based compensation expense of $17.9 milLion and an increase in

recruiting expenses of $1 1.2 million including Patch These decreases were partially offset by an

increase in marketing costs of $23.3 million primarily associated with our rebranding efforts and

support of our new products and initiatives including Patch an increase in consulting costs of $8.2

million and an increase in other corporate costs of $6.5 million

Selling general and administrative expenses decreased $1 05.0 miLlion for the
year

ended

December 31 2009 as compared to the
year

ended December 31 2008 The decrease was due to

declines in marketing costs of $52.3 miLLion reflecting reduced payments to marketing partners due to

the decline in domestic AOL-brand access subscribers and reduced spending due to cost savings

initiatives Further contributing to the decline in selling general and administrative expenses for the

year ended December 31 2009 as compared to the year ended December 31 2008 were decreases in

consulting costs of $33.1 million partially due to the costs incurred in 2008 associated with Time

Warners evaluation of various strategic alternatives related to our business which were $22.0 million

for the year ended December 31 2008 and personneL related declines of $31.3 million due to reduced

headcount Partially offsetting the decline was an increase of $14.7 million for the year ended

December 31 2009 related to the resolution of French value-added tax matter associated with our

historical European access service businesses and an increase in personneL related costs of $15.4
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million for the year ended December 31 2009 resulting from the decision not to pay most annual

bonuses for 2008

Amortization of Intangible Assets

Amortization of intangible assets results primarily from acquired intangible assets including

technology customer relationships and trade names Amortization of intangible assets increased $7.4

million for the year ended December31 2010 as compared to the year ended December31 2009 due

to our reevaluation of the useful lives of certain intangible assets in the fourth quarter of 2009 in

connection with our restructuring initiatives which resulted in incremental amortization expense of

$31.5 million for the year ended December31 2010 and $7.4 million for the year ended December 31

2009 The increase for the year ended December 31 2010 was partially offset by decline of $1 7.8

million due to certain intangible assets becoming fully amortized in 2009 Amortization of intangible

assets decreased $21.1 million for the year ended December 31 2009 as compared to the year ended

December 31 2008 due to certain intangible assets becoming fully amortized at the end of 2008

partially offset by an increase in acquired intangible assets resulting from the acquisition of Bebo in

May 2008

Amounts Related to Securities Litigation and Government Investigations Net of Recoveries

Amounts related to securities litigation and government investigations net of recoveries consist of

Legal settlement costs and legal and other professional fees incurred by Time Warner prior to the

spin-off related to the defense of various securities Lawsuits involving us or our or Time Warners

present or former officers and employees While these amounts were historically incurred by Time

Warner and reflected in Time Warners financial results they have been reflected as an expense and

corresponding additional capital contribution by Time Warner in our consolidated financial statements

for the periods when we were wholly-owned subsidiary of Time Warner because they involve us We

recognized $27.9 million and $20.8 million of expense related to these matters respectively for the

years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 Following the spin-off these costs continue to be incurred by

Time Warner to the extent that proceeds from settlement with insurers are available to pay those

costs and thereafter AOL has an obligation to indemnify Time Warner for such costs to the extent they

are associated with present or former officers and employees of AOL We do not view our remaining

potential obligation related to this matter to be material

Restructuring Costs

In connection with our restructuring initiatives we incurred restructuring expense of $33.8 million

$189.2 million and $1 6.6 miLlion respectively for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008

respectively related to voluntary and involuntary employee terminations facility closures and contract

termination costs The restructuring activities were completed in an effort to better align our

organizational structure and costs with our strategy

Goodwill Impairment Charge

During the three months ended June 30 2010 we entered into an agreement to sell our ICQ

operations and we completed the sale of substantially all of our assets of Bebo We expect to treat the

common stock of Bebo as worthless for U.S income tax reporting purposes in our 2010 consolidated

U.S federal income tax return in addition we experienced significant decline in our stock price in the
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second quarter of 2010 Our net assets also increased significantly during that time due to cash

generated from operations and the deferred tax asset associated with the Bebo worthless stock

deduction Based on these events we concluded that it was more likely than not that the fair value of

our single reporting unit was less than its carrying amount As such we performed an interim goodwill

impairment test as of June 30 2010

Based on our interim impairment analysis we recorded goodwill impairment charge of $1414.4

million in the second quarter of 2010 to write goodwill down to its implied fair value Based on our

annual goodwill impairment analysis in December 2010 we have determined that the estimated fair

value of AOL exceeds its carrying value as of December 31 2010 and therefore no additional goodwill

impairment charge was recorded for 2010

We also incurred goodwill impairment charge in 2008 after the annual goodwill impairment

analysis was performed during the fourth quarter of 2008 In that analysis we determined that the

carrying value of our goodwill was impaired and accordingly recorded goodwill impairment charge of

$2207.0 million to write goodwill down to its implied fair value

See Note in our accompanying consolidated financial statements for additional information

Gain loss on disposal of assets and consolidated businesses net

The gain on disposal of assets and consolidated businesses net for the year ended December 31

2010 of $106.0 million was related to the gain on the sale of ICQ recorded in the third quarter of 2010

with an adjustment recorded in the fourth quarter as discussed above

Operating Income Loss

Operating loss was $982.6 million for the year ended December 31 2010 as compared to operating

income of $462.6 million for the year ended December 31 2009 This decline was due to the goodwill

impairment charge recorded in the second quarter of 2010 and the decline in revenues partially offset

by decreases in costs of revenues and in restructuring costs and the gain on the sale of ICQ

Operating income was $462.6 million for the year ended December 31 2009 as compared to an

operating loss of $1163.5 million for the year ended December31 2008 This increase was due to the

goodwill impairment charge recorded in the fourth
quarter

of 2008 and decreases in costs of revenues

and selling general and administrative costs in 2009 partially offset by the decline in revenues and

increase in restructuring costs in 2009

Other Income Statement Amounts

The following table presents our other income statement amounts for the periods presented in

millions

Years Ended December31

%Change %Change
from from

2009 to 2008 to

2010 2009 2010 2008 2009

Other income loss net 13.4 2.5 NM 4.1 39%
Income tax provision benefit 208.7 NM 353.0 41%
Discontinued operations net of tax 8.2 2.9 NM 6.0 52%
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Other Income Loss Net

Other income net was $13.4 million for the year ended December 31 2010 as compared to other

loss net of $2.5 million for the year ended December31 2009 This increase was primarily due to the

$1 7.5 million gain from the sale of our investment in Kayak in the third quarter of 2010 the $8.0 million

gain from the sale of our investment in Brightcove in the fourth quarter of 2010 and $5.2 million of

transaction costs incurred in 2009 related to the spin-off partially offset by unfavorable foreign

currency impacts of $6.6 million and credit facility fees of $6.0 million incurred in 2010

Other loss net was $2.5 million for the year ended December 31 2009 as compared to other loss

net of $4.1 million for the year ended December 31 2008 This decrease was primarily due to favorable

foreign currency impacts and decreases in interest expense partially offset by decreases in interest

income and transaction costs incurred in 2009 related to the spin-off

Income Tax Provision Benefit

We reported loss from continuing operations before income taxes of $969.2 million for the year

ended December 31 2010 Included in the loss for the year ended December31 2010 was goodwill

impairment charge of $1414.4 million In addition we recorded an income tax benefit for the year

ended December31 2010 of $1 78.5 million which is net of the tax effect of the nondeductible portion of

the goodwill impairment charge and includes $300.0 million related to the tax benefit associated with

the Bebo worthless stock deduction Approximately $141.6 million of this benefit was used to offset

2010 federal and state income tax obligations The remaining $158.4 million benefit is expected to offset

cash taxes associated with our future ordinary income and capital gains In addition we recognized

benefit of $30.5 million related to state and local taxes net of the federal income tax effect and benefit

of $8.2 million related to the release of foreign reserves partially offset by $13.1 million provided to

establish valuation allowances the majority of which are related to foreign net operating losses As

result of the goodwill impairment charge the majority of which was non-deductable for income tax

purposes Bebo worthless stock deduction and the discrete items mentioned above the effective tax

rate for the year ended December31 2010 is significantly lower than the statutory U.S federal income

tax rate of 35.0%

Our effective tax rate for income from continuing operations was 18.4% for the year ended

December 31 2010 as compared to an effective tax rate of 45.4% for the year ended December 31

2009 The effective tax rate for the year ended December 31 2010 differed from the statutory U.S

federal income tax rate of 35.O% and the effective tax rates for the year ended December 31 2009

primarily due to the decrease in the effective tax rate related to the nondeductible portion of the

goodwill impairment charge partially offset by the effect of the Bebo worthless stock deduction

For the year ended December 31 2010 we recorded an income tax benefit on discontinued

operations of $27.6 million This benefit was primarily derived from utilization of $21.9 million of the

buy.at capital loss against other capital gains recognized during the year See Note for additional

information on the sale of buy.at and related capital loss deferred tax assets

We recorded income from continuing operations before income taxes of $460.1 million for the year

ended December 31 2009 and loss from continuing operations before income taxes of $1 67.6

million for the year ended December31 2008 Included in the loss for the year ended December31

2008 was goodwill impairment charge of $2207.0 million
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Our effective tax rate was 45.4% for the
year

ended December 31 2009 as compared to negative

effective rate of 30.2% for the year ended December 31 2008 The effective tax rate for the year ended

December 31 2008 included the effect of the $2207.0 miLLion goodwiLL impairment charge the majority

of which was non-deductible for income tax purposes Excluding the effect of this charge our effective

tax rate for the year ended December 31 2008 was 43.0% The increase in the effective tax rate after

excluding the effect of this charge was primarily due to taxable distributions from foreign jurisdictions

The effective tax rate for the year ended December 31 2009 differs from the statutory U.S federal

income tax rate of 35.0% due principally to state income taxes and the impact of uncertain tax positions

Discontinued Operations Net of Tax

The financial results for the years ended December31 2010 2009 and 2008 include the impact of

reflecting the results of operations financial condition and cash flows of buy.at as discontinued

operations We completed the sale of buy.at on February 26 2010 and accordingly the year ended

December 31 2010 included the gain on the sale as well as the results of buy.at for the period from

January 12010 through February 26 2010 See Note in our accompanying consolidated financial

statements for more information regarding this divestiture

Adjusted OIBDA

We use Adjusted OIBDA as supplemental measure of our performance We define Adjusted

OIBDA as operating income before depreciation and amortization excluding the impact of gains and

losses on all disposals of assets including those recorded in costs of revenues and non-cash asset

impairments We consider Adjusted OIBDA to be useful metric for management and investors to

evaluate and compare the ongoing operating performance of our business on consistent basis across

reporting periods as it eliminates the effect of non-cash items such as depreciation of tangible assets

amortization of intangible assets that were primarily recognized in business combinations and asset

impairments as well as the effect of gains and losses on asset sales which we do not believe are

indicative of our core operating performance limitation of this measure however is that it does not

reflect the periodic costs of certain capitalized tangibLe and intangible assets used in generating

revenues in our business Moreover the Adjusted OIBDA measures do not reflect gains and losses on

asset sales or impairment charges related to goodwill intangibLe assets and fixed assets which impact

our operating performance We evaluate the investments in such tangible and intangible assets through

other financial measures such as capital expenditure budgets investment spending leveLs and return

on capital

Adjusted OIBDA is non-OAAP financial measure and may be different than similarly-titled

non-OAAP financial measures used by other companies The presentation of this financial information

is not intended to be considered in isolation or as substitute for the financial information prepared

and presented in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles OAAP
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The following table presents our reconciliation of Adjusted OIBDA to operating income in millions

Years Ended December31

Change Change
from 2009 from 2008

2010 2009 to2OlO 2008 to2009

Operating income 982.6 462.6 NM 1163.51 NM

Add Depreciation 196.3 261.1 310.6 16%
Add Amortization of intangible assets 145.3 137.9 5% 159.0 113%

Add Asset impairments 1426.5 23.1 NM% 2240.0

Add Losses/ on disposal of

consolidated businesses net NM 0.3 100%
Add Losses/ on asset sales 2.0 12.5 201% 1.8 39%

Adjusted OIBDA 677.5 882.2 23% 1544.0

Adjusted OIBDA declined for the year ended December 31 2010 as compared to year ended

December 31 2009 due to the declines in revenues discussed above partially offset by lower costs of

revenues and restructuring costs and the gain on the sale of CO

Adjusted OIBDA declined for the year ended December 31 2009 as compared to year ended

December 31 2008 due to the decline in revenues and increase in restructuring costs partially offset by

decreases in costs of revenues and selling general and administrative costs discussed above

Liquidity and CapitaL Resources

Current FinanciaL Condition

Historically the cash we generate has been sufficient to fund our working capital capital

expenditure and financing requirements While our ability to forecast future cash flows is limited we

expect to fund our ongoing working capital investing and financing requirements through our existing

cash balance and cash flows from operations While we expect to continue to generate positive cash

flows from operations we expect our cash flows from operations to decline in the near term principally

due to the continued decline in the number of domestic AOL-brand access subscribers as well as

related projected decline in search and contextual advertising revenues Growth in cash flows from

operations will only be achieved when and if the growth in earnings from our online advertising

services more than offsets the continued decline in domestic AOL-brand access subscribers In order

for us to achieve such increase in earnings from advertising services we believe it will be important to

increase the number and engagement of consumers who visit our properties so as to enable us to

increase our overall volume of display advertising sold including through our higher-priced channels

and to maintain or increase pricing for advertising Advertising revenues however are more

unpredictable and variable than our subscription revenues and are more likely to be adversely affected

during economic downturns as spending by advertisers tends to be cyclical in line with general

economic conditions

If we are unable to successfully implement our strategic plan and grow the earnings generated by

our online advertising services we may need to reassess our cost structure or seek other financing

alternatives to fund our business We may also consider other financing alternatives as result of our

recent acquisition activities If it is necessary to seek other financing alternatives our ability to obtain
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future financing will depend on among other things our financial condition and results of operations as

well as the condition of the capital markets or other credit markets at the time we seek financing We

currently do not have any ratings from the credit rating agencies so our access to the capital markets

may be limited As part of our ongoing assessment of our business and availability of capital and to

enhance our liquidity position we have divested of certain assets and product lines and may consider

divesting of additional assets or product lines

On September 30 2010 Termination Date we terminated our secured credit agreement dated

December 2009 the Credit Agreement for the Revolving Credit Facility We terminated the Revolving

Credit Facility given our cash balance at that date and projected cash flows from operations From

December 2009 through the Termination Date we did not borrow under the terms of the Revolving

Credit Facility The Revolving Credit Facility was set to expire on December 2010 and we did not pay any

penalties as result of the early termination See Principal Debt Obligations for additional information

on the Revolving Credit Facility

At December31 2010 our cash and equivalents totaled $801.8 million as compared to $146.1

million at December 31 2009

Summary Cash Flow Information

Our cash flows from operations are driven by net income adjusted for non-cash items such as

depreciation amortization goodwill impairment equity-based compensation expense and other

activities impacting net income such as the gains and losses on the sale of assets or operating

subsidiaries Cash flows from investing activities consist primarily of the cash used in the acquisitions

of various businesses as part
of our strategy proceeds received from the sale of assets or operating

subsidiaries and cash used for capital expenditures Cash flows from financing activities prior to the

spin-off relate primarily to our distributions of cash to Time Warner as part of our historical cash

management and treasury operations and for all periods principal payments made on capital lease

obligations

Operating Activities

The following table presents cash provided by continuing operations for the periods presented

millions

Years Ended December31

2010 2009 2008

Net income loss 782.5 248.5

Less Discontinued operations net of tax 8.2 2.9 6.0

Net income loss from continuing operations 790.7 251.4

Adjustments for non-cash and non-operating items

Depreciation and amortization 341.6 399.0 469.6

Non-cash asset impairments 1426.5 23.1 2240.0

Gain loss on sale of investments and consolidated businesses net 132.5 0.2 0.3

Non-cash equity-based compensation 36.1 12.5 19.6

Amounts related to securities litigation and government investigations

net of recoveries 27.9 20.8

Deferred income taxes 183.9 4.7 51.0

All other net including working capital changes 103.6 197.3 241.0

Cash provided by continuing operations 593.5 906.7 937.1
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Cash provided by continuing operations decreased $31 3.2 million for the year ended December 31

2010 as compared to the year ended December 31 2009 Our operating toss was $982.6 million for the

year ended December 31 2010 decrease of $1445.2 milLion as compared to the year ended

December 31 2009 Excluding the decline in operating income related to the $1414.4 milLion non-cash

goodwill impairment charge in 2010 operating income decreased by $30.8 million This decrease in

operating income along with the decrease in cash provided by changes in working capitat drove the

decline in cash provided by continuing operations The decrease in cash provided by working capital

was due primarily to restructuring costs incurred in 2009 and paid in 2010

Cash provided by continuing operations decreased $30.4 miLlion for the year ended December 31

2009 as compared to the year ended December 31 2008 Our operating income was $462.6 million for

the year ended December31 2009 an increase of $1626.1 million as compared to the year ended

December 31 2008 Excluding the decline in operating income for the year ended December 31 2008

related to the $2207.0 million non-cash goodwill impairment charge operating income decreased by

$580.9 million driving the decrease in cash provided by operations The decrease in operating income

was partially offset by an increase in cash provided by working capital driven mainly by lower employee

bonus payments in 2009 and the restructuring charge incurred in 2009 the majority of which was paid

in 2010

Investing Activities

The following table presents cash provided used by investing activities for the periods presented

in millions

Years Ended December31

2010 2009 2008

Investments and acquisitions net of cash acquired 154.0 18.1 $11035.4

Proceeds from disposal of assets and consolidated businesses

net 344.2 2.2 135.3

Capital expenditures and product development costs 95.91 1135.3 172.2

Investment activities from discontinued operations 14.8 10.5

Cash provided used by investing activities 109.1 151.7 1072.3

Cash provided by investing activities was $109.1 million for the year ended December31 2010 as

compared to cash used by investing activities of $151.7 million for the year ended December 31 2009

The increase in cash provided by investing activities was due to the net cash proceeds received in the

year ended December 31 2010 from the sale of ICQ of $1 73.1 million and Pacific Corporate Park of

$1 27.9 million as well as decrease in capital expenditures and product development costs partially

offset by an increase in cash used for acquisitions The increase in cash used for acquisitions is due to

the acquisition of 5mm Media Thing Labs TechCrunch Pictela About.me and StudioNow during 2010

Cash used by investing activities was $151.7 million for the year ended December31 2009 as

compared to cash used by investing activities of $1072.3 million for the year ended December 31 2008

The decrease in cash used by investing activities was due to decrease in cash used for acquisitions as

well as decrease in capital expenditures and product development costs partially offset by decrease

related to proceeds received in 2008 from the sale of our United Kingdom access service business
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Capital expenditures and product development costs are mainly for the purchase of computer

hardware software network equipment furniture fixtures and other office equipment

Financing Activities

The following tabLe presents cash used by financing activities for the periods presented in

millions

Years Ended December31

2010 2009 2008

Debt repayments 54.0

Principal payments on capital Leases 37.5 31.1 25.1

Net contribution from distribution to Time Warner 709.3 210.4

Excess tax benefit on equity-based compensation 2.1

Tax withholdings related to net share settlements of restricted stock

units 4.3

Other 9.2 1.5

Cash provided used by financing activities 41.8 749.6 134.9

Cash used by financing activities was $41.8 million for the year ended December31 2010

compared to $749.6 million for the year ended December 31 2009 This change was due to the $709.3

million of net cash distributed to Time Warner in the year ended December 31 2009 as we swept the

majority of our domestic cash to Time Warner prior to the spin-off

Cash used by financing activities was $749.6 million for the year ended December 31 2009

compared to cash provided by financing activities of $134.9 million for the year ended December31

2008 This change was due to the $709.3 miLlion of net cash distributed to Time Warner in 2009

compared to $210.4 million of net cash contributed by Time Warner in 2008 Cash was contributed by

Time Warner in 2008 as result of our significant acquisitions in 2008 which required cash in excess of

the amount generated by operations

Free Cash FLow

We use Free Cash FLow as supplemental measure of our performance We define Free Cash Flow

as cash provided by continuing operations less capital expenditures product development costs and

principal payments on capital leases We consider Free Cash Flow to be liquidity measure that

provides useful information to management and investors about the amount of cash generated by the

continuing business that after capital expenditures capitalized product development costs and

principal payments on capital leases can be used for strategic opportunities including investing in our

business making strategic acquisitions and strengthening the balance sheet Analysis of Free Cash

Flow also faciLitates managements comparisons of our operating results to competitors operating

results Limitation on the use of this metric is that Free Cash Flow does not represent the total

increase or decrease in cash for the period because it excludes the identified non-operating cash flows

and the resuLts of discontinued operations

Free Cash Flow is non-GAAP financial measure and may be different than similarly-titled

non-GAAP financial measures used by other companies The presentation of this financial information

is not intended to be considered in isoLation or as substitute for the financial information prepared

and presented in accordance with GAAP
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The following table presents our reconciliation of Free Cash Flow to cash provided by continuing

operations millions

Years Ended December31

2010 2009 2008

Cash provided by continuing operations 593.5 906.7 937.1

Less Capital expenditures and product development costs 95.9 135.3 172.2

Less Principal payments on capital leases 37.5 31.1 25.1

Free Cash Flow 460.1 740.3 739.8

Free Cash Flow decreased for the year ended December 31 2010 as compared to the year ended

December 31 2009 This decrease is due to the decline in cash provided by continuing operations

discussed in Summary Cash Flow InformationOperating Activities above partially offset by reduced

capital expenditures and product development costs Free Cash Flow sLightly increased for the year

ended December 31 2009 as compared to the
year

ended December 31 2008 as the decrease in cash

provided by continuing operations was essentially offset by the decrease in capital expenditures and

product development costs We expect to have negative free cash flow for the three months ended

March 31 2011 due to employee bonus payments made in the quarter

Principal Debt Obligations

On December 2009 in connection with the spin-off we entered into Revolving Credit Facility

for use as necessary for general corporate purposes On the Termination Date we terminated our

Revolving Credit Facility given our cash balance at that date and projected cash flows from operations

From December 2009 through the Termination Date we did not borrow under the terms of the

Revolving Credit Facility The Revolving Credit Facility was set to expire on December 82010 and we

did not pay any penalties as result of the early termination

Time Warner guaranteed all of our obligations under the Revolving Credit Facility pursuant to

guarantee dated as of December 2009 the Time Warner Guarantee In connection with the

termination of the Revolving Credit Facility the Time Warner Guarantee also terminated We continue

to engage in certain lease guarantees and other transactions with Time Warner See Note 13 in our

accompanying consolidated financial statements

See Note in our accompanying consolidated financial statements and Part Item lARisk

FactorsWe may need to raise additional capital and we cannot be sure that additional financing will

be available herein for additional information

ContractuaL Obligations and Commitments

We have obligations under certain contractual arrangements to make future payments for goods

and services These contractual obligations secure the future rights to various assets and services to be

used in the normal course of operations For example we are contractually committed to make certain

minimum lease payments for the use of property under operating lease agreements In accordance

with applicable accounting rules the future rights and obligations pertaining to firm commitments

such as operating lease obligations and certain purchase obligations under contracts are not reflected

as assets or liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets
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The following table presents certain payments due under contractual obligations with minimum

firm commitments as of December 31 2010 in millions

Total 2011 2012-2013 2014-2015 Thereafter

Capital lease obligations 93.5 39.2 46.3 8.0

Net operating obligations 325.6 41.5 72.5 65.3 146.3

Purchase obligations 103.0 63.8 35.2 3.3 0.7

Total contractual obligations 522.1 144.5 154.0 76.6 147.0

The following is description of our material contractual obligations at December31 2010

Capital lease obligations represent the minimum lease payments under non-cancelable

capital leases primarily for network equipment financed under capital leases See Note in

our accompanying consolidated financial statements for more information

Net operating lease obligations represent the minimum lease payments under non-cancelable

operating leases net of contractually committed sublease income primarily for our real

estate and operating equipment in various locations around the world Included in the above

table are approximately $21 2.7 million of payments associated with the lease of our corporate

headquarters in New York We have leased our corporate headquarters for non-cancelable

initial lease term that ends February 2023 and we have the option to extend the lease for an

additional five years Monthly rental payments to the landlord under this lease escalate by

approximately 7% after the end of the fifth year and tenth
year

of the lease term In 2010 AOL

entered into new lease of building in California and included in the above table are

approximately $46.8 million of payments associated with this property AOL has leased this

space for non-cancelable initial lease term that ends in June 2017 with no renewal options

Rent is abated for the first nine months of the lease term with partial rent abatement for an

additional three months Only operating expenses are to be paid during the rent abatement

period Also included in the above table are payments for ongoing leases associated with

AOLs restructuring activities AOL has recorded liability on the balance sheet of $18.0

million related to these payments See Note 11 in our accompanying consolidated financial

statements for more information

Purchase obligations as used herein refer to purchase obligation representing an

agreement to purchase goods or services that is enforceable and legally binding on us and

that specifies all significant terms including fixed or minimum quantities to be purchased

fixed minimum or variable price provisions and the approximate timing of the transaction We

expect to receive consideration i.e products or services for these purchase obligations The

purchase obligation amounts do not represent the entire anticipated purchases in the future

but represent only those items for which we are contractually obligated Examples of the types

of obligations included within purchase obligations include narrowband network agreements

and guaranteed royalty payments Additionally we also purchase products and services as

needed with no firm commitment For this reason the amounts presented in the table above

do not provide reliable indicator of our expected future cash outflows For purposes of

identifying and accumulating purchase obligations we have included all material contracts

meeting the definition of purchase obligation e.g legally binding for fixed or minimum

amount or quantity For those contracts involving fixed or minimum quantity but with
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variable pricing terms we have estimated the contractual obligation based on our best

estimate of the pricing that will be in effect at the time the obligation is incurred Additionally

we have included only the obligations represented by those contracts as they existed at

December 31 2010 and did not assume renewal or replacement of the contracts at the end of

their respective terms See Note 11 in our accompanying consolidated financial statements

The liability for uncertain tax positions of $2.3 million is not reflected in the above contractual

obligations table as we are not able to reasonably estimate the timing of payments in individual years

due to uncertainties in the timing of audit outcomes

Off-BaLance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31 2010 we did not have any relationships with unconsolidated special purpose

entities or financial partnerships for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements

Indemnification ObLigations

Prior to the spin-off we indemnified Time Warner for certain tax positions related to AOL taken by

Time Warner from April 13 2006 up to the date of the spin-off in its consolidated tax return At the date

of the spin-off Time Warner assumed the obligation for these tax positions and accordingly we

reversed the recorded liability to Time Warner related to these tax positions with an offsetting

adjustment to equity As of December31 2009 we no longer indemnify Time Warner for any tax

positions taken by Time Warner in its consolidated tax return

In the ordinary course of business we incur indemnification obligations of varying scope and terms

to third parties which could include without limitation customers vendors distributors

licensees lessors purchasers of assets or operating subsidiaries and other parties related to certain

matters including losses arising out of our breach of agreements or representations and warranties

made by us services software data or content to be provided by us taxes tariffs our use of services

software data or content provided by third parties the export or import of our software or data

compliance with applicable laws and regulations infringement of third party intellectual property or

property rights or with respect to the divestiture of assets or operating subsidiaries matters related to

our conduct of the business and tax matters prior to the sale It is not possible to determine the

aggregate maximum potential loss under such indemnification agreements due to the limited history of

prior indemnification claims and the unique facts and circumstances involved in each particular

agreement Historically we have not incurred material costs as result of claims made in connection

with indemnifications provided and as of December 31 2010 management concluded that the

likelihood of any material amounts being paid by us under such indemnifications is not probable As of

December 31 2010 amounts accrued in our financial statements related to indemnification obligations

are not material

Customer Credit Risk

Customer credit risk represents the potential for financial loss if customer is unwilling or unable

to meet its agreed-upon contractual payment obLgations Credit risk originates from sales of

advertising and subscription access service and is dispersed among many different counterparties

We had gross accounts receivable of approximately $323.8 million and maintained an allowance for

doubtful accounts of $16.1 million at December 31 2010 Our exposure to customer credit risk relates
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primarily to our advertising customers and individual subscribers to our subscription access service

and is dispersed among many different counterparties No single customer had receivable balance at

December 31 2010 greater than 10% of totaL net receivables

Customer credit risk is monitored on company-wide basis We maintain comprehensive

approval process prior to issuing credit to third-party customers On an ongoing basis we track

customer exposure based on news reports ratings agency information and direct dialogue with

customers Counterparties that are determined to be of higher risk are evaluated to assess whether

the payment terms previously granted to them should be modified We also continuously monitor

payment levels from customers and provision for estimated uncollectible amounts is maintained

based on historical experience and any specific customer collection issues that have been identified

While such uncollectible amounts have historicaLly been within our expectations and related reserve

balances if there is significant change in uncollectible amounts in the future or the financial condition

of our counterparties across various industries or geographies deteriorates further additional reserves

may be required

Critical Accounting Policies

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with GAAP which require

management to make estimates judgments and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the

consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes Management considers an accounting

policy to be critical if it is important to our financial condition and results of operations and if it requires

significant judgment and estimates on the part of management in its application The development and

selection of these critical accounting policies have been determined by our management Due to the

significant judgment involved in selecting certain of the assumptions used in these areas it is possible

that different parties could choose different assumptions and reach different conclusions We consider

the policies related to the following matters to be critical accounting policies gross versus net

revenue recognition impairment of goodwill and income taxes

Gross versus Net Revenue Recognition

We generate significant portion of our advertising revenues from our advertising offerings on the

Third Party Network which consist of sales of display and video advertising In connection with our

advertising offerings on the Third Party Network we typically act as or use an intermediary or agent in

executing transactions with third parties The significant judgments made in accounting for these

arrangements relate to determining whether we should report revenue based on the gross amount

billed to the customer or on the net amount received from the customer after commissions and other

payments to third parties To the extent revenues are recorded on gross basis any commissions or

other payments to third parties are recorded as costs of revenues so that the net amount gross

revenues less expensel is reflected in operating income Accordingly the impact on operating income is

the same whether we record revenue on gross or net basis

The determination of whether revenue shouLd be reported gross or net is based on an assessment

of whether we are acting as the principal or an agent in the transaction If we are acting as principal in

transaction we report revenue on gross basis If we are acting as an agent in transaction we

report revenue on net basis The determination of whether we are acting as principal or an agent in

transaction involves judgment and is based on an evaLuation of the terms of an arrangement We

recognize revenue on gross basis in situations in which we believe we are the principal in the
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transactions considering all of the indicators set forth in the accounting guidance for principal agent

considerations While none of the indicators individually are considered presumptive or determinative

in reaching our conclusions on gross versus net revenue recognition we place the most weight on the

analysis of whether or not we are the primary obhgor in the arrangement

As an example of the judgments relating to recognizing revenue on gross or net basis we sell

advertising on behalf of third parties on the Third Party Network The determination of whether we

should report our revenue based on the gross amount billed to our advertising customers with the

amounts paid to the Third Party Network website owner for the advertising inventory acquired

reported as costs of revenues requires significant amount of judgment based on an analysis of

several factors In these arrangements we are generally responsible for ti identifying and contracting

with third-party advertisers liii establishing the selling prices of the inventory sold Hiil serving the

advertisements at our cost and expense performing all billing and collection activities including

retaining credit risk and bearing sole liability for fulfillment of the advertising Accordingly in these

arrangements we generally believe we are the primary obligor and therefore report revenues earned

and costs incurred related to these transactions on gross basis During 2010 we earned and reported

gross advertising revenues of $335.6 million and incurred costs of revenues of $251.3 million related to

providing advertising services on the Third Party Network

Impairment of Goodwifl

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment during the fourth quarter or earlier upon the

occurrence of certain events or substantive changes in circumstances that indicate goodwill is more

likely than not impaired which could result from significant adverse changes in the business climate

and declines in the value of our business Such indicators may include sustained significant decline

in our stock price decline in our expected future cash flows significant disposition activity

significant adverse change in the economic or business environment the testing for recoverability of

significant asset group among others The occurrence of these indicators could have significant

impact on the recoverability of goodwill and could have material impact on our consolidated financial

statements

The testing of goodwill for impairment is required to be performed at the level referred to as the

reporting unit reporting unit is either the operating segment level or one level below which is

referred to as component The level at which the impairment test is performed requires judgment

as to whether there exist any components below the operating segment that constitute one or more

self-sustaining businesses with discrete results reviewed by management If the operations below the

operating segment level are determined to be one or more self-sustaining businesses with discrete

results reviewed by management testing is generally required to be performed at this level however if

multiple self-sustaining business units exist within an operating segment an evaluation would be

performed to determine if the multiple business units share resources that support the overall goodwill

balance and should be combined for purposes of this test For purposes of our goodwill impairment

test we operate as single reporting unit as management does not regularly review discrete financial

information below the consolidated unit level

There is considerable judgment involved in determining our operating segments which impacts

our reporting unit conclusion We have concluded that we have one operating segment based on the

fact that our Chief Executive Officer who is also our chief operating decision maker continues to

evaluate performance and make operating decisions based on consolidated financial data Additionally
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there are no managers who are held accountable by our chief operating decision maker or anyone

else for an operating measure of profit or loss for any operating unit below the consolidated unit level

Based in part on our single operating segment conclusion we concluded for purposes of our

impairment analysis that AOL consists of single reporting unit This conclusion is also based on the

shared infrastructure and interdependency of our revenue streams Different judgments relating to the

determination of reporting units could significantly affect the testing of goodwill for impairment and the

amount of any impairment recognized

Goodwill impairment is determined using two-step process The first step involves comparison

of the estimated fair value of our reporting unit to its carrying amount including goodwill If the

estimated fair value of our reporting unit exceeds its carrying amount goodwill of the reporting unit is

not impaired and the second step of the impairment test is not necessary If the carrying amount of our

reporting unit exceeds its estimated fair value then the second step of the goodwill impairment test

must be performed To measure the amount of impairment loss if any we determine the implied fair

value of goodwill in the same manner as the amount of goodwill recognized in business combination

Specifically the estimated fair value of the reporting unit is allocated to all of the assets and liabilities

of that unit including any unrecognized intangible assets as if the reporting unit had been acqired in

business combination and the fair value of the reporting unit was the price paid to acquire the reporting

unit The excess of fair value of the reporting unit over the amounts assigned to its assets and liabilities

is the implied fair value of goodwill Determining the fair value of assets and liabilities of reporting

unit involves significant judgment and impacts the implied fair value of goodwill If the carrying amount

of the reporting units goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of that goodwill an impairment loss is

recognized in an amount equal to that excess

During the second quarter of 2010 we entered into an agreement to sell our lCD operations and we

completed the sale of substantially all of our assets of Bebo In addition we experienced significant

decline in our stock price in the second quarter of 2010 Based on these events we determined that it

was more likely than not that the fair value of our single reporting unit was less than its carrying

amount and accordingly we performed an interim goodwill impairment test as of June 30 2010

The estimated fair value of our reporting unit was determined utilizing market-based approach

as the primary input in this approach was quoted market price in an active market To determine the

estimated fair value of our reporting unit we calculated our market capitalization based on our stock

price and adjusted it by control premium of 25% The premium used to arrive at controlling interest

equity value was determined based on values observed in recent market transactions Determining fair

value of our reporting unit requires the exercise of significant judgment primarily related to the

premium used to arrive at controlling interest equity value used in the market-based approach

Significant changes in the estimates and assumptions used in deriving our control premium could

materially affect the determination of fair value for our reporting unit which could impact the magnitude

of an impairment loss recognized or trigger future impairment Due to the significant judgments used

in deriving our control premium the fair value of our single reporting unit determined in connection

with the goodwill impairment test may not necessarily be indicative of the actual value that would be

recognized in any future transaction

Based on our interim impairment analysis as of June 30 2010 we determined that the carrying

value of our reporting unit exceeded its fair value Accordingly step two of the goodwill impairment test

was performed where we used an independent valuation specialist to assist us in determining the fair

value of our individual assets and liabilities in order to perform hypothetical purchase price
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allocation assuming that the estimated fair value of the reporting unit was the purchase price paid

The implied fair value of goodwill in the hypothetical purchase price allocation was calculated by

comparing the estimated fair value of the reporting unit to the aggregate fair value of recorded assets

and liabilities and unrecognized identifiable intangible assets Our unrecognized identifiable intangible

assets consisted primarily of subscribers to our access service advertiser relationships and technology

related to our advertising operations and the fair value of such assets had the effect of increasing the

magnitude of our goodwill impairment charge Determining the fair value of these unrecognized

identifiable intangible assets in the step two evaluation requires significant judgment including

judgments about appropriate discount rates and our estimated future cash flows which are subject to

change As result of our step two evaluation we recorded goodwill impairment charge of $1414.4

million during the second quarter of 2010

Based on our year-end goodwill impairment analysis as of December 2010 we determined that

the estimated fair value of our sole reporting unit exceeded its carrying value by approximately 42% In

determining the estimated fair value of our sole reporting unit for the annual impairment analysis we

again used market-based approach calculating our market capitalization based on our stock price

adjusted by 25% control premium As the estimated fair value of our sole reporting unit exceeded its

carrying value the second
step

of the goodwill impairment test did not need to be performed and

therefore no additional impairment charge was recorded during 2010 However significant future

decline in estimated fair value of our reporting unit could result in significant goodwill impairment

charge As the market-based approach is based on our market capitalization volatility in our stock

price could have significant impact on the estimated fair value of our sole reporting unit Further the

use of different control premium could have significant impact on the estimated fair value of our

sole reporting unit

Income Taxes

Subsequent to the spin-off AOL began to file its own U.S federal consolidated income tax return

beginning with the short period December 10 December31 2009 and income taxes are presented in

the consolidated financial statements using the asset and liability method prescribed by the accounting

guidance for income taxes Prior to the spin-off income taxes as presented in the consolidated financial

statements represented current and deferred income taxes of Time Warner attributed to us in

manner that is systematic rational and consistent with the asset and liability method prescribed by the

accounting guidance for income taxes AOLs income tax provision prior to the spin-off was prepared

under the separate return method The separate return method applies the accounting guidance for

income taxes to the standalone financial statements as if AOL were separate taxpayer and

standalone enterprise

Income taxes deferred tax assets deferred tax liabilities taxes currently payable/refunds

receivable and tax expense are recorded based on amounts refundable or payable in the current year

and include the results of any difference between GAAP and tax reporting Deferred income taxes

reflect expected future tax benefits assets and future tax costs liabilities The tax effect of

net operating losses capital losses and general business credit carryovers result in deferred tax

assets The net tax effect of temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities

for financial statement and the basis amount for income tax purposes as determined based upon

currently-enacted tax laws and rates result in deferred tax assets and liabilities Significant judgments

are made in computing our income tax provision and deferred income taxes Valuation allowances are

established when management determines it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the
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deferred tax asset wiLL not be realized We consider aLl positive and negative evidence in evaLuating our

ability to realize our deferred income tax assets incLuding our operating results ongoing tax planning

and forecast of future taxable income on jurisdiction by jurisdiction basis Significant judgment is

required with respect to the determination of whether or not valuation aLlowance is required for

certain of our deferred tax assets We performed an analysis of the recoverability of our net deferred

tax assets as of December31 2010 which took into consideration our historicaL operating results

including the effects of goodwilL impairment charges recorded in 2010 and 2008 as weLL as our

projections
of future operating results and taxable income Certain deferred tax assets related to

capital losses certain state net operating Losses the majority of the foreign net operating losses and

certain other foreign temporary differences did not reach the more likely than not reaLizability criteria

and accordingly were already subject to vaLuation aLlowance We analyzed the remaining net deferred

tax assets using aLL positive and negative evidence to determine whether we met the more likely than

not criteria We considered the fact that we have reported cumuLative Loss in recent years which

generally provides negative evidence regarding realizability of deferred tax assets However such

Losses resuLted from the goodwill impairment charges recorded in 2010 and 2008 substantial

majority of which had no impact on taxabLe income as these charges primarily reLated to

non-deductible goodwiLl Our conclusion that such remaining net deferred tax assets were more Likely

than not realizabLe relied primarily on the weight of positive evidence related to projecting future

taxable income based on managements financial projections and based on our historicaL results of

operations excluding impairment charges reLated to non-deductibLe goodwiLL As result of this

analysis we concLuded that our net deferred tax assets other than those for which valuation

allowance was previously recorded continued to be more likely than not to be realized However in the

circumstance that the financiaL projections are not achieved our ability to realize these net deferred tax

assets may be significantly impacted

From time to time we engage in transactions in which the tax consequences may be subject to

uncertainty ExampLes of such transactions include business acquisitions and dispositions including

dispositions designed to be tax-free issues reLated to consideration paid or received and certain

financing transactions Significant judgment is required in assessing and estimating the tax

consequences of these transactions We prepare and file tax returns based on interpretation of tax laws

and reguLations In the normal course of business our tax returns are subject to examination by various

taxing authorities Such examinations may result in future tax and interest assessments by these taxing

authorities In determining our tax provision for financial reporting purposes we establish reserve for

uncertain tax positions unless such positions are determined to be more Likely than not of being

sustained upon examination based on their technical merits That is for financiaL reporting purposes

we only recognize tax benefits taken on the tax return that we believe are more LikeLy than not of

being sustained We record Liability for the difference between the benefit recognized and measured

pursuant to the accounting guidance for income taxes and the tax position taken on our tax return

There is considerabLe judgment involved in determining whether positions taken on the tax return are

more Likely than not of being sustained Actual results could differ from the judgments and estimates

made and we may be exposed to Losses or gains that could be material Further to the extent we

prevail in matters for which Liability has been established or are required to pay
amounts in excess of

the liability established our effective income tax rate in given financial statement period could be

materially affected

Recent Accounting Standards Impacting Future Periods

In October 2009 new guidance was issued reLated to the accounting for multiple-deliverable

revenue arrangements This new guidance amends the existing guidance for allocating consideration in
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multiple deliverable arrangements and estabLishes seLLing price hierarchy for determining the seLLing

price of deliverable This new guidance became effective for us on January 2011 and we have

chosen to appLy the new guidance on prospective basis

We reviewed our historical revenue arrangements and determined the types of arrangements that

could be impacted by this new guidance We concluded that performance-method arrangements which

are the substantiaL majority of our arrangements do not have multiple deLiverables as we are providing

singLe onLine advertising deliverable The revenue arrangements impacted by the guidance generaLLy

consist of arrangements where we are providing online advertising as weLl as non-advertising elements

i.e production of micro-site However we currentLy do not enter into significant number of these

arrangements The adoption is not expected to have material impact on our financial statements for

2011

ITEM 7A QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Market risk is the potentiaL gain or Loss arising from changes in market rates and prices which

historicaLLy for us has been associated primarily with changes in foreign currency exchange rates We

used derivative instruments principally foreign exchange forward contracts which historicaLLy were

entered into by Time Warner on our behaLf to manage the risk associated with exchange rate voLatility

Prior to the spin-off aLL outstanding derivative instruments were settled Subsequent to the spin-off and

through December 31 2010 we have not entered into any derivative instruments or hedges While we

may enter into derivative instruments or hedges in the future we do not currently believe our exposure

to foreign exchange risk is significant
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of AOL Inc

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of AOL Inc as of December 31

2010 and 2009 and the related consolidated statements of operations equity and cash flows for each of

the three years in the period ended December 31 2010 Our audits also included the financial

statement schedule listed in the index at Item 15 These financial statements and schedule are the

responsibility of the Companys management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these

financial statements and schedule based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting

Oversight Board States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain

reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement An

audit includes examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the

financial statements An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant

estimates made by management as well as evaLuating the overall financial statement presentation We

believe that our audits provide reasonabLe basis for our opinion

In our opinion the financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects

the consolidated financial position of AOL Inc at December 31 2010 and 2009 and the consolidated

results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31

2010 in conformity with U.S generally accepted accounting principles Also in our opinion the related

financial statement scheduLe when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as

whole presents fairly in aLL material respects the information set forth therein

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting

Oversight Board States AOL Inc.s internal control over financial reporting as of December31

2010 based on criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee

of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 25 2011

expressed an unqualified opinion thereon

Is Ernst Young LLP

McLean Virginia

February 25 201
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

In miLLions except per share amounts

Years Ended December31

2010 2009 2008

recast recast

Revenues

Advertising 1284.1 1736.7 2083.3

Subscription 1023.6 1388.8 1929.3

Other 109.0 120.3 140.1

TotaL revenues 2416.7 3245.8 4152.7

Costs of revenues 1420.6 1893.2 2273.1

Selling general and administrative 491.2 535.0 640.0

Amortization of intangible assets 145.3 137.9 159.0

Amounts related to securities litigation and government

investigations net of recoveries 27.9 20.8

Restructuring costs 33.8 189.2 16.6

Goodwill impairment charge 1414.4 2207.0

Gain on disposal of assets and consoLidated businesses net 106.0 0.3

Operating income Loss 982.6 462.6

Other income net 13.4

Income from continuing operations before

income taxes 460.1 1167.6

Income tax provision 208.7 353.0

Income from continuing operations 251.4 1520.6

Discontinued operations net of tax 8.2 2.9

Net income Loss 248.5

Less Net loss attributabLe to noncontrolling interests 0.3 0.8

Net income Loss attributabLe to AOL Inc 782.5 248.8

Amounts attributabLe to AOL Inc

Income Loss from continuing operations 790.7 251.7

Discontinued operations net of tax 8.2 6.0

Net income attributabLe to AOL Inc 782.5 248.8

Per share information attributable to AOL Inc common
stockholders

Basic and diLuted income Loss per common share from

continuing operations 2.38

Discontinued operations net of tax 0.08 0.06

Basic and diluted net income loss per common share 2.35

Shares used in computing basic and diLuted income per

common share 106.6 105.8 105.8

See accompanying notes

71



AOL INC

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

In miLlions except per share amounts

December31

2010 2009

trecast

Assets

Current assets

Cash and equivalents

Accounts receivable net of allowances of $16.1 and $31.6

respectively

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Deferred income taxes

Current assets of discontinued operations

Total current assets

Property and equipment net

Goodwill

Intangible assets net

Long-term deferred income taxes

Long-term assets of discontinued operations

Other long-term assets

Total assets

LiabiLities and Equity

Current liabilities

Accounts payable

Accrued compensation and benefits

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities

Deferred revenue

Current portion of obligations under capital leases

Current liabilities of discontinued operations __________ __________

Total current liabilities

Obligations under capital leases 41.5

Restructuring liabilities 28.3

Deferred income taxes 2.4

Long-term liabilities of discontinued operations 7.0

Other long-term liabilities

__________
69.6

Total liabilities
__________

900.2

Commitments and contingencies ISee Note

Equity

Common stock $0.01 par value 106.7 million and 105.8 million shares

issued and outstanding at December31 2010 and December31 2009

respectively

Additional paid-in capital

Accumulated other comprehensive loss net

Accumulated deficit for the period subsequent to November 2009
__________ __________

Total AOL Inc stockholders equity

Noncontrolling interest

Total equity _________ _________

Total liabilities and equity

801.8 146.1

307.7

46.8

82.9

1239.2

529.2

810.9

99.6

258.4

25.0

2962.3

80.0

114.5

236.3

92.6

35.2

558.6

440.0

33.1

44.7

23.5

687.4

704.7

2171.6

210.4

136.8

27.0

25.2

3963.1

100.4

90.7

400.4

113.5

32.4

14.0

751.4

50.9

7.0

58.9

675.4

1.1

3376.6

287.9

802.9

2286.9

2286.9

2962.3

1.1

3355.5

275.1

20.4

3061.1

1.8

3062.9

3963.1

See accompanying notes
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

In millions

Years Ended December31

2010 2009 2008

recast recast

Operations
Net income Loss 1782.5 248.5 1526.6

Less Discontinued operations net of tax 8.2 6.0

Net income Loss from continuing operations 251.4

Adjustments for non-cash and non-operating items

Depreciation and amortization 341.6 399.0 469.6

Asset impairments 1426.5 23.1 2240.0

Loss on sale of investments and consolidated businesses net 0.2

Equity-based compensation 36.1 12.5 19.6

Amounts reLated to securities Litigation and government investigations net

of recoveries 27.9 20.8

Other non-cash adjustments 10.6 7.1 1.7
Deferred income taxes 183.9 4.7 151.0

Changes in operating assets and liabilities net of acquisitions

Receivables 129.6 56.7 83.0

Accrued expenses 168.7 123.6

Deferred revenue 121.5 128.2 21.7
Other baLance sheet changes 53.61 38.1 13.6

Cash provided by continuing operations 593.5 906.7 937.1

Cash provided by discontinued operations 11.1 1.4 3.5

Cash provided by operations 592.4 908.1 933.6

Investing Activities

Investments and acquisitions net of cash acquired 18.1 1035.4
Proceeds from disposaL of assets and consolidated businesses net 344.2 2.2 135.3

Capital expenditures and product development costs 95.9 1172.2

Investment activities from discontinued operations 14.8 10.5

Cash provided used by investing activities 109.1 151.7 1072.3

Financing Activities

Debt repayments 54.0

Principal payments on capital leases 137.5

Net contribution from distribution to Time Warner 709.3 210.4

Excess tax benefit on equity-based compensation 2.1

Tax withholdings related to net share settlements of restricted stock units 4.3
Other 1.5

Cash provided used by financing activities 41.8 749.6 134.9

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and equivalents 14.9 5.5 13.4

Increase in cash and equivalents 654.8 12.3 17.2

Cash and equivaLents at beginning of year 147.0 134.7 151.9

Cash and equivalents at end of year 801.8 147.0 134.7

Less Cash and equivalents of discontinued operations at end of year 0.9

Cash and equivaLents of continuing operations at end of year 801.8 146.1 134.8

SuppLemental discLosures of cash flow information

Cash paid for interest 9.8 7.3 10.5

Cash paid for taxes 9.9 216.8 516.6

The amount of cash paid for taxes includes $21 0.8 miLLion and $504.2 million for the years ended

December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively paid to Time Warner under the tax matters agreement See Note

13 for further information on the tax matters agreement

See accompanying notes
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY

In millions
Accumulated Retained

Common Stock
Additional Other Earnings Non-

Divisional Paid-In Comprehensive Accumulated Controlling

Shares Amount Equity Capital Income Loss Deficit Interest Total Equity

Balance at December31 2007 5474.1 1206.9 2.3 5269.5

Net loss 1525.8 10.8 11526.6

Foreign currency translation

adjustments 95.5 95.5

Comprehensive Loss 1525.8 95.5 0.8 11622.1

Net transactions with Time

Warner 90.3 90.3

Balance at December31 2008 4038.6 1302.4 1.5 3737.7

Net income loss 269.2 20.4 0.3 248.5

Unrealized gains on derivatives

and investments net of tax 0.7 0.7

Foreign currency translation

adjustments 28.0 0.6 28.6

Comprehensive income loss 269.2 27.3 120.4 0.3 276.4

Net transactions with Time

Warner 915.6 1915.6

Distribution to Time Warnerla ... 136.2 36.2

Issuance of common stock 105.8 1.1 11.1

Reclassification of divisional equity

to additional paid-in capitatJb 13356.0 3356.0

Amounts related to equity-based

compensation 0.6 0.6

Balance at December31 2009 105.8$ 1.1 3355.5 1275.1 20.4 1.8 3062.9

Net loss 782.5 782.5

Foreign currency transLation

adjustments 112.8 112.8

Comprehensive Loss 112.8 1782.5 795.3

Deconsolidation of variable

interest entity 11.8 1.8

Spin-off deferred tax

adjustments 127.0 127.0

Issuance of common stock in

connection with acquisitions 0.7 18.7 18.7

Amounts related to equity-based

compensation including tax

benefits 0.2 31.8 31.8

Other 2.4 12.4

Balance at December 31 2010 106.7$ 1.1 3376.6$ 1287.9 802.9 2286.9

AOL completed number of transactions with Time Warner in connection with the spin-off The reduction to AOLs

equity included the reversal of AOLs Liability to Time Warner for certain tax positions which resulted in an increase

to equity of $368.1 miLlion and the reversal of AOLs equity-based compensation deferred tax assets which resulted

in decrease to equity of $436.1 miLlion These amounts were retained by Time Warner following the spin-off

Upon the effective date of the spin-off AOLs divisional equity was recLassified and alLocated between common
stock and additionaL paid-in capitaL based on the number of shares of AOL common stock issued and outstanding

Ic Under the terms of the Companys tax matters agreement with Time Warner amounts payabLe or receivable to

Time Warner prior to the spin-off were reflected as adjustments to divisional equity During the year ended

December31 2010 the Company adjusted its deferred tax assets and estimated amount payabLe to Time

Warner for income taxes prior to the spin-off and these adjustments resulted in $27.0 million reduction to

additional paid-in capital

See accompanying notes
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NOTE 1DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Description of Business

AOL Inc AOL or the Company is Leading global web services company with an extensive

suite of brands and offerings and substantial audience AOLs business spans online content

products and services that it offers to consumers publishers and advertisers AOL is focused on

attracting and engaging consumers and providing valuable online advertising services on both its

owned and operated properties and third-party websites AOL generates advertising revenues from the

owned and operated content products and services which are referred to as AOL Properties through

the sale of display advertising and search and contextual advertising AOL Properties also include co

branded websites owned by third parties for which certain criteria have been met including that the

Internet traffic has been assigned to us valuabLe distribution channel for AOL Properties is through

the AOL-brand subscription access service which is offered to consumers in the United States for

monthly fee AOL also generates advertising revenues through the sale of advertising on third-party

websites which are referred to as the Third Party Network

The Spin-Off

On December 2009 the Company completed its Legal and structural separation from Time

Warner Inc Time Warner via spin-off the spin-off In the spin-off Time Warner shareholders of

record as of p.m on November 27 2009 the record date for the distribution received one share of

AOL common stock for every eleven shares of Time Warner common stock held On December 10

2009 AOL began trading on the New York Stock Exchange as an independent public company

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements for 2009 and 2008 have been recast so that the basis of

presentation is consistent with that of the consolidated financial statements for 2010 This recast

reflects the financial condition results of operations and cash flows of Perfiliate Limited doing

business as buy.at as discontinued operations for all periods presented The financial condition results

of operations and cash flows of the Companys ICC operations ICQ are presented within continuing

operations for all periods presented See Note for additional information on ICQ

Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include OO% of the assets Liabilities revenues expenses

and cash flows of AOL all voting interest entities in which AOL has controlling voting interest

subsidiaries and those variable interest entities for which AOL is the primary beneficiary in

accordance with the consolidation accounting guidance Through the date of the spin-off these

financiaL statements present
the historical consoLidated results of operations financial position and

cash flows of the AOL business that now comprises the operations of the Company Intercompany

accounts and transactions between consolidated companies have been eliminated in consolidation

Prior to the spin-off AOL was subsidiary of Time Warner The financial information prior to the

spin-off may not necessarily reflect AOLs financial position results of operations and cash flows in the

future or what AOLs financial position results of operations and cash flows wouLd have been had AOL

been an independent publicly-traded company

Through the date of the spin-off the consolidated financial statements include allocations of

certain Time Warner corporate expenses Management believes the assumptions and methodologies

underlying the allocation of general corporate overhead expenses are reasonable However such
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expenses may not be indicative of the actual level of expense that would have been incurred by AOL if it

had operated as an independent publicLy-traded company or of the costs expected to be incurred in the

future These allocated expenses reLate to various services that were provided to AOL by Time Warner

including cash management and other treasury services administrative services such as government

relations tax employee benefit administration internal audit accounting and human resources

equity-based compensation pLan administration aviation services insurance coverage and the licensing

of certain third-party patents See Note for further information regarding the allocation of Time

Warner corporate expenses and the relationship with Time Warner

The financial position and operating results of substantially all foreign operations are consolidated

using the local currency as the functional currency Local currency assets and Liabilities are translated

at the rates of exchange on the balance sheet date and local currency revenues and expenses are

translated at average rates of exchange during the period Resulting translation gains or losses are

included in the consolidated balance sheet as component of accumulated other comprehensive

income Loss net

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the financiaL statements in conformity with U.S generally accepted accounting

principles GAAP requires management to make estimates judgments and assumptions that affect the

amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and footnotes thereto Actual results could

differ from those estimates Significant estimates inherent in the preparation of the consolidated

financial statements include accounting for asset impairments reserves established for doubtful

accounts equity-based compensation depreciation and amortization business combinations income

taxes litigation matters and contingencies

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Revenues

The Company generates revenue primarily from advertising and from its subscription access

service Revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists performance under

the contract has begun the contract price is fixed or determinable and collectability of the related fee is

reasonably assured

Advertising Revenues

Advertising revenues are generated on AOL Properties through display advertising and search and

contextual advertising Display advertising revenue is generated by the display
of graphical

advertisements and other performance-based advertising Search and contextual advertising revenue

is generated when user clicks on text-based advertisement on the users screen These text-based

advertisements are either generated from user-initiated search query or generated based on the

content of the webpage the user is viewing Advertising revenues derived from impression-based

contracts in which AOL provides impressions in exchange for fixed fee generalLy stated as

cost-per-thousand impressions are generally recognized as the impressions are delivered An

impression is delivered when an advertisement appears in pages viewed by users Revenues derived

from time-based contracts in which AOL provides minimum number of impressions over specified

time period for fixed fee are recognized on straight-line basis over the term of the contract

provided that AOL is meeting and will continue to meet its obligations under the contract e.g delivery

of impressions over the term of the contract Advertising revenues derived from contracts where AOL
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is compensated based on certain performance criteria are recognized as AOL completes the

contractually specified performance Performance can be measured in terms of click-throughs when

user clicks on companys advertisement or other user actions such as product/customer

registrations survey participation sales Leads or product purchases

In addition to advertising revenues generated on AOL Properties the Company also generates

revenue from its advertising offerings on its Third Party Network which consist primarily of sales of

display and video advertising on behalf of third parties on cost-per-impression basis fixed-fee basis

or on pay-for-performance basis

Gross versus Net Revenue Recognition

In the normal course of business the Company sometimes acts as or uses an intermediary or

agent in executing transactions with third parties The determination of whether revenue should be

reported gross or net is based on an assessment of whether the Company is acting as the principal or

an agent in the transaction If the Company is acting as principal in transaction the Company

reports revenue on gross basis If the Company is acting as an agent in transaction the Company

reports revenue on net basis In determining whether the Company acts as the principal or an agent

the Company follows the accounting guidance for principal agent considerations

Multiple-Element Transactions

Management analyzes contracts with multipLe elements under the accounting guidance for

revenue recognition in multiple-element arrangements Specifically if the Company enters into sales

contracts for the sale of multiple products or services then the Company evaluates whether the

delivered elements have value to the customer on standalone basis and whether it has objective and

reliable evidence of fair value for each undelivered element in the transaction If these criteria are met
then the Company accounts for each deliverable in the transaction separately The Company generally

recognizes revenue for undelivered contractual elements on straight-line basis over the contractual

performance period for time-based elements or once specified deliverables have been provided to the

customer If the Company is unable to determine the fair value of one or more undelivered elements in

the transaction the Company recognizes the aggregate contract value as revenue on straight-line

basis over the period in which the last deliverable in the transaction is provided to the customer

Contemporaneous Purchases and Sales

In the normal course of business AOL enters into transactions in which it purchases product or

service and contemporaneously negotiates contract for the sale of advertising to the customer

Contemporaneous transactions may also involve circumstances where the Company is purchasing or

selling products and services and settling dispute Such arrangements although negotiated

contemporaneously may be documented in one or more contracts

The Companys accounting policy for each transaction negotiated contemporaneously is to record

each element of the transaction based on the respective estimated fair values of the products or

services purchased and the fair values of the products or services sold If the Company is unable to

determine the fair value of one or more of the elements being purchased revenue is recognized for the

contemporaneous transactions on net basis
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Subscription Revenues

The Company earns revenue from its subscription access service in the form of monthly fees paid

by subscribers to its diaL-up Internet access service and such revenues are recognized as the service is

provided

Traffic Acquisition Costs

AOL incurs costs through arrangements in which it acquires online advertising inventory from

publishers for resaLe to advertisers and arrangements whereby partners distribute AOLs free products

or services or otherwise direct traffic to AOL Properties AOL considers these costs to be traffic

acquisition costs or TAC TAC arrangements have number of different economic structures the

most common of which are payments based on cost-per-thousand Impressions or based on

percentage of the uLtimate advertising revenues generated from the advertising inventory acquired for

resaLe ii payments for direct traffic delivered to AOL Properties priced on per-click basis

search engine marketing fees and iii payments to partners in exchange for distributing AOL products

to their users agreements with computer manufacturers to distribute the AOL tooLbar or

co-branded web portal on computers shipped to end users These arrangements can be on fixed-fee

basis often carry reciprocal performance guarantees by the counterparty on variable basis or

in some cases combination of the two TAC agreements with fixed payments are typicaLLy expensed

ratabLy over the term of the agreement TAC agreements with variabLe payments are typicaLLy expensed

based on the voLume of the underLying activity at the specified contractual rates TAC agreements with

combination of fixed fee for minimum amount of traffic delivered or other underlying activity and

variable payments for deLivery or performance in excess of the minimum are typically recognized into

expense at the higher of straight-line or actual performance taking into account counterparty

performance to date and the projected counterparty performance over the term of the agreement

Restructuring Costs

Restructuring costs consist primarily of empLoyee termination benefits and contract termination

costs including lease exit costs One-time involuntary termination benefits are recognized as Liability

at estimated fair value when the plan of termination has been communicated to employees and certain

other criteria are met Special termination benefits offered to employees in connection with voluntary

termination arrangements offered for short period of time for special purpose are recognized as

LiabiLity at estimated fair value when the empLoyees accept the offer and the amount of benefits can be

reasonably estimated With respect to certain contractuaL termination benefits or employee

terminations in certain foreign countries operating under ongoing benefit arrangements LiabiLity for

termination benefits is recognized at estimated fair value when it is probabLe that amounts will be paid

to employees and such amounts are reasonably estimabLe Contract termination costs are recognized

as liability at fair vaLue when contract is terminated in accordance with its terms or when AOL has

otherwise executed written termination of the contract When AOL ceases using faciLity but does not

intend to or is unabLe to terminate the operating Lease AOL records LiabiLity for the present vaLue of

the remaining Lease payments net of estimated subLease income that couLd be reasonably obtained for

the property if the Company does not intend to sublease the faciLity for the remaining term of the

lease Costs associated with exit or disposaL activities are refLected as restructuring costs in the

consolidated statement of operations See Note for additional information about the Companys

restructuring activities
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Equity-Based Compensation

Prior to the spin-off from Time Warner AOL participated in Time Warners equity-based

compensation plans and recorded compensation expense based on the equity awards granted to AOL

employees Subsequent to the spin-off AOL has established an equity-based compensation incentive

plan and AOL employees are no Longer eligible to participate in Time Warners equity-based

compensation plans AOL records compensation expense under the AOL plans based on the equity

awards granted to employees

In accounting for equity-based compensation awards the Company follows the accounting

guidance for equity-based compensation which requires that company measure the cost of employee

services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments based on the grant-date fair value of

the award The cost associated with stock options is estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing

model The cost of equity instruments is recognized in the consolidated statement of operations on

straight-line basis net of estimated forfeitures over the period during which an employee is required to

provide service in exchange for the award This accounting guidance also requires that excess tax

benefits as defined realized from the exercise of stock options be reported as financing cash inflow

rather than as reduction of taxes paid in cash flows from operations Excess tax benefits attributable

to equity-based compensation are recorded as an increase to additional-paid-in-capital and reduction

to taxes payable when the benefit reduces AOLs current tax liability See Note for additional

information on equity-based compensation

Asset Impairments

Goodwill

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment during the fourth quarter or earlier in the year upon the

occurrence of certain events or substantive changes in circumstances that indicate goodwill is more

likely than not impaired The testing of goodwill for impairment is required to be performed at the level

referred to as the reporting unit reporting unit is either the operating segment level or one level

below which is referred to as component For purposes of AOLs goodwill impairment test AOL

operates as single reporting unit

Goodwill impairment is determined using two-step process The first step involves comparison

of the estimated fair value of reporting unit to its carrying amount including goodwill In performing

the first step the Company determines the fair value of its reporting unit using market-based

approach based on the Companys market capitalization If the estimated fair value of the reporting unit

exceeds its carrying amount goodwill of the reporting unit is not impaired and the second step of the

impairment test is not necessary If the carrying amount of reporting unit exceeds its estimated fair

value then the second step of the goodwill impairment test must be performed The second step of the

goodwill impairment test compares the implied fair value of the reporting units goodwill with its

carrying amount to measure the amount of impairment loss if any The implied fair value of goodwill is

determined in the same manner as the amount of goodwill recognized in business combination In

other words the estimated fair value of the reporting unit is allocated to all of the assets and liabilities

of that unit including any unrecognized intangible assets as if the reporting unit had been acquired in

business combination and the fair value of the reporting unit was the price paid to acquire the reporting

unit If the carrying amount of the reporting units goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of that

goodwill an impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal to that excess
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The Company determined that certain events occurring in the second quarter of 2010 constituted

substantive changes in circumstances that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of the

Companys single reporting unit below its carrying amount Accordingly the Company tested its

goodwill for impairment as of June 30 2010 interim testing date which resulted in the Company

recording goodwill impairment charge of $1414.4 million during the second quarter of 2010 See

Note for further information

Long-lived Assets

Long-lived assets including finite-lived intangible assets acquired technology and customer

relationships do not require that an annual impairment test be performed instead long-lived assets

are tested for impairment upon the occurrence of an indicator of impairment Once an indicator of

impairment has occurred the impairment test is based on whether the intent is to hold the asset for

continued use or to hold the asset for sale If the intent is to hold the asset for continued use the

impairment test first requires comparison of estimated undiscounted future cash flows generated by

the asset group against the carrying value of the asset group The Company groups long-lived assets

for purposes of recognition and measurement of an impairment loss at the lowest level for which

identifiable cash flows are largely independent of the cash flows of other assets and liabilities If the

carrying value of the asset group exceeds the estimated undiscounted future cash flows the asset

would be deemed to be impaired Impairment would then be measured as the difference between the

estimated fair value of the asset and its carrying value Fair value is generally determined by

discounting the future cash flows associated with that asset group If the intent is to hold the asset

group for sale and certain other criteria are met the asset group can be disposed of currently

appropriate levels of authority have approved the sale and there is an active program to locate buyer

the impairment test involves comparing the asset groups carrying vaLue to its estimated fair value less

estimated costs of disposal To the extent the carrying vaLue is greater than the asset groups estimated

fair value less estimated costs of disposal an impairment loss is recognized for the difference

AOL recorded non-cash asset impairments related to long-Lived assets held and used and heLd for

sale of $12.1 million $23.1 million and $33.0 miLLion in 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively included in

costs of revenues in the consolidated statement of operations The impairment charge recorded in 2010

included $6.2 million impairment charge related to the sale of Pacific Corporate Park See Note for

more information about this impairment charge The impairment charge recorded in 2009 related

primarily to an intangible asset write-off in connection with the Companys anticipated disposition of

Yedda Inc as well as the write-off of certain trade name intangible assets that were abandoned in

2009 The impairment charge recorded in 2008 related primarily to asset write-offs in connection with

facility consolidations

Income Taxes

Subsequent to the spin-off AOL began filing its own U.S federal consolidated income tax return

with the short period December 10December 31 2009 and income taxes are presented in

the consolidated financial statements using the asset and liability method prescribed by the accounting

guidance for income taxes Prior to the spin-off income taxes as presented in the consolidated financial

statements represented current and deferred income taxes of Time Warner attributed to us in

manner that is systematic rational and consistent with the asset and liability method prescribed by the

accounting guidance for income taxes AOLs income tax provision prior to the spin-off was prepared

under the separate return method The separate return method applies the accounting guidance for

income taxes to the financial statements as if AOL were separate taxpayer and standalone

enterprise
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Income taxes i.e deferred tax assets deferred tax liabilities taxes currently payable/refunds

receivable and tax expense are recorded based on amounts refundable or payable in the current year

and include the results of any difference between GAAP and tax reporting basis Deferred income taxes

reflect the effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and Liabilities and

their tax bases and are stated at enacted tax rates expected to be in effect when the taxes are actually

paid or recovered The tax effect of net operating loss capital Loss and general business credit

carryovers
result in deferred tax assets Valuation allowances are established when management

determines it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax asset will not be

realized The Company considers all positive and negative evidence in evaluating its ability to realize its

deferred income tax assets including its operating results ongoing tax planning and forecast of future

taxable income on jurisdiction by jurisdiction basis

With respect to uncertain tax positions AOL recognizes in the consolidated financial statements

those tax positions determined to be more likely than not of being sustained upon examination based

on the technical merits of the positions AOL records liability for the difference between the benefit

recognized and measured pursuant to the accounting guidance for income taxes and the tax position

taken on its tax return The Company adjusts its estimated liabilities for uncertain tax positions

periodically because of ongoing examinations by and settlements with the various taxing authorities

as well as changes in tax laws regulations and interpretations The consolidated tax provision for any

given year includes adjustments to prior year income tax accruals that are considered appropriate and

any related estimated interest The Companys policy is to recognize when applicable interest and

penalties on uncertain tax positions as part of income tax expense Effective with the spin-off the

Company and Time Warner entered into the Second Tax Matters Agreement which generally provides

that Time Warner shall indemnify AOL for consolidated income taxes relating to any period prior to the

spin-off Accordingly $368.1 million of liabilities for uncertain tax positions were reversed on the

separation date with an offsetting increase to equity Liabilities for uncertain tax positions are included

in other long-term liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet For further information see Note

and Note 13

Certain Risks and Concentrations

The Companys financial instruments include primarily cash and equivalents accounts receivable

accounts payable accrued expenses and other current liabilities Due to the short-term nature of these

assets and liabilities their carrying amounts approximate their fair value Financial instruments that

potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk are primarily cash and accounts

receivable

The Company maintains its cash balances in the form of money market accounts and overnight

deposits The Company maintains cash deposits with banks that at times exceed applicable insurance

limits The Company reduces its exposure to credit risk by maintaining such deposits with high quality

financial institutions that management believes are creditworthy

The Companys exposure to customer credit risk relates primarily to advertising customers and

individual subscribers to AOLs subscription access service and is dispersed among many different

counterparties with no single customer having receivable balance in excess of O% of total net

receivables at December 31 2010 or 2009

For each of the periods presented herein the Company has had contractual relationship with

000gle whereby Google provides paid text-based search advertising and contextual advertising on AOL
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Properties For the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 the revenues associated with the

Google relationship substantially all of which were search and contextual revenues generated on AOL

Properties were $398.4 miLlion $556.7 million and $677.9 million respectively

Property and equipment net located outside the United States which represent tess than of

total assets are not material Revenues in different geographical areas are as follows in millions

Years Ended December31 al

2010 2009 2008

United States 2193.3 2863.6 $3623.6

United Kingdom 102.4 157.9 244.5

Germany 43.3 59.2 82.2

France 17.3 70.3 82.0

Canada 36.5 35.7 48.0

Other international 23.9 59.1 72.4

Total international 223.4 382.2 529.1

Total $2416.7 $3245.8 $4152.7

Revenues are attributed to countries based on the location of customers

Cash and EquivaLents

Cash equivalents primarily consist of money market accounts and overnight deposits that are

readily convertible into cash with original maturities of less than three months Cash equivalents are

carried at cost which approximates fair value

ALlowance for DoubtfuL Accounts

AOLs receivables consist primarily of two components receivables from individual subscribers to

AOLs subscription access service and receivables from advertising customers Management performs

separate evaluations of these components to determine if the balances will ultimately be fully collected

considering managements views on trends in the overall aging of receivabLes as well as past collection

experience In addition for certain advertising receivables management prepares an analysis of

specific risks on customer-by-customer basis Using this information management reserves an

amount that is expected to be uncollectible At December 31 2010 and 2009 the total allowance for

doubtful accounts was $1 6.1 million and $31.6 million respectively Receivables are written off when

amounts are deemed to be uncollectible and internal collection efforts are closed

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost Depreciation which includes amortization of capitalized

software costs and amortization of assets under capital leases is provided on straight-Line basis over

the estimated useful lives of the assets AOL evaluates the depreciation periods
of property and

equipment to determine whether events or circumstances warrant revised estimates of useful lives

Depreciation expense recorded in costs of revenues and selling general and administrative expense

totaled $1 96.3 million $261.1 million and $31 0.6 million for the years ended December31 2010 2009

and 2008 respectively
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Property and equipment including assets under capital tease consist of in millions

December 31
Estimated

2010 2009 UsefuL Lives

Land 40.5 47.0

Buildings and building improvements 275.5 407.6 15 to 40 years

CapitaLized internal-use software costs 561.9 772.0 to years

Leasehold improvements 109.1 164.9 to 15 years

Furniture fixtures and other equipment 778.7 898.1 to years

1765.7 2289.6

Less accumulated depreciation 1236.5 1584.9

Total 529.2 704.7

Land is not depreciated

Capitalized Software

Internal-use Software

AOL capitalizes certain costs incurred for the development of internal-use software These costs

which include the costs associated with coding software configuration upgrades and enhancements

and are related to both AOLs internal systems such as billing and accounting and AOLs user-facing

Internet offerings are included in property and equipment net in the consolidated balance sheet

Research and DeveLopment

Research and development costs related to the Companys software development efforts which

are expensed as incurred are included in costs of revenues and totaled $41.9 million $63.2 million and

$68.8 million for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively These costs consist

primarily of personnel and related costs that are incurred related to the development of software and

user-facing Internet offerings that do not qualify for capitalization

Leases

The Company leases operating equipment and office space in various locations worldwide Lease

obligations are classified as operating leases or capital leases as appropriate Leased property that

meets the capital lease criteria is capitalized and the present value of the future minimum lease

payments is recorded as an asset under capital lease with related capital lease obligation in the

consolidated balance sheets

Rent expense under operating leases is recognized on straight-line basis over the lease term

taking into consideration scheduled rent increases and any lease incentives

Intangible Assets

AOL has significant number of intangible assets including acquired technology trademarks and

customer relationships AOL does not recognize the fair value of internally generated intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in business combinations are recorded at fairvaLue on the Companys
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consolidated balance sheets and are amortized over estimated usefuL lives on straight-Line basis

Intangible assets subject to amortization are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in

circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not be recoverabLe

Advertising Costs

The Company expenses advertising costs as they are incurred Advertising expense to third parties

was $79.3 miLLion $59.1 milLion and $116.2 miLlion for the years ended December31 2010 2009 and

2008 respectiveLy

Loss Contingencies

In the normal course of business the Company is involved in legaL proceedings tax audits

than income taxes and other matters that give rise to potential Loss contingencies The Company

accrues Liability for such matters when it is probabLe that LiabiLity has been incurred and the amount

of Loss can be reasonably estimated In situations where the Company can determine best estimate

within the range of potential loss the Company records the best estimate of the potential Loss as

LiabiLity In situations where the Company has determined range of Loss but no amount within the

range is better estimate than any other amount within the range the Company records the minimum

amount of the range of Loss as liabiLity See Note for information on contingency related to ICQ

Discontinued Operations

In determining whether group of assets disposed to be disposed of shouLd be presented as

discontinued operation the Company makes determination of whether the group of assets being

disposed of comprises component of the entity that is whether it has historicaL operations and cash

fLows that can be cLearLy distinguished operationaLLy and for financiaL reporting purposes The

Company aLso determines whether the cash fLows associated with the group of assets have been

significantLy or wiLL be significantLy eLiminated from the ongoing operations of the Company as resuLt

of the disposal transaction and whether the Company has no significant continuing invoLvement in the

operations of the group of assets after the disposaL transaction If these determinations can be made

affirmativeLy the resuLts of operations of the group of assets being disposed of weLl as any gain or

loss on the disposaL transaction are aggregated for separate presentation apart from continuing

operating results of the Company in the consoLidated financiaL statements See Note for additional

information
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Other Comprehensive Income Loss

Other comprehensive income Ross is incLuded within stockhoLders equity in the consoLidated

baLance sheets and consists of net income Ross and other gains and Losses affecting equity that under

GAAP are excluded from net income Ross For AOL such items consist primariLy of foreign currency

transLation gains Losses The folLowing table sets forth other comprehensive income Loss net of tax

accumulated in stockholders equity in miLLions

Net derivative Net accumulated

Foreign currency Net unrealized financial other

translation gains losses on instrument comprehensive

gains Losses securities gains losses income loss

BaLance at December31 2007 $207.6 0.1 0.6 $206.9

2008 activity 95.5 0.1 0.1 95.5

Balance at December 31 2008 303.1 0.7 302.4

2009 activity 28.0 0.7 27.3

BaLance at December31 2009 275.1 275.1

2010 activity 12.8 12.8

BaLance at December31 2010 $287.9 $287.9

Recent Accounting Standards

Variable Interest Entities

In June 2009 new guidance was issued which modified the provisions of the variabLe interest

consoLidation modeL that specify whether an enterprises variabLe interest or interests give it

controlLing financiaL interest in variable interest entity The modifications define the primary

beneficiary of variable interest entity as the enterprise that has the power to direct the activities of

variabLe interest entity that most significantly impact the entitys economic performance and ii the

obLigation to absorb Losses of the entity that couLd potentiaLLy be significant to the variable interest

entity or the right to receive benefits from the entity that couLd potentially be significant to the variabLe

interest entity In addition this guidance amends the accounting for variabLe interest entities to

require ongoing assessments of whether an entity is the primary beneficiary of variable interest

entity eLiminate the quantitative approach for determining the primary beneficiary of variable

interest entity Hi amend certain guidance for determining whether an entity is variabLe interest entity

and iv require enhanced discLosures This guidance became effective for AOL on January 2010 and

as resuLt of applying this guidance the Company deconsoLidated an internationaL variabLe interest

entity on January 2010 This deconsoLidation did not have materiaL impact on the Companys
consoLidated financiaL statements

NOTE 2INCOME LOSS PER COMMON SHARE

Basic income per common share is caLcuLated by dividing net income attributable to AOL common
stockholders by the weighted average number of shares of common stock issued and outstanding

during the reporting period Diluted income
per common share is caLcuLated to give effect to aLL

potentiaLLy diLutive common shares that were outstanding during the reporting period The dilutive

effect of outstanding equity-based compensation awards is refLected in diluted income
per common

share by appLication of the treasury stock method onLy in periods in which such effect wouLd have been
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dilutive For the year ended December 31 2010 the Company had 5.8 million of weighted-average

potentially dilutive common shares that were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per

share because to do so would be anti-dilutive for that year For the year ended December31 2009 the

number of weighted-average potentially dilutive common shares was not significant

On November 2009 the Company converted from AOL Holdings LLC limited liability company

wholly owned by Time Warner to AOL Inc corporation wholly owned by Time Warner On the

distribution date of December 2009 105.8 million shares of $0.01 par value AOL common stock were

distributed to Time Warner shareholders of record as of p.m on November 27 2009 This share

amount is being utilized for the calculation of basic income loss per common share for periods

presented prior to 2009 as no common stock of the Company existed prior to November 2009 For

periods prior to 2009 the same number of shares is being used for diluted income loss per common

share as for basic income loss per common share as no common stock of the Company existed prior

to November 2009 and no dilutive securities of the Company were outstanding for any prior period

For the year ended December 31 2009 in determining the weighted average number of common

shares outstanding for basic income loss per common share the Company assumed 105.8 million

shares were outstanding for the period from January 2009 through December 2009 Certain stock

options and restricted stock units granted to employees in 2009 have dilutive effect on income loss

per share however the dilutive effect is not significant to the total weighted-average shares

outstanding for 2009 since dilutive shares were only outstanding from December 10 2009 through

December 31 2009 Accordingly for the year ended December 31 2009 AOLs weighted average

number of common shares outstanding for diluted income loss per common share was 105.8 million

For the year ended December31 2010 the Company had 106.6 million weighted-average shares

outstanding which were used to calculate basic income loss per common share The Company did not

include any weighted-average potentially dilutive common shares in the computation of diluted income

loss per common share for the year ended December 31 2010 because to do so would have been

anti-dilutive for the period
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NOTE 3GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

December31 2008

Amount reclassified to discontinued operations

Acquisitions

Impairments

Deferred tax adjustments

Translation adjustments

December31 2009

Acquisitions

Dispositions

Impairments

Deferred tax adjustments

TransLation adjustments

December3l2010

Impairment Testing of Goodwill

Goodwill is tested annuaLLy for impairment in December or earlier upon the occurrence of certain

events or substantive changes in circumstances that indicate goodwill is more likely than not impaired

During the second quarter of 2010 the Company entered into an agreement to seLL its ICQ

operations and the Company compLeted the sale of substantiaLLy all of its assets of Bebo Inc

We expect to treat the common stock of Bebo as worthLess for U.S income tax reporting purposes in

our 2010 consolidated U.S federal income tax return In addition the Company experienced

significant decline in its stock price in the second
quarter

of 2010 As of June 30 2010 the Companys
stock price had declined 26% from its closing stock price on ApriL 27 2010 The Company determined

that these events occurring in the second
quarter of 2010 constituted substantive changes in

circumstances that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of the Companys singLe reporting

unit below its carrying amount Accordingly the Company tested its goodwiLl for impairment as of

June 30 2010 the interim testing date

In determining the fair vaLue of the Companys sole reporting unit for the interim impairment

anaLysis the Company used market-based approach as the primary input in this approach was

quoted market price in an active market To determine the estimated fair value of the Companys sole

reporting unit the Company calculated its market capitalization based on its stock price and adjusted it

by control premium of 25% The premium used to arrive at controLLing interest equity value was

determined based on values observed in recent market transactions Based on the Companys interim

impairment analysis as of June 30 2010 the carrying value of the Companys singLe reporting unit

exceeded its fair vaLue Accordingly step two of the goodwiLl impairment test was performed In

performing step two of the goodwill impairment test the Company utilized significant unobservabLe

inputs including the control premium and the valuation of the Companys unrecognized intangible

assets which overaLl causes the determination of the implied fair value of goodwill to faLl within leveL

three of the GAAP fair vaLue hierarchy As result of the
step two evaLuation the Company recorded

goodwilL impairment charge of $1414.4 million during the second quarter of 2010

summary of changes in the Companys goodwiLl during the years ended December31 2010 and

2009 is as foLLows millions

Gross Goodwill Impairments Net Goodwill

$36372.2 $34210.7 2161.5

126
75 7.5

65 6.5

217 217

363823 34210.7 2171.6

132.0 132.0

503
1414.4

10.4

17.6

$36436.0 810.9
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Based on our annual goodwill impairment analysis performed as of December 12010 we have

determined that the estimated fair value of our sole reporting unit exceeded its carrying value by

approximately 42% In determining the fair value of the Companys sole reporting unit for the annual

impairment analysis the Company again used market-based approach calculating its market

capitalization based on its stock price adjusted by 25% control premium As the estimated fair value of

the Companys sole reporting unit exceeded its carrying value the second step of the goodwill

impairment test did not need to be performed and therefore no additional impairment charge was

recorded during 2010

In connection with the annual impairment analysis performed during the fourth quarter of 2009

the results of the Step process indicated that the fair value of AOL exceeded its carrying value As

result the second step of the goodwill impairment test did not need to be performed and therefore no

impairment charge was recorded for 2009

In connection with the annual impairment analysis performed during the fourth quarter of 2008

AOL determined that the carrying value of its goodwill was impaired and accordingly recorded

goodwill impairment charge of $2207.0 million to write goodwill down to its implied fair value

IntangibLe Assets

The Companys intangible assets and related accumulated amortization at December 31 2010 and

2009 consisted of the following in millions

December 31 2010 December31 2009

AccumuLated Accumulated

Gross Amortization al Net Gross Amortization iai Net

Acquired technology 848.8 7839 64.9 873.5 770.5 103.0

Customer relationships 174.5 150.2 24.3 205.4 139.3 66.1

Trade names 59.3 55.1 42 96.4 65.6 30.8

Other intangible assets 60.0 53.8 6.2 55.8 45.3 10.5

Total 1142.6 $1043.0 $99.6 1231.1 $1020.7 210.4

Amortization of intangible assets is provided on straight-line basis over their respective useful

lives which range from two to seven years The Company evaluates the useful lives of its finite-

lived intangible assets each reporting period to determine whether events or circumstances

warrant revised estimates of useful lives

The Company recorded amortization expense of $145.3 million $137.9 million and $159.0 million

for the years ended December31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively Based on the amount of intangible

assets as of December 31 2010 the estimated amortization expense for each of the succeeding five

years ending December 31 is as follows in millions

2011 74.8

2012 11.1

2013 6.5

2014 4.1

2015 3.1

Total 99.6

The amounts above may vary as acquisitions and dispositions occur in the future
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NOTE 4BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS DISPOSITIONS AND OTHER SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS

The businesses acquired by the Company during the periods presented herein were all in their

early stages of development This fact along with market conditions at the time of acquisition

contributed to purchase prices that resulted in the allocation of significant portion of such purchase

prices to goodwill

2010 Acquisitions

AOL completed the following acquisitions during 2010 Unaudited pro forma results of operations

assuming these acquisitions had taken place at the beginning of each period are not provided because

the historical operating results of the acquired companies were not significant and pro forma results

would not be significantly different from reported results for the periods presented

StudioNow Inc

On January 22 2010 the Company completed the acquisition of StudioNow nc StudioNow
provider of proprietary digital platform that aLlows clients to create produce manage and distribute

professional quaLity videos at scale for purchase price of $32.1 million Of the total consideration

$14.1 million was paid through the issuance of 594749 shares of AOL common stock valued as of the

closing date Of the remaining $18.0 million $14.0 million was paid in cash at the closing date and $4.0

million reflects the present value of the cash consideration due two years after the closing date

This business was acquired to attract and engage more Internet users and drive high volumes of

video content production through StudioNows pLatform which along with market conditions at the

time of acquisition contributed to purchase price that resulted in the allocation of significant portion

of the purchase price to goodwill AOL recognized $26.7 million of goodwill which is not deductible for

tax purposes and $4.3 million of intangible assets related to this acquisition The intangible assets

related to this acquisition consist of technology acquired customer relationships trade names and

other assets to be amortized on straight-line basis over period of three years

Minutes Ltd

On September 28 2010 the Company compLeted the acquisition of Minutes Ltd 5mm Medial

company that provides syndication platform for web-based videos for purchase price of $64.7

million net of cash acquired The acquisition offers AOL and partners significant web distribution

which along with market conditions at the time of acquisition contributed to purchase price that

resulted in the allocation of significant portion of the purchase price to goodwill The Company

recorded $49.6 million of goodwill which is not deductible for tax purposes and $20.0 million of

intangible assets related to this acquisition The intangible assets associated with this acquisition

consist of technology advertiser relationships and trade name to be amortized on straight-line

basis over weighted average period of approximately five years

Other 2010 Acquisitions

The Company also completed the following acquisitions during the year ended December 31 2010

On September 28 2010 the Company completed the acquisition of Thing Labs Inc Thing

Labs company that produces software to simplify the creation and sharing of web content

This acquisition will allow the Company to continue its initiative to provide consumers with the

best venues to discover and share content
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On September 29 2010 the Company completed the acquisition of TechCrunch nc

LlechCrunchJ company that owns and operates network of websites dedicated to

technology news information and analysis This business was acquired to enhance AOLs

offerings of high-quality technology-oriented content

On December 15 2010 the Company completed the acquisition of Pictela Inc Pictela

provider of rich media advertising formats used by agencies and publishers This business was

acquired to further the Companys ability to provide high quality advertising content

On December 20 2010 the Company completed the acquisition of About.me Inc About.me

company that provides web service product that empowers people to create single

personal profile page that presents their online identities together in one place simplifying the

social experience across the web This business was acquired to enhance the Companys

ability to provide relevant and meaningful content to consumers

The aggregate purchase price of these acquisitions was $63.8 million net of cash acquired AOL

recorded $55.7 million of goodwill which is not deductibLe for tax purposes and $10.1 milLion of

intangible assets related to these acquisitions

The intangible assets associated with these acquisitions consist of acquired technology

trademarks non-compete agreements and customer relationships to be amortized on straight-line

basis over weighted average period of approximately three years

AdditionaL Information on 2010 Acquisitions

In addition to the purchase prices paid for these businesses acquired in 2010 the Company agreed

to pay up to $37.7 million in aggregate to certain employees of the acquired companies over the next

three years contingent on their future service to AOL The payments of up to $37.7 million will be

recognized as compensation expense on an acceLerated basis over requisite service period of up to

three years For tax purposes approximately 4O/c of the incentive compensation is expected to be

treated as additional basis in the acquired companies and tax deduction will only be obtained upon

disposition of the related acquisitions For the year ended December 31 2010 AOL recorded

compensation expense of $6.2 million related to incentive compensation arrangements made in

connection with the 2010 acquisitions listed above

2008 Acquisitions

AOL completed the following acquisitions during 2008

Be bo

On May 14 2008 the Company completed the acquisition of Bebo global social media network

for $859.8 miLlion net of cash acquired of which $852.0 miLLion was paid in cash in May 2008 and $7.8

million of which was paid by the Company in the first quarter of 2009 AOL recognized $765.8 million of

goodwill which is not deductible for tax purposes and $86.5 million of intangible assets related to this

acquisition
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Perfitiate Limited doing business as buy.at

On February 2008 the Company completed the acquisition of Perfiliate Limited Lbuy.at

company based in the United Kingdom which provides performance-based advertising services to

advertisers for $1 25.2 milLion in cash net of cash acquired AOL recognized $99.3 million of goodwill

which is not deductible for tax purposes and $32.5 milLion of intangible assets related to this

acquisition

As discussed below buy.at and substantially all of the assets of Bebo were sold during 2010

2011 Acquisition Activity

Unaudited pro forma results of operations assuming these acquisitions had taken place at the

beginning of each period are not provided because the historical operating results of the acquired

companies were not significant and pro forma results wouLd not be significantly different from reported

results for the periods presented

goviraL

On January31 2011 the Company completed the acquisition of goviral A/S goviral company
that distributes branded online video for media agencies creative agencies and content producers for

purchase price of $74.1 million net of cash acquired In addition to the purchase price paid for this

business the Company agreed to pay up to $22.6 million to certain employees of goviral over the

expected future service period of two years contingent on their future service to AOL The payments of

up to $22.6 million will be recognized as compensation expense on an accelerated basis over the

expected future service period of two years For tax purposes significant majority of the incentive

compensation is expected to be treated as additional basis in goviral and tax deduction will only be

obtained upon disposition of goviral

It is anticipated that significant portion of the purchase price will be allocated to intangible assets

and goodwill The Company has not completed the allocation of the consideration transferred to

acquired assets and liabilities assumed The acquisition offers AOL and partners significant web

distribution which along with market conditions at the time of acquisition contributed to purchase

price that is expected to result in the allocation of significant portion of the purchase price to goodwill

The Huffington Post

On February 2011 the Company entered into an agreement and plan of merger with

TheHuffingtonPost.com Inc The Huffington Post The Huffington Post is an innovative internet

source of online news commentary and information This merger is expected to enhance AOLs ability

to serve its audiences across several platforms including social local video mobile and tablet

AOL will acquire The Huffington Post for estimated aggregate consideration of approximately $315

million subject to working capital adjustments and reduction for indebtedness and transaction

expenses of The Huffington Post that remain unpaid as of closing

This acquisition is subject to customary conditions including expiration of the applicable waiting

period under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976 as amended no material

adverse effect with respect to The Huffington Post having occurred and the execution of empLoyment

arrangements by certain employees of The Huffington Post The acquisition is expected to close by April

2011
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Disposition-Related Activities

Buy.at

On February 26 2010 the Company sold buy.at to Digital Window Limited for $16.4 million in net

cash The Company recorded pre-tax Loss on this sale of $18.9 million calculated as the excess of the

carrying value of the net assets sold goodwill allocated to the sale of $1 2.6 million over the

cash proceeds net of transaction costs Due primarily to the Companys ability to utilize portion of the

capital loss deferred tax asset generated by the sale of buy.at to offset capital gains the Company
recorded an income tax benefit on the sale of buy.at of $27.6 million for the year ended December 31

2010 The financial condition results of operations and cash flows of buy.at have been reflected as

discontinued operations for all periods presented The results of operations of buy.at excluding the

related income tax benefit were not material to the Companys consolidated financial statements

As discussed above the sale of buy.at generated capital loss deferred tax asset in the United

States of $65.8 million As result of the Companys disposition activity to date $21.9 million of the

deferred tax asset is expected to be utilized to offset capital gains generated during the year ended

December 31 2010 however significant uncertainty exists regarding the future realization of the

remaining portion of this capital loss deferred tax asset which may be carried forward for five years to

offset any capital gains Accordingly the valuation allowance associated with the capital loss deferred

tax asset as of December31 2010 was $43.9 million If in the future the Company believes that it is

more likely than not that all or an additional portion of this deferred tax asset will be realized

reduction in the valuation allowance will be recognized within the statement of operations for that

respective period

Bebo

On June 16 2010 the Company sold substantially all the assets of Bebo resulting in pretax loss

of approximately $1.8 million The Company expects to treat the common stock of Bebo as worthless

for U.S income tax reporting purposes in its 2010 consolidated U.S federal income tax return The

Companys current estimated U.S income tax basis in Bebo is $759.3 million As result of the

worthless stock deduction for the common stock of Bebo under U.S income tax law the Company
recorded deferred tax asset and corresponding income tax benefit of $300.0 million in 2010 The

Company utilized $141.6 million of this deferred tax asset to offset federal and state income tax

obligations Following this transaction the Company expects to continue to generate advertising

revenues on AOL Properties from customers who previously purchased advertising on Bebo properties

and accordingly under the accounting guidance for presentation of financial statements the financial

condition results of operations and cash flows of Bebo have not been reflected as discontinued

operations

ICQ

On July 2010 the Company completed the sale of CO for $187.5 million in cash to Digital Sky

Technologies Limited now known as Mail.ru Group Limited lCD provides
online instant

messaging services and products as well as software related to such services and products primarily

to international online consumers Sales proceeds included $5.4 million which was allocated to the

Companys obligation to provide certain network infrastructure related services to the buyer This

amount has been deferred and will be recognized as other income when the obligation is fulfilled
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As result of the sale the Company recorded pre-tax gain on this sale of $119.6 million during

the third quarter of 2010 From tax perspective $40.5 million of the gain related to the sale of CO

qualifies as capital gain The tax effect of this capital gain is being offset by portion of the capital

loss deferred tax asset recorded in connection with the sale of buy.at

After the disposition of ICC the Committee on Foreign Investment in the United States CFIUS
contacted Mail.ru and subsequently Mail.ru and the Company submitted joint voluntary filing to

CFIUS commencing review of the transaction under Section 721 of Title VII of the Defense Production

Act of 1950 as amended AOL and Mail.ru are currently working with CFIUS to address their concerns

As result of this process it is probable that the Company will agree to provide certain network

infrastructure and other operational services to Mail.ru at level and for period in excess of the

Companys contractual obligations under the original transaction agreements as well as other

modifications to the parties respective obligations under the transaction agreements The Companys
estimate of the range of loss to be incurred as result of these developments is $13.6 million to $28

million Given that no amount within the range of Loss appears to be better estimate as of the date of

issuing these financial statements the Company accrued loss of $13.6 million the low end of the

range of estimated loss in the fourth quarter of 2010 and reflected such loss as reduction to the

previously recorded $119.6 million gain The estimated loss includes the Companys best estimate of

the fair value of the future services anticipated to be provided without remuneration as well as the

writeoff of certain amounts due from Mail.ru The Company will continue to evaluate the estimate of

the loss as the matter progresses toward resolution The $5.4 million of sales proceeds allocated to

performance obligation of AOL continues to be deferred at December31 2010 and will be recognized

when the obligation is fulfilled at the end of the extended service period

During the second and third quarters of 2010 the Company concluded that ICC met the

requirements for presentation as discontinued operations However given the probable extension and

modification of the services the Company is providing to ICQ the Company subsequently concluded that

the ICC operations for the period prior to the sale no longer meets the criteria for presentation as

discontinued operations As result the Company has recast the assets and liabilities of ICC as of

December 31 2009 from assets and liabilities of discontinued operations to their natural classifications

within the accompanying 2009 consolidated balance sheet Results of discontinued operations and cash

flows for the years ended December31 2009 and 2008 were not impacted by the recast as ICC was

never presented as part of discontinued operations for those historical annual periods

Other Dispositions

During 2010 the Company sold its investments in Kayak Software Corporation and Brightcove Inc

for $35.9 million in net cash proceeds The Company recorded pre-tax gain of $25.5 million on these

sales within Other income net in the consolidated financial statements

During 2010 the Company sold portion of its campus in Dulles Virginia referred to as Pacific

Corporate Park for sales price of $144.5 million in cash exclusive of customary closing costs In

accordance with the accounting guidance for property plant and equipment assets held for sale are

measured at the lower of the carrying value or fair value less costs to sell Upon meeting the assets

held for sale criteria during the third quarter of 2010 the Company determined the carrying value of the

Pacific Corporate Park assets exceeded their fair value determined by the selling price less costs to

sell As result an impairment charge of $6.2 million was recorded within costs of revenues during

2010 The Company did not record significant gain or loss upon completion of this sale
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Summary of Discontinued Operations

Discontinued operations for the years ended December31 2010 2009 and 2008 reflect the

financial condition results of operations and cash flows of buy.at The consolidated statement of

operations for the year ended December 31 2010 includes the results of operations of buy.at for the

period from January 12010 through the sale date of February 26 2010 the pre-tax loss on the sale of

buy.at and the income tax benefit associated with the capital loss generated by the buy.at sale

Financial data for discontinued operations for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 is as

follows in millions

Total revenues

Pro-tax loss before loss on sale of business

Pre-tax loss on sale of business

Income tax tprovision/benefit

Net income Loss attributable to AOL Inc
______ ______ ______

NOTE 5LONG-TERM DEBT AND OTHER FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS

CapitaL Leases

Capital lease obligations consist of $in millions

Assets recorded under capital lease obligations totaled $163.7 million and $138.4 miLlion at

December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively Related accumulated amortization totaled $84.5 million and

$67.0 million at December31 2010 and 2009 respectively

Future minimum capital lease payments at December 31 2010 are as follows in millions

2011 $39.2

2012 28.2

2013 18.1

2014 8.0

Total 93.5

Amount representing interest 7.4

Present value of minimum lease payments 86.1

Current portion 35.2

Total long-term portion
50.9

Years Ended December31

2010 2009 2008

2.0 11.6 13.1

0.51 4.9 4.0

18.9

27.6 2.0 2.0

8.2 2.9 6.0

Capital lease obligations

Amount due within one year

Total long-term capital lease

obligations

Weighted Average
Outstanding Amount

interest Rate at

December 31 2010 Maturities December 31 2010 December31 2009

5.81% 2011-2014 $86.1 $73.9

35.2 32.4

$50.9 $41.5
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Senior Secured Revolving Credit FaciLity

On December 2009 in connection with the spin-off the Company entered into secured credit

agreement Credit Agreement for 364-day $250.0 million senior secured revoLving credit facility

Revolving Credit FaciLity for use as necessary for generaL corporate purposes On

September 30 2010 Termination Date the Company terminated its RevoLving Credit FaciLity

based on an analysis of the Companys cash balance at that date and projected cash flows from

operations From December 2009 through the Termination Date the Company did not borrow under

the terms of the RevoLving Credit FaciLity The Revolving Credit FaciLity was set to expire on December

2010 and the Company did not pay any penaLties as result of the earLy termination

Time Warner guaranteed aLL of the Companys obligations under the RevoLving Credit Facility

pursuant to guarantee dated as of December 2009 Time Warner Guarantee In connection

with the termination of the RevoLving Credit Facility the Time Warner Guarantee aLso terminated The

Company continues to engage in certain Lease guarantees and other transactions with Time Warner

See Note 13 for additionaL information on these transactions

In relation to the Revolving Credit Facility the Company and each of the Companys materiaL

wholly owned domestic subsidiaries entered into security agreement in favor of Bank of America

NA as coLLateraL agent Security Agreement for the benefit of the secured parties thereunder

connection with the termination of the RevoLving Credit FaciLity the Security Agreement also

terminated

Interest Expense

Interest expense amounted to $11.2 million $5.2 milLion and $8.0 million for the years ended

December31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively and is included in Other income net on the

consoLidated statements of operations Interest expense for 2010 consists of $4.3 million related to

interest on capitaL leases and $6.9 million reLated to credit facility fees paid to Time Warner The

weighted-average interest rate on AOLs capital Lease obligations was 581% and 5.67% at

December31 2010 and 2009 respectiveLy The rate on capitaL lease obLigations due within one year was
5.78% at December 31 2010

NOTE 6INCOME TAXES

The components of income from continuing operations before income taxes were as foLLows

in miLLions

Years Ended December31

2010 2009 2008

recast recast

Domestic 583.6

Foreign

TotaL 460.1 1167.6
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The components of the provision for income tax expense benefit provided on income from

continuing operations were as follows in millions

35.0% 35.0%

3.7 3.6

50.8

1.4 1.9

0.5 3.8

31.0

Income taxes related to the year ended December 31 2010 and the short period from

December 10 2009 through December 31 2009 are calculated based on AOLs separate income tax

status For the periods prior to the spin-off AOLs income taxes are computed and reported under the

separate return method The separate return method applies the accounting guidance for income

taxes to the financial statements as if AOL were separate taxpayer and standalone enterprise for the

entire period Prior to the spin-off AOL was included in Time Warners consolidated U.S federal

income tax return filings

Years Ended December31

2010 2009 2008

recast recast

U.S federal

Current

Deferred

Foreign

Current

Deferred

State and local

Current

Deferred

Total

2.0

167.7

172.3 309.7

11.5 35.1

6.2 1.1 12.6

3.2 0.8 2.2

9.6 40.0 81.7

13.0 2.4 13.7

178.5 208.7 353.0

The items accounting for the difference between income tax expense benefit computed at the

federal statutory rate of 3S% and the provision for income taxes were as folLows

Years Ended December31

2010 2009 2008

recast recast

U.S federal statutory rate

State and local taxes net of U.S federal tax benefits

Non-deductible goodwill

Change in valuation allowance for deferred tax assets

Unrecognized tax liabilities benefits

Worthless stock deduction

Other

Total

35.0%

3.6

59.6

0.41

2.2

0.6

30.2

0.4

18.4%

1.1

45.4%
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The significant components of AOLs deferred tax assets and Liabilities were as foLLows

miLLions

December 31

2010 2009

recast

Deferred tax assets

Reserves and allowances 18.9 38.8

Equity-based compensation 19.0 4.2

Tax loss and credit carryforwards 1448.4 1301.0

IntangibLe assets and goodwilL 15.4

Other 212.9 239.8

SubtotaL 1714.6 1583.8

Less Valuation aLLowance

Total deferred tax assets 545.0 581.4

Deferred tax LiabiLities

CapitaLized software 19.3

UnreaLized foreign exchange tax gain 175.3

IntangibLe assets and goodwiLl 161.1

Other 27.9

Total deferred tax liabilities

Net deferred tax assets 341.3 179.1

AOL had net operating Losses from various foreign jurisdictions of $4094.0 miLLion and $4383.0

miLLion as of December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively Many of these foreign losses are attributable to

specific operations and may not be utilized to offset taxable income of other operations of AOL The

expiration period of the foreign net operating losses ranges from 2011 to indefinite including

approximateLy $4.9 million of Canadian net operating Losses set to expire in 201 The valuation

allowance outstanding at December31 2010 and 2009 is primariLy attributabLe to the foreign net

operating loss carryforwards

AOL had $456.9 miLLion and $81.3 milLion of federal net operating loss carryforwards as of

December 31 2010 and 2009 respectiveLy Certain of these federal net operating Loss carryforwards

are subject to statutory annuaL use Limitations AOL had approximateLy $1057.4 miLlion and $771.2

miLLion of net operating Loss carryforwards in various state and local jurisdictions as of December 31
2010 and 2009 respectiveLy Certain of these state tax Losses are subject to vaLuation alLowance

because they are attributabLe to specific operations and may not be utiLized against taxabLe income of

other operations of AOL These federaL state and LocaL net operating Loss carryforwards will expire

between 2011 and 2030

AOL has capitaL loss carryforward of $110.5 miLLion as of December 31 2010 which wiLl expire by

the end of 2015 Significant uncertainty exists regarding the future realization of the $43.9 miLlion

deferred tax asset related to this capitaL Loss carryforward and as resuLt AOL has recorded fuLl

vaLuation allowance on this deferred tax asset as of December31 2010

During the year ended December 31 2010 AOL increased its valuation aLLowance by $167.2 milLion

primariLy related to foreign net operating Losses and federal capital Losses As of December31 2010
the totaLvaLuation allowance of $1169.6 million consisted of $1125.7 miLLion on net operating Loss
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carryforwards and some foreign net deferred tax assets and $43.9 miLLion on capitaL Loss

carryforwards The totaL valuation aLLowance was estabLished based on managements determination

that the deferred tax assets are not more likely than not to be reaLized Management beLieves that the

remaining deferred tax assets are more LikeLy than not to be realized based upon consideration of aLL

positive and negative evidence including AOLs operating resuLts and forecast of future taxable income

on jurisdiction by jurisdiction basis

On June 16 2010 the Company soLd substantially all the assets of Bebo resulting in pre-tax Loss

of approximateLy $1.8 milLion The Company expects to treat the common stock of Bebo as worthless

for U.S income tax reporting purposes in its 2010 consoLidated U.S federaL income tax return The

Companys current estimated U.S income tax basis in Bebo is $759.3 miLLion As resuLt of the

worthLess stock deduction for the common stock of Bebo under U.S income tax Law the Company

recorded deferred tax asset and corresponding income tax benefit of $300.0 milLion in 2010 During

2010 the Company utiLized $141.6 miLLion of this deferred tax asset to offset federaL and state income

tax obLigations

U.S federal income taxes are provided on the portion of AOLs income from certain foreign

subsidiaries that is expected to be remitted to the United States We have recorded deferred income

taxes and foreign withhoLding taxes on unremitted earnings from foreign subsidiaries in the amount of

$8.9 miLLion and $9.2 miLLion as of December 31 2010 and 2009 respectiveLy For AOLs other foreign

subsidiaries we have not provided for U.S income and foreign withhoLding taxes on approximateLy

$15.7 miLLion of certain foreign subsidiaries undistributed earnings because such earnings have been

retained and are intended to be indefiniteLy reinvested by the subsidiaries It is currentLy not practicabLe

to determine the amount of unrecorded deferred tax Liability for AOLs investment in these subsidiaries

Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes

Changes in unrecognized tax benefits excLuding the reLated accrual for interest from January to

December31 are set forth beLow miLLions

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

recast recast

Beginning baLance 154.7 657.6 638.6

Additions for current year tax positions
6.1 11.1 19.0

Reductions for prior year tax positions
13.0

Unrecognized tax benefits retained by Time Warner foLlowing spin-off 151 2.5

Reductions as result of expiration of statute of Limitations 17.2 1.5

TotaL $150.6 154.7 657.6

AOL entered into Second Tax Matters Agreement with Time Warner effective December 2009

that governs the respective post spinoff rights responsibiLities and obligations
of Time Warner and

AOL with respect to tax matters for the pre spin-off tax periods As member of Time Warners

consoLidated U.S federal income tax group AOL has land continues to have folLowing the spin-off joint

and severaL LiabiLity with Time Warner to the IRS for the consoLidated U.S federaL income taxes of the

Time Warner group reLating to the taxabLe periods in which AOL was part of the group Under the

Second Tax Matters Agreement however Time Warner agreed to assume this LiabiLity and any simiLar

LiabiLity for U.S federaL state or Local income taxes including LiabiLity for uncertain income tax positions

taken by Time Warner with respect to AOL that are determined on consoLidated combined unitary or
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similar basis for each taxable period in which AOL was included in such consolidated combined unitary

or similar group with Time Warner As resuLt at the date of the spin-off AOL reversed the recorded

Liability incLuding accrued interest to Time Warner related to these uncertain tax positions with an

offsetting $368.1 million adjustment to equity AOL remains responsibLe for any foreign income taxes

and any other income taxes primarily state taxes that are not determined on consoLidated

combined unitary or similar basis with Time Warner

The Company accrues interest and penalties where there is an underpayment of taxes based on

managements best estimate of the amount ultimateLy to be paid in the same period that lithe interest

would begin accruing or the penalties would first be assessed Our poLicy on the classification of

interest and penalties is to record both as part of income tax expense Interest expense recorded

through the income tax provision benefit related to uncertain tax positions was $0.4 milLion $14.3

million and $1 8.2 miLLion for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectiveLy As of

December 31 2010 and 2009 the amount of accrued interest in the consoLidated balance sheet

associated with uncertain tax positions was $0.7 milLion and $3.2 million respectiveLy As of

December 31 2010 and 2009 no penaLties were accrued

The statute of Limitations of certain foreign jurisdictions in which AOL fiLed separateLy from Time

Warner including the United Kingdom have not expired and therefore the periods from 2003 through

the current period remain open to examination by the taxing authorities For the periods foLLowing the

spin-off the examination periods in all significant jurisdictions including the United States Virginia

New York and the United Kingdom remain open and subject to examination by the taxing authorities

As of December 31 2010 the amount of unrecognized tax benefits which if recognized wouLd

affect our effective tax rate is $150.6 million number of years may eLapse before an uncertain tax

position is finally resolved It is difficult to predict the final outcome or the timing of resolution of any

particular uncertain tax position We reevaluate and adjust our reserves for income taxes as well as the

related interest in light of changing facts and circumstances Settlement of any particular position

would usually require the use of cash and result in the reduction of the related Liability The resolution

of matter would be recognized as an adjustment to the provision for income taxes and the effective tax

rate in the period of resolution

NOTE 7STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

AOL is authorized to issue up to 660.0 million shares of all classes of stock consisting of

600 million shares of preferred stock par value $0.01 per share Preferred Stock and 600.0 milLion

shares of common stock par value $0.01 per share Rights and privileges associated with shares of

Preferred Stock are subject to authorization by the Companys Board of Directors and may differ from

those of any and all other series at any time outstanding All shares of common stock will be identical

and will entitle the holders thereof to the same rights and privileges

As of December 31 2010 106744387 shares of common stock were issued and outstanding No

dividends were declared or paid for the year ended December 31 2010

On January 22 2010 the Company issued 594749 shares of AOL common stock as partiaL

consideration for the acquisition of StudioNow Inc During 2010 the Company also issued 194857

shares of AOL common stock to Polar Capital Group LLC in satisfaction of its contractual obligation to

return its CEOs initial investment of approximately $4.5 million in Patch Media Corporation Patch
which arose from the acquisition of Patch on June 10 2009 See Note 13 for additional information on

this transaction

99



AOL INC

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Under the terms of the Companys tax matters agreement with Time Warner amounts payable or

receivable to Time Warner prior to the spin-off were refLected as adjustments to divisional equity

During the year ended December 31 2010 the Company adjusted its deferred tax assets and estimated

amount payable to Time Warner for income taxes prior to the spin-off and these adjustments resulted

in $27.0 million reduction to additional paid-in capital

NOTE 8EQUITY-BASED COMPENSATION AND EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

Defined Contribution Pans

Prior to the spin-off AOL employees participated in certain Time Warner domestic and

international defined contribution plans including savings and profit sharing plans AOLs contributions

to Time Warners savings plans were primarily based on percentage of the employees elected

contributions and were subject to plan provisions Subsequent to the spin-off AOL employees are no

Longer participating
in and AOL is no Longer contributing to these plans

Subsequent to the spin-off AOL employees participate in domestic and international defined

contribution plans primarily consisting of AOLs domestic savings plan AOLs contributions to these

plans are based on percentage of the employees elected contributions and are subject to plan

provisions

Expenses related to AOLs contribution to the Time Warner and AOL plans amounted to $11.5

million $1 7.3 million and $1 9.8 million for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008

respectively

Equity-Based Compensation

AOL Equity PLan

Pursuant to the Companys Amended and Restated 2010 Stock Incentive Plan or 2010 SIP stock

options are granted to employees advisors and non-employee directors of AOL with exercise prices

equal to the quoted market value of the common stock at the date of grant Generally the stock options

vest ratably over four year vesting period and expire ten years from the date of grant Certain stock

option awards provide for accelerated vesting upon an election to retire after reaching specified age

and years of service as well as certain additional circumstances for non-employee directors

Also pursuant to the 2010 SIP AOL may also grant shares of common stock or restricted stock

units IRSUsI to its employees advisors and non-employee directors which generally vest ratably over

four year period from the date of grant Holders of restricted stock and RSU awards are generally

entitled to receive regular cash dividends or dividend equivalents respectively if paid by the Company

during the period of time that the restricted stock or RSU awards are unvested

The Company is authorized to grant equity awards to employees covering an aggregate of

6.6 million shares of AOL common stock under the 2010 SIP of which up to 7.8 million awards may be

issued in the form of full-value awards such as restricted stock or RSUs Amounts available for

issuance pursuant to grants under the 2010 SIP will change over time based on such activities as the

conversion of equity awards into common stock the forfeiture of equity awards and the cancellation of

equity awards among other activities
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Upon the it exercise of stock option award ii vesting of RSU or iii grant of restricted stock

shares of AOL common stock are issued from authorized but unissued shares or from treasury stock

At both December 31 2010 and December 31 2009 the Company did not have any shares of treasury

stock

Time Warner Equity Plans

UntiL consummation of the separation from Time Warner AOL employees participated in Time

Warners equity pLans Time Warner had two active equity plans under which it was authorized to grant

equity awards of Time Warner common stock to AOL empLoyees Options had been granted to

empLoyees of AOL with exercise prices equaL to the fair market value of the underLying common stock

at the date of grant GeneraLLy the stock options vested ratabLy over four-year vesting period and

expired 10 years from the date of grant Certain stock option awards provided for acceLerated vesting

upon an eLection to retire pursuant to the Time Warner defined benefit retirement plans or after

reaching specified age and years of service

Pursuant to these equity pLans Time Warner also granted shares of common stock or RSUs to

empLoyees of AOL These awards generaLly vested between three to five years from the date of grant

Certain RSU awards provided for acceLerated vesting upon an eLection to retire pursuant to Time

Warners defined benefit retirement pLans or after reaching specified age and
years

of service

HoLders of restricted stock and RSU awards were generalLy entitLed to receive reguLar cash dividends or

dividend equivalents respectiveLy paid by Time Warner during the period of time that the restricted

stock or RSU awards were unvested

In connection with the LegaL and structuraL separation of the Company from Time Warner AOL

employees ceased participating in the Time Warner equity pLans once the spin-off was completed

Employees holding Time Warner equity awards at the time of the separation were treated as if their

employment with Time Warner was terminated without cause For most AOL empLoyees this treatment

resulted in the forfeiture of unvested stock options shortened exercise periods for vested stock options

and pro rata vesting of the next instaLLment of tand forfeiture of the remainder of restricted stock and

restricted stock unit grants

Equity-Based Compensation Expense

Compensation expense recognized by AOL related to its equity-based compensation pLan and for

its participation in Time Warners equity-based compensation pLans prior to the spin-off is as folLows

tin miLLions

Years Ended December31

2010 2009 2008

Stock options 17.0 4.3 8.7

RSUs and performance stock units PSUs 19.1 8.2 10.9

Total equity-based compensation expense 36.1 125 19.6

Tax benefit recognized 14.4 5.0 8.3

Ia AOL has not granted PSUs to empLoyees Prior to the spin-off Time Warner granted RSUs and

PSUs to AOL empLoyees
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tbl Equity-based compensation expense in 2009 included reduction to expense caused by change in

the estimated forfeiture rate for Time Warner equity awards held by AOL empLoyees as fewer Time

Warner equity awards were expected to vest as result of the spin-off ALso included in the totaL

equity-based compensation expense for the year ended December31 2009 is $0.6 milLion

attributable to AOLs equity awards

AOL Stock Options

The assumptions presented in the table below represent the weighted-average vaLue of the

appLicabLe assumption used to value AOL stock options at their grant date

Years Ended December31

2010 2009

Expected volatiLity
39.9% 42.5%

Expected term to exercise from grant date 5.38 years 5.38 years

Risk-free rate 2.5% 2.9%

Expected dividend yieLd
0% 0%

Because AOLs common stock has Limited trading history the voLatility assumption was

determined for 2010 and 2009 awards based on bLend of AOLs impLied voLatiLity and the historical and

implied volatiLities of comparable peer group of pubLicly traded companies The expected term which

represents the period of time that options granted are expected to be outstanding is estimated based

on the historical exercise experience of AOL employees that heLd simiLar options to acquire Time

Warner common stock The risk-free rate assumed in vaLuing the options is based on the U.S Treasury

yieLd curve in effect at the time of grant for the expected term of the option As the Company does not

currentLy intend to pay dividends the dividend yieLd is zero for aLl AOL equity awards granted

The following table summarizes information about AOL stock options that were outstanding at

December31 2010

Options
___________ _____________ _______________ _____________

Outstanding at December 31 2008

Converted

Granted
_________

Outstanding at December31 2009
_________

Exercised

Granted

Forfeited
_________

Outstanding at December31 2010
_________

1.7

La Represents the Time Warner stock options held by AOLs Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

that were converted into AOL stock options

Weighted-

Average

Number of Weighted- Remaining

Options Average Contractual Life

in miLlions Exercise Price in years

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value

tin thousands

Exercisable at December 31 2009

ExercisabLe at December 31 2010

0.5 $11.90

3.2 $23.28

3.7 $21.85 9.9 years $1549

2.9 $23.85

$23.33

6.2 $22.69 9.1 years $7871

$20.25 8.8 years $5940
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As of December 31 2010 6.7 milLion shares of AOL common stock were availabLe for future grants

of stock options As of December 31 2010 there was $32.8 milLion of unrecognized compensation cost

related to outstanding employee stock options expected to vest The Company expects to recognize this

amount over weighted-average period of 2.73 years To the extent the actual forfeiture rate is different

from what the Company has estimated equity-based compensation expense related to these awards

wilL be different from the Companys expectations

The weighted-average grant
date fair value of an AOL stock option granted during the

years
ended

December 31 2010 and 2009 was $9.41 and $9.94 respectiveLy No stock options were exercised during

the
year

ended December31 2010

AOL Restricted Stock Units

The foLLowing tabLe summarizes information about unvested AOL RSUs at December 31 2010

Number of Weighted-
Shares/Units Average Grant

in millions Date Fair Value

Unvested at December31 2008

Converted 0.3 $23.39

Granted 2.9 $23.28

Unvested at December31 2009 3.2 $23.29

Vested 10.4 $23.38

Granted 1.2 $23.92

Forfeited 10.7 $23.45

Unvested at December 31 2010 3.3 $23.54

ía Represents the Time Warner RSUs held by AOLs Chairman and Chief Executive Officer that were

converted into AOL RSUs The weighted-average grant date fair value amount above for these

converted awards represents the fair vaLue on the conversion date

At December31 2010 the intrinsic vaLue of unvested AOL REUs was $77.6 milLion As of

December31 2010 there was $38.0 milLion of unrecognized compensation cost related to outstanding

RSUs expected to vest The Company expects to recognize this amount over weighted-average period

of 3.01 years To the extent the actuaL forfeiture rate is different from what the Company has estimated

equity-based compensation expense reLated to these awards wiLl be different from the Companys

expectations TotaL fair vaLue of shares vested during the year ended December31 2010 was $8.5

miLlion

Time Warner Stock Options

The assumptions presented in the table below represent the weighted-average value of the

appLicabLe assumption used to value Time Warner stock options at their grant date

Years Ended December31

2009 2008

Expected voLatiLity 38.1% 28.5%

Expected term to exercise from grant date 4.71
years 5.73 years

Risk-free rate 1.9% 3.1

Expected dividend yield 3.8% 1.7%
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The grant date fair value of all Time Warner equity-based awards has been adjusted to reflect the

effect of Time Warners -for-3 reverse stock split which became effective on March 27 2009 The

weighted-average fair value of Time Warner stock option granted to AOL employees was $4.57 and

$1 209 for the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 respectiveLy The totaL intrinsic vaLue of Time

Warner options exercised by AOL empLoyees was $3.3 milbon and $38.6 million for the years ended

December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively Time Warner received cash from the exercise of Time

Warner stock options by AOL employees totaling $13.0 million and $90.9 million for the years ended

December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively The tax benefits realized by AOL from Time Warner stock

options exercised in the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 were approximately $1.2 miLlion and

$15.4 million respectively

Time Warner Restricted Stock arid Restricted Stock Units

The fair value of Time Warner restricted stock and RSUs granted to AOL employees that vested

during the years ended December31 2009 and 2008 was $12.1 million and $5.4 million respectively

For the year ended December31 2009 0.5 million Time Warner RSUs were granted to AOL

employees at weighted-average grant
date fair vaLue

per
RED of $18.14 For the year ended

December 31 2008 0.8 million Time Warner REUs were granted to AOL employees at weighted-

average grant date fair value per RSU of $44.13 Time Warner REUs held by most employees at the date

of spin-off were either vested or forfeited as result of the spin-off Following the spin-off there are no

outstanding unvested Time Warner REUs held by AOL employees

NOTE 9RESTRUCTURING COSTS

2010 Restructuring Costs

connection with the Companys restructuring initiatives the Company incurred $33.8 million in

restructuring costs for the year ended December 31 2010 to better align its organizational structure

and costs with its strategy These restructuring costs included $29.2 million reLated to employee

terminations facility closures and contract termination costs in 2010 and $4.6 million in restructuring

costs associated with actions taken in 2009 and prior years which includes adjustments to previous

estimates Employee termination costs were attributable to terminations of employees ranging from

senior executives to line personnel

2009 Restructuring Costs

For the year ended December31 2009 the Company undertook various restructuring activities in

an effort to better align its organizational structure and costs with its strategy As result the Company

incurred $189.2 miLlion in restructuring costs which included $183.9 million in restructuring costs

related to employee terminations facility closures and other exit activities in 2009 and $5.3 million in

restructuring costs associated with actions taken in 2008 and prior years which includes adjustments

to previous estimates Employee termination costs were attributable to terminations of employees

ranging from senior executives to line personnel

2008 Restructuring Costs

For the year ended December31 2008 the Company incurred $16.6 million in restructuring costs

which included $7.2 million in restructuring costs related to employee terminations facility closures

and other exit activities in 2008 and $9.4 million in restructuring costs associated with actions taken in
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2007 and prior years which includes adjustments to previous estimates Employee termination costs

were attributable to terminations of empLoyees ranging from senior executives to tine personneL

summary of AOLs restructuring activity for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 is

as foLlows miLLions

Employee Other Exit

Terminations Costs Total

LiabiLity at December31 2007 64.2 26.7 90.9

2008 restructuring expense 13.3 3.3 16.6

Foreign currency transLation and other adjustments 0.5 1.1 1.6

Cash paid 167.6 110.6 78.2

LiabiLity at December31 2008 10.4 20.5 30.9

2009 restructuring expense 161.5 27.7 189.2

Foreign currency translation and other adjustments 10.8 0.7 110.1

Cash paid 53.0 20.6 73.6

Liability at December 31 2009 108.1 28.3 136.4

2010 restructuring expense 18.8 15.0 33.8

Foreign currency translation and other adjustments 6.1 1.2 14.9

Cash paid 102.8 126.3 129.1

Liability at December31 2010 18.0 18.2 36.2

At December 31 2010 of the remaining liabiLity of $36.2 milLion $29.2 miLLion was cLassified as

current Liability within accrued expenses and other current Liabilities with the remaining $7.0 miLlion

cLassified as Long-term LiabiLity in the consoLidated balance sheet Amounts classified as long-term

are expected to be paid through 2014

NOTE 10DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

Prior to the spin-off AOL used derivative instruments principally forward contracts entered into

on its behaLf by Time Warner to manage the risk associated with movements in foreign currency

exchange rates Time Warner monitored its positions with and the credit quality of the financial

institutions that were party to any of its financial transactions Netting provisions were provided for in

existing International Swap and Derivative Association Inc agreements in situations where Time

Warner executed muLtipLe contracts with the same counterparty Prior to the spin-off aLL outstanding

derivative instruments were settled Subsequent to the spin-off and through December31 2010 AOL

has not entered into any derivative instruments or hedges The foLLowing is summary of AOLs foreign

currency risk management strategies whiLe AOLwas subsidiary of Time Warner and the effect of

these strategies on AOLs consoLidated financiaL statements

Foreign Currency Risk Management

Until consummation of the separation from Time Warner Time Warner managed certain derivative

contracts on AOLs behalf Foreign exchange derivative contracts were used by AOL primariLy to

manage the risk associated with the voLatiLity of future cash fLows denominated in foreign currencies

and changes in fair value resuLting from changes in foreign currency exchange rates
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AOL used derivative instruments to hedge various foreign exchange exposures incLuding the

following Ii variability in foreign-currency-denominated cash fLows i.e cash flow hedges and

ii currency risk associated with foreign-currency-denominated operating assets and habilities i.e fair

vaLue hedges

As part of its overaLl strategy to manage the leveL of exposure to the risk of foreign currency

exchange rate fluctuations AOL hedged portion of its foreign currency exposures anticipated over the

caLendar year This process generally coincided with AOLs annual strategic pLanning period

Additionally as transactions arose or were pLanned during the year that were exposed to Foreign

currency risk and were unhedged at the time AOL entered into derivative instruments primariLy foreign

currency forward contracts to mitigate the exposure presented by such transactions Time Warner

reimbursed or was reimbursed by AOL for contract gains and Losses reLated to AOLs foreign currency

exposure To hedge this exposure AOL used foreign exchange contracts that generally had maturities

of three months to 18 months providing continuing coverage throughout the hedging period with aLL

positions being unwound prior to the spin-off the aggregate the derivative instruments and hedging

activities were not materiaL to AOL Time Warner managed the foreign currency transactions directLy

and entered into foreign currency purchase and saLe transactions directLy with counterparties and

aLLocated costs to AOL related to these transactions For the years ended Oecember 31 2009 and 2008

AOL recognized net gains Losses of $10.8 miLLion and $20.4 miLLion respectiveLy within other income

net reLated to foreign currency management activity performed by Time Warner on behaLf of AOL These

amounts were recognized upon the de-designation or settLement of foreign exchange contracts used in

hedging reLationships including economic hedges Such amounts were largely offset by corresponding

gains or Losses from the respective transaction that was hedged and were generaLLy recognized in

income in the same period that the hedged item or transaction affects income Gains and Losses from

the ineffectiveness of hedging reLationships incLuding ineffectiveness as resuLt of the discontinuation

of cash flow hedges for which it was probable that the originaLLy forecasted transaction wouLd no Longer

occur were not material for any period

NOTE 11COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Commitments

AOLs totaL rent expense from continuing operations amounted to $34.8 miLLion $49.8 miLLion and

$55.3 miLLion for the years ended Oecember 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectiveLy The Company has

long-term non-canceLable Lease commitments for office space and operating equipment in various

locations around the worLd number of which have renewaL options at market rates to be determined

prior to the renewaL option being exercised In addition certain Leases have rent escaLation clauses with

either fixed scheduled rent increases or rent increases based on the Consumer Price Index The

minimum rental commitments under non-cancelabLe Long-term operating leases during the next five

years are as follows in miLLions

Gross operating Net operating

lease Sublease lease

commitments income commitments

2011 49.8 8.3 41.5

2012 48.2 9.5 38.7

2013 41.0 7.2 33.8

2014 37.9 4.0 33.9

2015 35.4 4.0 31.4

Thereafter 152.5 6.2 146.3

Total 364.8 39.2 325.6
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Included in the above table are approximateLy $212.7 million of payments associated with the Lease

of the Companys corporate headquarters in New York AOL has its corporate headquarters
for non-cancelabLe initial lease term that ends in February 2023 with the option to extend the

for an additional five years Monthly rental payments to the landLord under this Lease escalate

by 7% after the end of the fifth year and tenth year of the lease term In 2010 AOL entered into

new of building in California and incLuded in the above table are approximateLy $46.8

million of payments associated with this property AOL has Leased this space for non-cancelable

initiaL Lease term that ends in June 2017 with no renewaL options Rent is abated for the first nine

months of the lease term with partiaL rent abatement for an additional three months Only

operating expenses are to be paid during the rent abatement period Also included in the above

table are payments for ongoing Leases associated with AOLs restructuring activities AOL has

recorded Liability on the balance sheet of $18.0 million related to these payments

AOL has commitments under certain network licensing royalty and other agreements aggregating

approximately $1 03.0 miLLion at December31 2010 which are payabLe principaLLy over three-year

period as foLlows in millions

2011 63.8

2012-2013 35.2

2014-2015 3.3

Thereafter 0.7

TotaL 103.0

The Company aLso has certain contractual arrangements that would require it to make payments

or provide funding if certain circumstances occur contingent commitments At December31 2010
these arrangements related primarily to Letters of credit and totaled $4.1 million The Company does

not expect that these contingent commitments will result in any material amounts being paid by the

Company in the foreseeable future

Included in the commitment amounts discussed above are certain commitments to Time Warner
see Note 13 for additionaL information

Contingencies

On September 22 2006 Salvadore Ramkissoon and two unnamed plaintiffs fiLed putative class

action against AOL LLC in the US District Court for the Northern District of CaLifornia asserting claims

under the ELectronic Communications Privacy Act the California Consumer Records Act the California

Consumer Legal Remedies Act the CaLifornia FaLse Advertising Law and the California Unfair

Competition Law as welL as common law claims for unjust enrichment and public discLosure of private

facts The claims arise out of AOLs pubLic posting of AOL member search queries in late JuLy 2006

The Court has dismissed without prejudice the named Plaintiff Salvadore Ramkisoon and all but

the California FaLse Advertising Law and California Unfair Competition Law cLaims under which the

unnamed plaintiffs seek only declaratory and injunctive relief regarding AOLs search query retention

practices No claims for monetary relief remain in the case On February 11 201 the parties filed

briefs in response to the Courts order to address the issue of whether the Court Lacks jurisdiction over

the subject matter of the remaining claims Based on facts and circumstances available the Company
does not believe it is probable or reasonably possible loss has been incurred related to this matter
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In addition to the matter Listed above AOL is party to variety of Legal proceedings that arise in

the normal course of business While the results of such normaL course Legal proceedings cannot be

predicted with certainty management believes that based on current knowLedge the final outcome of

the current pending matters will not have material adverse effect on the Companys business

financial position resuLts of operations or cash flows Regardless of the outcome Legal proceedings

can have an adverse effect on the Company because of defense costs diversion of management

resources and other factors

See Note for information on contingency related to ICC

NOTE 12ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accrued expenses and other current liabiLities consist of in miLlions

December31

2010 2009

TAC 55.4 137.6

Restructuring Liabilities 29.2 108.1

Taxes 24.7 297

Costs of revenues excluding TAC 42.1 24.9

Network and reLated costs 69 10.4

Advertising and marketing
9.6 10.0

Rent and faciLities expense
5.5 4.5

Member support services 4.8 40

Other accrued expenses
58.1 71 .2

Total accrued expenses and other LiabiLities 236.3 400.4

NOTE 13RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Acquisition of Patch Media Corporation

On June 10 2009 AOL purchased Patch Media Corporation Patch news information and

community platform business dedicated to providing comprehensive LocaL information and services for

individual towns and communities for approximateLy $7.0 milLion in cash Approximately $700000 of

the consideration was held in an indemnity escrow account until the first anniversary of the closing

At the time of cLosing Timothy Armstrong AOLs Chairman and Chief Executive Officer held

indirectly through Polar Capital Group LLC Polar CapitaL private investment company which he

founded economic interests in Patch that entitled him to receive approximately 75% of the transaction

consideration Mr Armstrongs original investment in Patch made in December 2007 through PoLar

Capital was approximately $4.5 million In connection with the transaction Mr Armstrong through

PoLar CapitaL waived his right to receive any transaction consideration in excess of his originaL $4.5

miLLion investment opting to accept onLy the return of his initiaL investment in AOL common stock In

addition Mr Armstrong eLected to return the $4.5 miLlion approximately $450000 of which is being

heLd in the indemnity escrow account for year that he was entitled to receive in connection with the

transaction to AOL to be held by AOL untiL after the Companys separation from Time Warner in

exchange for the subsequent issuance of AOL common stock In exchange for the $4.5 million he was

entitled to receive during 2010 AOL issued to Polar Capital 194857 shares of AOL common stock
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The results of operations of Patch have been included in the Companys consolidated financial

statements from the date of acquisition and were not material to the Companys consolidated results

for the years ended December31 2010 and 2009

Transactions with Time Warner

Through the date of the spin-off AOL had certain related party relationships with Time Warner and

its subsidiaries In connection with the separation AOL entered into the Separation Agreement and

several other related agreements which govern the ongoing relationship between the two companies
The Company does not consider Time Warner to be related party subsequent to the spin-off The

related party relationships and subsequent relationships with Time Warner are discussed further

below

Administrative Services

Through the date of the spin-off Time Warner performed certain administrative functions on

behalf of AOL Costs of these services that were allocated or charged to AOL were based on either the

actual costs incurred or Time Warners estimate of expenses relative to the services provided to other

subsidiaries of Time Warner AOL believes that these allocations were made on reasonable basis and

that receiving these services from Time Warner created cost efficiencies These services and

transactions included the following

cash management and other treasury services

administrative services such as government relations tax employee benefit administration

internal audit accounting and human resources

equity-based compensation plan administration

aviation services

insurance coverage and

the licensing of certain third-party patents

During the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 AOL incurred $20.9 million and $23.3 million

respectively of expenses related to charges for services performed by Time Warner These expenses

were recorded as operating expenses by AOL as incurred

Subsequent to the separation Time Warner provided consultation on cash management and other

treasury services as well as tax services These services were provided on fixed monthly fee basis

through various dates in 2010 when they were terminated or expired under the original terms of the

respective transition services agreements The costs associated with these services were not material

to AOLs consolidated financial statements and AOL does not expect to incur any future costs

associated with transition services from Time Warner
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Tax Matters Agreements

In connection with GoogLes investment in the Company in 2006 AOL entered into tax matters

agreement with Time Warner governing AOLs inclusion in Time Warner consolidated tax returns

Under the terms of the tax matters agreement Time Warner prepared pro forma AOL income tax

return and AOL agreed to make tax payments to Time Warner generally on the basis of this pro forma

consoLidated AOL income tax return Amounts payabLe or receivabLe under the tax matters agreement

were generally reported as adjustments to divisional equity

Effective with the spin-off the Company entered into Second Tax Matters Agreement with Time

Warner that governs the respective rights responsibiLities and obligations of Time Warner and AOL

after the spin-off with respect to aLL tax matters See Note for additional information on the Second

Tax Matters Agreement

Guarantee Agreements

In connection with entering into the RevoLving Credit Facility Time Warner guaranteed alL of the

Companys obligations with respect to loans and Letters of credit under the Revolving Credit Facility As

consideration for Time Warner providing such guarantee the Company paid Time Warner fee equaL to

1.0% of the aggregate principaL amount of the commitments at cLosing under the RevoLving Credit

FaciLity and an ongoing guarantee fee which varied with the amount of undrawn commitments and the

principal amount of the Companys obLigations outstanding under the Revolving Credit FaciLity as weLL

as changes in Time Warners senior unsecured long-term debt credit ratings On September 30 2010

the Company terminated its RevoLving Credit Facility In connection with the termination of the

RevoLving Credit FaciLity the Time Warner guarantee also terminated

Through the date of the spin-off AOL LLC entered into severaL guarantee agreements with Time

Warner or subsidiaries of Time Warner whereby AOL LLC guaranteed debt issued by Time Warner or its

subsidiaries on joint and several basis As this was an intercompany guarantee the Company did not

recognize an indemnification liabiLity or any income associated with this guarantee in its financial

statements Subsequent to the spin-off AOL and its subsidiaries no longer guarantee any debt issued

by Time Warner or its subsidiaries

In 2007 in connection with Lease of office space in New York City that the Company entered into

with third party Time Warner agreed to guarantee up to $10.0 miLlion to the third
party as security for

AOLs obLigations
under the Lease In 2008 in connection with the lease of additionaL office space at the

same building Time Warner agreed upon the occurrence of certain events to increase the totaL

guarantee to approximateLy $1 5.7 miLLion to the third party as security for AOLs obLigations under the

Lease As of December 31 2010 these events had not occurred and accordingLy the amount

guaranteed by Time Warner at December 31 2010 was $1 0.0 miLLion

In addition Time Warner provides credit support for certain AOL lease and trade obligations of

approximateLy $1 08.1 miLlion ending on the earlier of December 2011 or 30 days after AOL obtains

the right to borrow funds under permanent credit faciLity in exchange for fee equaL to rate per

annum of 4.375% of the outstanding principaL amount of such obLigations subject to periodic increases

Since the spin-off AOL has replaced or released Time Warner as the source of the credit support for

certain AOL lease and trade obligations or otherwise reduced Time Warners credit support obligations
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Banking and Treasury Functions

Through the date of the spin-off Time Warner provided cash management and treasury services to

AOL As part of these services AOL swept the majority of all cash balances to Time Warner on daily

basis and received funding from Time Warner for any cash needs

Additionally AOL entered into various financial arrangements internationally with Time Warner

International Finance Limited wholly-owned subsidiary of Time Warner and other Time Warner

international subsidiaries The objective of these arrangements was to provide AOL with efficient

avenues for liquidity in structure that minimized or eliminated the currency risk to AOL Amounts that

were due and owed under these arrangements were settLed in cash prior to the spin-off

Equity-Based Compensation Reimbursement

As result of AOLs participation in Time Warners equity-based compensation plans prior to the

date of spin-off AOL was obligated to make cash payments to Time Warner for the intrinsic value of

Time Warner RSUs and PSUs held by AOL employees upon vesting and for the intrinsic value of stock

options held by AOL employees upon the exercise of those options For the years ended December 31

2009 and 2008 AOL remitted cash totaLing $2.4 million and $43.8 million respectively to Time Warner

for stock options exercised by AOL empLoyees and the vesting of RSUs held by AOL employees

In connection with the separation AOL employees no longer participate in Time Warners equity-

based compensation plans and AOL is no longer obligated to reimburse Time Warner for the intrinsic

value of Time Warner equity-based compensation awards held by AOL employees

Other

In the normal course of business AOL historically entered into commercial transactions with other

subsidiaries of Time Warner AOL recognized $3.7 million and $1 0.5 million in revenue and $22.0

million and $33.7 million in operating expenses from transactions with other Time Warner subsidiaries

for the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively

Prior to AOLs separation from Time Warner AOL was party to Memorandum of Understanding

with Telepictures Productions Inc an indirect whoLly-owned subsidiary of Time Warner governing the

operations of TMZ.com Under the Memorandum of Understanding AOLs contribution to TMZ included

the provision of certain technology and the design development and maintenance of TMZs website

Subject to certain performance adjustments and the reimbursement of expenses revenues were split

evenly between the parties Under this arrangement Telepictures received payments from AOL of $8.7

million and $1 2.7 million in the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively

As part of AOLs separation from Time Warner the TMZ Memorandum of Understanding between

AOL and Telepictures was amended such that Telepictures assumed responsibility for alL of TMZs

ongoing operations Under the terms of the amended Memorandum of Understanding AOL provides

online distribution to TMZ for fee In addition AOL provides hosting services to TMZ under the Master

Services Agreement for ATDN and Hosting Services between Time Warner and AOL This amended

Memorandum of Understanding terminated on December 2010 The financial results related to TMZ

are not material to AOLs business

In 2007 Time Warner purchased perpetuaL right to use series of patents from third party on

behalf of AOL and other divisions of Time Warner Based on AOLs usage of the technology related to

these patents relative to other divisions approximately $21 million of the consideration paid by Time

Warner for this right has been allocated to AOL and included within intangible assets net in the
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consolidated balance sheet Subsequent to the separation AOL maintains the perpetual right to use

this series of patents with no additional consideration due to the third
party This intangible asset is

being amortized by AOL on straight-line basis over five-year period that began January 2007

NOTE 14SEGMENT IN FORMATION

An operating segment is defined as component of an enterprise that engages in business

activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses and that has discrete financial

information that is regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker in deciding how to allocate

resources and in assessing performance

The Companys chief operating decision maker its Chief Executive Officer evaluates performance

and makes operating decisions about allocating resources based on financial data presented on

consolidated basis There are no managers who are held accountable by AOLs chief operating decision

maker or anyone else for an operating measure of profit or loss for any operating unit below the

consolidated unit level Accordingly management has determined that the Company has one segment

NOTE 15SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA Unaudited

Quarter Ended

March 31 June 30 September 30 December31

recast recast recast

2010

Revenues

Advertising $354.3 304.7 $293.5 $331.6

Subscription 282.7 260.2 244.8 235.9

Other 27.3 27.3 25.9 28.5

Total revenues 664.3 592.2 564.2 596.0

Costs of revenues 364.7 335.0 342.8 378.1

Operating income 80.7 201.1 67.4

Net income loss attributable to AOL Inc 34.7 055.0 $171.6 66.2

Basic net income
per common share 0.33 1.61 0.62

Diluted net income
per common share 0.32 1.60 0.61

March 31 June 30 September30 December31

recast recast recast recast

2009

Revenues

Advertising $439.8 416.6 $411.7 $468.6

Subscription 393.5 355.7 332.2 307.4

Other 30.7 28.9 30.0 30.7

Total revenues 864.0 801.2 773.9 806.7

Costs of revenues 484.2 463.2 451.4 494.4

Operating incomeb 141.9 159.7 128.6 32.4

Net income 82.5 90.7 73.9 1.4

Less Net loss attributable to noncontrolling

interests 0.2 0.1

Net income attributable to AOL Inc 82.7 90.7 74.0 1.4

Basic net income per common share 0.78 0.86 0.70 0.01

Diluted net income per common share 0.78 0.86 0.70 0.01
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Operating income for the quarter ended June 30 2010 includes $1414.4 million non-cash

impairment charge to reduce the carrying value of goodwill Operating income includes the effects

of restructuring charges related primarily to voluntary and involuntary employee terminations and

facility closures of $23.4 million and $11.1 milLion for the quarters ended March 31 2010 and

June 30 2010 respectively Operating income includes $4.9 million $4.7 million $120.2

million and $13.6 million for the quarters ended March 31 2010 June 30 2010 September30
2010 and December31 2010 respectively related to 100 as the Company has recast the results of

operations of CO as continuing operations

Operating income includes the effects of restructuring charges related primarily to voluntary and

involuntary employee terminations and facility closures of $58.3 million $14.4 million $10.2

million and $1 06.3 million for the quarters ended March 31 2009 June 30 2009 September 30
2009 and December 31 2009 respectively Operating income includes $4.8 million $6.0 million

$6.6 million and $7.2 million for the quarters ended March 31 2009 June 30 2009 September 30

2009 and December 31 2009 respectively related to 100 as the Company has recast the results of

operations of ICQ as continuing operations Operating income for the quarter ended December 31

2009 was not impacted by the recast as ICQ was never presented as part of discontinued

operations for that period Operating income for the quarter ended December 31 2009 reflects the

recast of buy.at as discontinued operations
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Years Ended December 31 2008 2009 and 2010

In miLlions

Balance at Additions Charged

Beginning of to Costs Balance at

ALLowance for Doubtful Accounts Year and Expenses Deductions End of Year

2008 30.7 30.2 21.1 39.8

2009 39.8 20.7 28.9 31.6

2010 31.6 6.2 21.7 16.1
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ITEM CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None
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ITEM 9A CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Disclosure controls and procedures include without limitation controls and procedures designed

to ensure that the information we are required to disclose in our financial reports is recorded

processed summarized and reported within the time periods specified by the SEC rules and forms and

that such information is accumulated and communicated to senior management as appropriate to

allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure Management is responsible for establishing and

maintaining effective disclosure controls and procedures as defined under Rules 13a-15e and

5d-15e of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended Any controls and procedures no matter

how well designed and operated can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired

control objectives Our management with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief

Financial Officer evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and

procedures as of December 31 2010 Based on that evaluation our Chief Executive Officer and Chief

Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of

December 31 2010 at reasonable assurance level

Changes to InternaL Control Over Financial Reporting

We have evaluated the changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during

the three months ended December 31 2010 and concluded that there have not been any changes that

have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial

reporting

Managements Report on Internal Control over FinanciaL Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over

financial reporting Internal control over financial reporting is process designed by or under the

supervision of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer and effected by the Board of

Directors management and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability

of our financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in

accordance with GAAP

Internal control over financial reporting includes control self-assessments which are audited by

the internal audit function Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting

cannot provide absolute assurance of achieving financial reporting objectives It is process that

involves human diligence and compliance and is therefore subject to lapses in judgment and

breakdowns resulting from human error It also can be circumvented by collusion or improper override

Because of its limitations there is risk that internal control over financial reporting may not prevent

or detect on timely basis errors or fraud that could cause material misstatement of the financial

statements Additionally changes in conditions may impact the effectiveness of controls subsequent to

the date of the evaluation of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting

Management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial

reporting as of December 31 2010 using the criteria established in InternaL ControLIntegrated

Framework issued by COSO Based on this evaluation management concluded that the Companys

internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31 2010

Ernst Young LLP an independent registered public accounting firm has audited the

effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2010 as stated in their

report included in Item 9A
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of AOL Inc

We have audited AOL Inc.s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2010 based

on criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission the COSO criteria AOL Inc.s management is

responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of

the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying

Managements Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting Our responsibility is to express an

opinion on the companys internal control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting

Oversight Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain

reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained

in all material respects Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial

reporting assessing the risk that material weakness exists testing and evaluating the design and

operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk and performing such other

procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances We believe that our audit provides

reasonable basis for our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable

assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for

external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles companys internal

control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the

maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and

dispositions of the assets of the company 12 provide reasonable assurance that transactions are

recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only

in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company and provide

reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or

disposition of the companys assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or

detect misstatements Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject

to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of

compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

In our opinion AOL Inc maintained in all material respects effective internal control over financial

reporting as of December31 2010 based on the COSO criteria

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting

Oversight Board the consolidated balance sheets of AOL Inc as of December 31 2010 and 2009 and

the related consolidated statements of operations equity and cash flows for each of the three years in

the period ended December 31 2010 of AOL Inc and our report dated February 25 2011 expressed an

unqualified opinion thereon

Is Ernst Young LLP

McLean Virginia

February 25 2011
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ITEM 9B OTHER INFORMATION

None
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AOL Inc

PART III

ITEM 10 DIRECTORS EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

In addition to the information set forth under the caption Executive Officers of the Registrant in

Part Item of this Annual Report on Form 0-K the information required by this Item is incorporated

by reference to our Proxy Statement to be filed in connection with the 2011 Annual Meeting of

StockhoLders

We have adopted Code of Ethics for Our Senior Executive and Senior Financial Officers copy of

the Code is publicly availabLe on our website at http//corp.aot.com/corporate-poticy Amendments to

the Code or any grant of waiver from provision of the Code requiring discLosure under applicable

SEC rules will aLso be discLosed on our website

ITEM 11 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information calLed for by this item is hereby incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement

to be filed in connection with the 2011 Annual Meeting of StockhoLders

ITEM 12 SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND

RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information called for by this item is hereby incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement

to be filed in connection with the 2011 AnnuaL Meeting of StockhoLders

ITEM 13 CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR

INDEPENDENCE

The information caLLed for by this item is hereby incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement

to be filed in connection with the 2011 AnnuaL Meeting of Stockholders

ITEM 14 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information caLLed for by this item is hereby incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement

to be fiLed in connection with the 2011 Annual Meeting of StockhoLders
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AOL Inc

PART IV

ITEM 15 EXHIBITS FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

all Financial Statements

The Financial Statements listed in the Index to Consolidated Financial Statements and

Supplementary Data filed as part of this AnnuaL Report on Form 10-K

a2 FinanciaL Statement Schedule

The Financial Statement Schedule listed in the Index to ConsoLidated Financial Statements and

Supplementary Data filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

afl3 Exhibits

See Item 15b below

Exhibits

The agreements and other documents filed as exhibits to this report are not intended to provide

factual information or other disclosure other than with respect to the terms of the agreements or other

documents themselves and you should not rely on them for that purpose In particular any

representations and warranties made by us in these agreements or other documents were made solely

within the specific context of the relevant agreement or document and may not describe the actual

state of affairs as of the date they were made or at any other time

See the Exhibit Index immediately following the signature page of this Annual Report
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AOL INC

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the registrant has duLy caused this
report to be

signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized on February 25 2011

AOL INC

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS that each person whose signature appears below

constitutes and appoints Timothy Armstrong and Arthur Minson jointLy and severally his or her

attorney-in-fact each with the power of substitution for him or her in any and all capacities to sign any

amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K and to fiLe the same with exhibits thereto and other

documents in connection therewith with the Securities and Exchange Commission hereby ratifying and

confirming all that each of said attorneys-in-fact or substitute or substitutes may do or cause to be

done by virtue hereof

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed

beLow by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates

indicated

Signature Title

Is TIMOTHY ARMSTRONG

Timothy Armstrong

Is ARTHUR MINSON

Arthur Minson

Is DOUGLAS HORNE

Douglas Home

Is RICHARD DALZELL

Richard DaLzeLl

/s KAREN DYKSTRA

Karen Dykstra

Is ALBERTO IBARGUEN

Alberto Ibarguen

Is SUSAN LYNE

Susan Lyne

Chairman and Chief Executive

Officer Principal Executive

Officer

Executive Vice President and

Chief Financial and

Administrative Officer Principal

Financial Officer

Deputy CFO Controller and

Chief Accounting Officer

PrincipaL Accounting Officer

Director

Director

Director

Director

February 25 2011

February 25 2011

February 25 2011

February 25 2011

February 25 2011

February 25 2011

February 25 2011

By Is ARTHUR MINSON

Name Arthur Minson

Title Executive Vice President and Chief Financial and

Administrative Officer

Date
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AOL INC

SIGNATURES

Signature Title Date

Is PATRICIA MITCHELL
DireCtor February 25 2011

Patricia Mitchell

Is MICHAEL POWELL
Director February 25 2011

Michael Powell

/S FREDRIC REYNOLDS
Director February 25 2011

Fredric Reynolds

Is JAMES STENGEL Director February 25 2011

James StengeL
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AOL INC

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit

Number Description

2.1 Separation and Distribution Agreement between AOL Inc and Time Warner Inc dated

November 16 2009 incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrants

Amendment No to Form 10 dated November 16 2009

2.2 Securities Purchase Agreement between AOL Inc and Digital Sky Technologies Limited

dated ApriL 28 2010 incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrants Form

10-0 dated August 2010

2.3 Purchase and Sale Agreement between AOL Inc and RT Pacific BLvd LLC the Pacific Blvd

Agreement dated October 29 201

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant fiLed with the Secretary

of State of the State of DeLaware on December 2009 incorporated herein by reference to

Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 11 2009

3.2 Amended and Restated By-Laws of the Registrant incorporated herein by reference to

Exhibit 32 to the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 11 2009

4.1 Specimen Common Stock Certificate of Registration incorporated herein by reference to

Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 11 2009

10.1 Credit Support Agreement between AOL Inc and Time Warner Inc dated December 2009

incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1097 to the Registrants Form 10-K dated

March 2010

10.2 Transition Services Agreement between AOL Inc and Time Warner Inc dated November 16

2009 incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 101 to the Registrants Amendment No
to Form 10 dated November 16 2009

10.3 Second Tax Matters Agreement between AOL Inc and Time Warner Inc dated November

16 2009 incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrants Amendment

No to Form 10 dated November 16 2009

10.4 Employee Matters Agreement by and among AOL Inc AOL LLC and Time Warner Inc dated

November 16 2009 incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrants

Amendment No to Form 10 dated November 16 2009

10.5 EmpLoyee Matters Assignment and Assumption Agreement by and among AOL Inc AOL

LLC and Time Warner Inc dated December 2009 incorporated herein by reference to

Exhibit 107 to the Registrants Form 10-K dated March 2010

10.6 Master Services Agreement for ATDN and Hosting Services between AOL Inc and Time

Warner Inc dated November 16 2009 and effective December 2009 incorporated herein

by reference to Exhibit 10.73 to the Registrants Amendment No to Form 10 dated

November 16 2009

10.7 First Amendment to Master Services Agreement for ATDN and Hosting Services between

AOL Inc and Time Warner Inc dated January 2010 and effective January 2010

incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrants Form 10-Q dated April

28 2010

10.8 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit

10.5 to the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 22 2009
10.9 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement Version effective December 2010

10.10 Form of Restricted Stock Units Agreement incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.6

to the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 22 2009
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AOL INC

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit

Number Description

10.11 Form of Restricted Stock Units Agreement Version effective December 2010

10.12 Amended and Restated AOL Inc 2010 Stock Incentive Plan herein by reference

to Annex of the Registrants Definitive Proxy Statement filed with the Securities and

Exchange Commission on March 16 2010 No 00134419ft

10.13 Amended and Restated Annual Incentive Plan for Executive Officers herein by

reference to Annex of the Registrants Definitive Proxy Statement filed with the Securities

and Exchange Commission on March 16 2010 FiLe No 001 -3441

10.14 Form of AOL Inc Annual Bonus PLan herein by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to

the Registrants Form 10-Q dated August 2010

10.15 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement between AOL Inc and Timothy Armstrong

dated December 2009 herein by reference to Exhibit 10.36 to the

Registrants Form 10-K dated March 2010

10.16 Form of Non-QuaLified Stock Option Agreement between AOL Inc and Timothy Armstrong

dated December 31 2009 incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the

Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 22 2009

10.17 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement between AOL Inc and Timothy Armstrong

dated January 2010 herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrants

Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 22 2009

10.18 Form of Restricted Stock Units Agreement between AOL Inc and Timothy Armstrong dated

fl1fl ... ..._ k.-.- L. i.. LL. in f.. 1...
.diIUdI LU ice p0 dLeu eu uy ice eliLe 10 LXIiiUil IU.4 LU LIIC dill LU CIII

Report on Form 8-K dated December 22 2009

10.19 Employment Agreement among AOL LLC Time Warner Inc and Timothy Armstrong dated

March 12 2009 and effective as of April 2009 herein by reference to Exhibit

10.6 to Amendment No ito Form 10 dated September 16 2009

10.20 First Amendment to the EmpLoyment Agreement between AOL Inc and Timothy

Armstrong dated December 15 2009 herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the

Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 22 2009

10.21 EmpLoyment Agreement between AOL LLC and Arthur Minson dated August 24 2009 and

effective as of September 2009 herein by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to

Amendment No ito Form 10 dated September 16 2009

10.22 Executive Employment Agreement between AOL Inc and ALexander Gounares dated May 10

201

10.23 Executive EmpLoyment Agreement between AOL Inc and JuLie Jacobs dated June ii

201

10.24 2009 Retention Program Letter Agreement between AOL LLC and Julie Jacobs dated ApriL

2009

10.25 RSU Make-Good Program Memo from AOL Inc to JuLie Jacobs dated March 30 20i0

10.26 Separation Agreement and Release of Claims between AOL Inc and Ira Parker dated June

10 2010 and effective JuLy 15 2010 herein by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the

Registrants Form 10-Q dated August 2010
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit

Number Description

10.27 Separation Agreement and Release of between AOL Inc and Ted Cahall dated ApriL

2010 and effective May 2010 incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the

Registrants Form 10-Q dated August 2010L

10.28 Separation Agreement and Release of Claims between AOL Inc and Tricia Primrose

WaLlace dated October 27 2010 and revised December 21 2010

1029 Amended and Restated Agreement for DeLivery of Service between AOL LLC and Level

Communications LLC dated April 18 2000 LeveL ADS herein by

reference to Exhibit 10.53 to the Registrants Amendment No to Form 10 dated November

2009

10.30 Amendment No to the Level ADS dated March 29 2002 incorporated herein by

reference to Exhibit 10.54 to the Registrants Amendment No.3 to Form 10 dated November

2009L

10.31 Amendment No to the LeveL ADS dated December 17 2004 herein by

reference to Exhibit 10.55 to the Registrants Amendment No.3 to Form 10 dated November

2009

10.32 Third Amendment to the LeveL ADS dated February 25 2008 herein by

reference to Exhibit 10.56 to the Registrants Amendment No to Form 10 dated September

16 2009

10.33 Letter Agreement reLated to the Level ADS dated October 13 2005 herein by

reference to Exhibit 10.57 to the Registrants Amendment No.3 to Form 10 dated

November 2009

10.34 Letter Agreement related to the LeveL ADS dated May 31 2006 incorporated herein by

reference to Exhibit 10.58 to the Registrants Amendment No to Form 10 dated November

2009

10.35 Letter Agreement reLated to the Level ADS dated September 13 2006 incorporated

herein by reference to Exhibit 10.59 to the Registrants Amendment No ito Form 10 dated

September 16 2009

10.36 Letter Agreement related to the Level ADS dated June 29 2007 incorporated herein by

reference to Exhibit 10.60 to the Registrants Amendment No to Form 10 dated November

2009

10.37 Letter Agreement related to the LeveL ADS dated March 2008 herein by

reference to Exhibit 10.61 to the Registrants Amendment No.4 to Form 10 dated November

12 2009

10.38 Letter Agreement related to the Level ADS dated July 2008 herein by

reference to Exhibit 10.62 to the Registrants Amendment No to Form 10 dated November

2009L

10.39 Letter Agreement reLated to the Level ADS dated December 15 2008 herein

by reference to Exhibit 10.63 to the Registrants Amendment No to Form 10 dated

November 2009L

10.40 Letter Agreement related to the Level ADS dated September 2009 incorporated herein

by reference to Exhibit 10.64 to the Registrants Amendment No.3 to Form 10 dated

November 2009L

125
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit

Number Description

0.41 Letter Agreement related to the LeveL ADS dated September 29 2009 incorporated

herein by reference to Exhibit 0.67 to the Registrants Amendment No to Form 10 dated

November 2009L

10.42 Amended and Restated Interactive Marketing Agreement between AOL LLC and 000gle Inc

dated October 2003 the IMA incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to the

Registrants Amendment No to Form 10 dated November 2009L

10.43 First Amendment to the IMA dated December 15 2003 incorporated herein by reference to

Exhibit 10.23 to the Registrants Amendment No.310 Form 10 dated November 2009L

10.44 Second Amendment to the IMA dated March 30 2004 incorporated herein by reference to

Exhibit 1024 to the Registrants Amendment No.3 to Form 10 dated November 2009

10.45 Addendum One to the Second Amendment to the IMA dated October 2004 incorporated

herein by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to the Registrants Amendment No to Form 10 dated

November 2009L

1046 Third Amendment to the IMA dated ApriL 2004 incorporated herein by reference to

Exhibit 1026 to the Registrants Amendment No to Form 10 dated November 2009

10.47 Fourth Amendment to the IMA dated June 12004 incorporated herein by reference to

Exhibit 10.27 to the Registrants Amendment No.3 to Form 10 dated November 2009L

1048 Fifth Amendment to the IMA dated June 14 2004 incorporated herein by reference to

Exhibit 1028 to the Registrants Amendment No to Form 10 dated November 2009L

1049 Sixth Amendment to the MA dated December 17 2004 incorporated herein by reference to

Exhibit 10.29 to the Registrants Amendment No.3 to Form 10 dated November 2009

10.50 Seventh Amendment to the IMA dated March 28 2005 incorporated herein by reference to

Exhibit 10.30 to the Registrants Amendment No.3 to Form 10 dated November 2009

1051 Eighth Amendment to the IMA dated ApriL 28 2005 incorporated herein by reference to

Exhibit 10.31 to the Registrants Amendment No to Form 10 dated November 2009L

10.52 Ninth Amendment to the MA dated December 15 2005 incorporated herein by reference to

Exhibit 10.32 to the Registrants Amendment No to Form 10 dated November 2009L

10.53 Tenth Amendment to the MA dated March 24 2006 incorporated herein by reference to

Exhibit 1033 to the Registrants Amendment No.310 Form 10 dated November 2009L

10.54 Eleventh Amendment to the IMA dated September 28 2006 Lncorporated herein by

reference to Exhibit 10.34 to the Registrants Amendment No ito Form 10 dated September

16 2009

1055 TweLfth Amendment to the IMA dated December 15 2006 incorporated herein by reference

to Exhibit 10.35 to the Registrants Amendment No to Form 10 dated November 2009L

10.56 Thirteenth Amendment to the IMA dated January 12 2007 incorporated herein by reference

to Exhibit 1036 to the Registrants Amendment No to Form 10 dated November 2009

10.57 Fourteenth Amendment to the IMA dated February 16 2007 incorporated herein by

reference to Exhibit 10.37 to the Registrants Amendment No to Form 10 dated

November 2009
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit

Number Description

10.58 Fifteenth Amendment to the MA dated March 2007 incorporated herein by reference to

Exhibit 10.38 to the Registrants Amendment No to Form 10 dated November 2009

10.59 Sixteenth Amendment to the IMA dated September 24 2007 incorporated herein by

reference to Exhibit 10.39 to the Registrants Amendment No to Form 10 dated November

2009

10.60 Seventeenth Amendment to the MA dated February 29 2008 incorporated herein by

reference to Exhibit 10.40 to the Registrants Amendment No.3 to Form 10 dated November

2009

10.61 Eighteenth Amendment to the IMA dated March 31 2008 incorporated herein by reference

to Exhibit 10.41 to the Registrants Amendment No ito Form 10 dated September 16 20091

10.62 Nineteenth Amendment to the MA dated ApriL 30 2008 incorporated herein by reference to

Exhibit 10.42 to the Registrants Amendment No to Form 10 dated November 2009

10.63 Twentieth Amendment to the IMA dated October 12008 incorporated herein by reference

to Exhibit 10.43 to the Registrants Amendment No ito Form 10 dated September 16 2009L

10.64 Twenty-First Amendment to the IMA dated November 2008 incorporated herein by

reference to Exhibit 10.44 to the Registrants Amendment No.3 to Form 10 dated November

2009

10.65 Twenty-Second Amendment to the IMA dated March 13 2009 incorporated herein by

reference to Exhibit 10.45 to the Registrants Amendment No.3 to Form 10 dated November

2009j

10.66 Twenty-Third Amendment to the MA dated December 2009 incorporated herein by

reference to Exhibit 10.70 to the Registrants Form 10-K dated March 2010

10.67 Consent Letter reLated to the IMA dated August 19 2008 incorporated herein by reference

to Exhibit 10.46 to the Registrants Amendment No to Form 10 dated November 2009

10.68 Twenty-Fourth Amendment to IMA dated January 29 2010 and effective February 12010

incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Registrants Form 10-0 dated April

28 20i0

10.69 Twenty-Fifth Amendment to MA dated February 26 2010 and effective March 12010

incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Registrants Form 10-0 dated ApriL

28 2010

10.70 Twenty-Sixth Amendment to IMA dated March 31 2010 and effective April 12010

incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Registrants Form 10-0 dated April

28 20i0

10.71 Twenty-Seventh Amendment to MA dated April 29 2010 and effective May 2010

incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrants Form 10-0 dated August

20i0

10.72 Twenty-Eighth Amendment to MA dated June 2010 incorporated herein by reference to

Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrants Form 10-0 dated August 2OiOL

10.73 Twenty-Ninth Amendment to IMA dated JuLy 30 2010 and effective July 12010

incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrants Form 10-0 dated

November 2OiOL

10.74 Thirtieth Amendment to MA dated September 20i0
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit

Number Description

10.75 Thirty-First Amendment to IMA dated December 22 2010 and effective December 15 2010

10.76 Network Services Agreement between AOL LLC and MCI Communications Services Inc

subsidiary of Verizon Communications Inc dated January 2004 the Verizon NSA
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.47 to the Registrants Amendment No to

Form 10 dated November 2009L

10.77 Amendment No ito the Verizon NSA dated June 2004 incorporated herein by reference

to Exhibit 10.48 to the Registrants Amendment No.3 to Form 10 dated November 2009
10.78 Amendment No to the Verizon NSA dated February 2005 incorporated herein by

reference to Exhibit 10.49 to the Registrants Amendment No to Form 10 dated November

2009
10.79 Amendment No to the Verizon NSA dated July 2006 incorporated herein by reference

to Exhibit 10.50 to the Registrants Amendment No.4 to Form 10 dated November 12

2009
10.80 Amendment No.4 to the Verizon NSA dated April 10 2007 incorporated herein by reference

to Exhibit 10.51 to the Registrants Amendment No.3 to Form 10 dated November 2009L

10.81 Amendment No to the Verizon NSA dated January 2008 incorporated herein by

reference to Exhibit 10.52 to the Registrants Amendment No to Form 10 dated

November 12 2009L

10.82 Amendment No.6 to the Verizon NSA dated November 2009 incorporated herein by

reference to Exhibit 10.95 to the Registrants Amendment No to Form 10 dated November

12 2009

10.83 Agreement and Plan of Merger by and among AOL LLC Pumpkin Merger Corporation Patch

Media Corporation and Jon Brod dated May 30 2009 the Patch Merger Agreement

incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.68 to the Registrants Amendment No to

Form 10 dated October 26 2009

10.84 Side Letter Agreement related to the Patch Merger Agreement dated June 10 2009

incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.69 to the Registrants Amendment No to

Form 10 dated October 26 2009

10.85 Side Letter Agreement related to the Patch Merger Agreement dated August 11 2009

incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.70 to the Registrants Amendment No to

Form 10 dated October 26 2009

10.86 Letter Agreement between AOL Inc Polar Capital Group LLC and Polar News Company

LLC dated July 16 2010 incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrants

Form 10-Q dated November 2010

21.1 Subsidiaries of the Registrant

23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act

of 2002 with respect to the Registrants Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year

ended December 31 2010

31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act

of 2002 with respect to the Registrants Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year

ended December 31 2010

32.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section

906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 with respect to the Registrants Annual Report on

Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31 201 0.t
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Portions of this agreement have been omitted pursuant to request for confidential treatment

Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement
The exhibits to the Pacific Blvd Agreement have been omitted in accordance with Item 601
of Regulation S-K and will be provided to the SEC upon request

This certification will not be deemed filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act 15

U.S.C 78r or otherwise subject to the liability of that section Such certification will not be

deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act or Exchange Act

except to the extent that the Registrant specifically incorporates it by reference

129



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

PURSUANT TO SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT RULE 13a-14a

Timothy Armstrong certify that

have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 0K for the year ended December 31 2010 of AOL

Inc

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or

omit to state material fact necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances

under which such statements were made not misleading with respect to the period covered by this

report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this

report fairly present in all material respects the financiaL condition results of operations and cash

flows of the registrant as of and for the periods presented in this report

The registrants other certifying officers and are responsible for establishing and maintaining

disclosure controls and procedures Las defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15e and 15d-15e for

the registrant and have

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and

procedures to be designed under our supervision to ensure that material information relating

to the registrant including its consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within

those entities particuLarly during the period in which this report is being prepared

Designed such internaL control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over

financial reporting to be designed under our supervision to provide reasonabLe assurance

regarding the reLiability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for

external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and

presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and

procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation and

Disclosed in this
report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting

that occurred during the registrants most recent fiscal quarter the registrants fourth fiscal

quarter in the case of an annual report that has materialLy affected or is reasonably Likely to

materiaLLy affect the registrants internal control over financiaL reporting and

The registrants other certifying officers and have disclosed based on our most recent

evaluation of internal control over financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit

committee of the registrants board of directors or persons performing the equivalent functions

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal

control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants

ability to record process summarize and report financial information and

Any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have

significant role in the registrants internal control over financial reporting

Date February 25 2011 By Is TIMOTHY ARMSTRONG

Name Timothy Armstrong

Title Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

PrincipaL Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

PURSUANT TO SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT RULE 13a-14

Arthur Minson certify that

have reviewed this AnnuaL Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2010 of AOL

Inc

Based on my knowLedge this
report

does not contain any untrue statement of materiaL fact or

omit to state materiaL fact necessary to make the statements made in Light of the circumstances

under which such statements were made not misleading with respect to the period covered by this

report

Based on my knowLedge the financiaL statements and other financiaL information incLuded in this

report fairLy present in aLL materiaL respects the financial condition resuLts of operations and cash

flows of the registrant as of and for the periods presented in this report

Designed such discLosure controls and procedures or caused such discLosure controls and

procedures to be designed under our supervision to ensure that material information relating

to the registrant including its consoLidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within

those entities particuLarLy during the period in which this report is being prepared

Designed such internaL controL over financial reporting or caused such internaL control over

financiaL reporting to be designed under our supervision to provide reasonabLe assurance

regarding the reLiabiLity of financiaL reporting and the preparation of financiaL statements for

externaL purposes in accordance with generaLLy accepted accounting principLes

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants discLosure controLs and procedures and

presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the discLosure controLs and

procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaLuation and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internaL controL over financiaL reporting

that occurred during the registrants most recent fiscaL quarter the registrants fourth fiscal

quarter in the case of an annuaL report that has materiaLLy affected or is reasonably LikeLy to

materiaLLy affect the registrants internaL control over financial reporting and

The registrants other certifying officers and have discLosed based on our most recent

evaLuation of internaL control over financiaL reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit

committee of the registrants board of directors or persons performing the equivalent functions

ALL significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internaL

control over financiaL reporting which are reasonabLy LikeLy to adversely affect the registrants

ability to record process summarize and report financial information and

Any fraud whether or not materiaL that invoLves management or other empLoyees who have

significant role in the registrants internal controL over financiaL reporting

Date February 25 2011 By
Is ARTHUR MINS0N

Name Arthur Minson

TitLe Executive Vice President and Chief FinanciaL and

Administrative Officer

tPrincipaL Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

CERTI FICATI ON

PURSUANT 1018 U.S.C SECTION 1350

AS ENACTED BY SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 0-K for the year ended December 31 2010 of AOL

Inc the Company as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof the

Report each of the undersigned officers of the Company certifies pursuant to 18 U.S.C

Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 that to his

respective knowledge

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13a or 15d of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 and

The information contained in the Report fairly presents in all material respects the financial

condition and results of operations of the Company

Date February 25 2011
IS TIMOTHY ARMSTRONG

Timothy Armstrong

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Principal Executive Officerl

Date February 25 2011
Is ARTHUR MINS0N

Arthur Minson

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial and

Administrative Officer

PrincipaL FinanciaL Officer
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